University of Groningen

**Groningen Growth and Development Centre** 

# RuG

"Changing Gear" Productivity, ICT and Services: Europe and the United States

Research Memorandum GD-60

Bart van Ark, Robert Inklaar and Robert McGuckin



RESEARCH MEMORANDUM "Changing Gear" Productivity, ICT and and Services Industries: Europe and the United States

Research Memorandum GD-60

Bart van Ark, Robert Inklaar and Robert McGuckin

Groningen Growth and Development Centre December 2002

## "Changing Gear" Productivity, ICT and Service Industries: Europe and the United States

Bart van Ark University of Groningen, Netherlands Economic Growth Center, Yale University The Conference Board

Robert Inklaar University of Groningen, Netherlands The Conference Board

> Robert H. McGuckin The Conference Board

Contact email address: h.h.van.ark@eco.rug.nl

December 2002

<u>Acknowledgments</u>: The authors thank Colin Webb (OECD) for his advice on the use of the OECD STAN database. We are grateful to Kevin Stiroh (NY Fed) for advice on the U.S. ICT capital data, and to Brian Moyer (BEA), Robert Yuskavage (BEA) and Christopher Kask (BLS) for advice on U.S. deflators for ICT-producing industries. We also received useful comments on earlier drafts of the paper as presented at a workshop on Productivity in Services at The Brookings Institution (17 May 2002, Washington D.C.), the ZEW Conference on the Economics of Informationn and Communication Technologies (24-25 June 2002, Mannheim), the DRUID Summer Conference 2002 on Industrial Dynamics of the New and Old Economy (6-8 June 2002, Copenhagen), and the SOM/TEG Conference on The Empirical Implications of Technology-Based Growth Theories (26-27 August 2002, University of Groningen). The earlier drafts of this paper presented on the websites related to these conferences are replaced by the present final version.

#### Abstract

This paper examines cross-country and cross-industry differences in labor productivity performance and their association with ICT. It broadens earlier work with coverage of 52 industries in 16 OECD countries. The analysis suggests that ICT diffusion in Europe is following similar industry patterns to those observed in the U.S., but at a considerably slower pace. The key differences between Europe and the U.S. are in the intensive ICT-using services, with U.S. productivity growth showing a strong acceleration during the second half of the decade, whereas growth stalled in the EU. More specifically, the U.S. showed rapid productivity expansion in retail and wholesale trade and securities, which account for much of the overall U.S.-EU gap in productivity growth since 1995. In the ICTproducing sector, computers and communication equipment showed strong productivity growth and acceleration in virtually all countries, but differences are much bigger across countries for ICTproducing services, such as telecom services.

### **Table of Contents**

1.	Introduction	1
2.	Measures of ICT Use and Industry Grouping by ICT-Categories	4
	ICT-Producing, ICT-Using and Non-ICT Industry Groups	5
	Comparisons with Other Countries' Measures of ICT Use	8
3.	Does ICT make a Difference for Productivity?	10
	Data and Adjustments for Deflation of ICT goods	10
	Productivity Growth by Industry Group	12
	Are the Differences in Productivity Growth between Industry Groups Significant?	19
4.	Is Diffusion is Europe Slower than in the U.S?	27
	Productivity Growth Rates by Industry	27
	Industry Contribution to the U.S EU Productivity Growth Differential	31
	Testing the "Lagging Diffusion" Hypothesis for Europe	38
5.	Concluding Comments and Further Research	40
6.	Bibliography	42
7.	Appendices	45
	Appendix A: ICT Classifications and ICT Intensity	45
	Appendix B: Data description	47
	Appendix C: Contributions of industry groups and industries to productivity growth	59
	Appendix D: Productivity growth by industry and country	62
	Appendix E: Decomposing the U.S-EU Productivity Growth Differential	67

#### 1. Introduction

A wide variety of recent studies - at firm, industry and macro levels of detail - have assessed the impacts of information and communication technologies (ICT) on productivity growth during the 1990s. In addition, there have been many case studies of the way that ICT influences performance. For the United States, there is widespread agreement that production of CT goods has strongly contributed to acceleration in productivity growth during the 1990s.<sup>1</sup> Although there are a few dissenters, a consensus is emerging on the proposition that the diffusion of ICT is also a prime contributor to productivity growth elsewhere in the economy. In particular, service sectors are among the main beneficiaries of increased investment in ICT, leading to faster growth in labor productivity and in many cases even in more total factor productivity growth.<sup>2</sup>

In the case of Europe, there is some evidence that ICT investment has contributed to faster output growth, although in most cases to a lesser extent than in the United States.<sup>3</sup> However, it has also been widely noted that European countries generally have not exploited the productivity enhancing potentials to the extent of the United States.<sup>4</sup> In fact, productivity growth in Europe has declined since the mid-1990s, but relatively little is known about how widespread this productivity slowdown was across industries. In our earlier work we found that in most European countries – and in contrast to the United States – the accelerated growth of labor productivity in ICT-producing industries and intensive ICT-using industries was offset by a substantial slowdown in labor productivity growth in less-intensive ICT-users.<sup>5</sup> However, this evidence hides substantial variation within these major groups of industries.

This paper examines international differences in the labor productivity performance across ICT producing industries, intensive ICT-using industries and less intensive users (hereafter, for the sake of simplicity, called "non ICT" industries), with an additional breakdown to manufacturing and service industries. It represents an intermediate step in our efforts to develop full-scale measures of ICT capital and other capital suitable for comprehensive analysis at the industry level. Using evidence on ICT intensity by industry in the U.S. and - on a much more limited scale - outside the U.S., we examine cross-country and cross-industry differences in labor productivity performance and their association with ICT.

This paper broadens our earlier work in two ways. First, it extends considerably the country and industry coverage by updating and extending the database to include output and employment information for 52 individual industries (ISIC rev 3), of which 20 are in services, for 16 OECD countries. The countries are thirteen European countries (Austria, Denmark, Finland, France,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See, for example, Jorgenson (2001).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See, for example, Baily and Lawrence (2001), Jorgenson, Ho and Stiroh (2002) and Triplett and Bosworth (2002). Among the main dissenters are Gordon (2000, 2002) and McKinsey Global Institute (2001). See, for example, Daveri (2001, 2002), ECB (2001) and Colecchia and Schreyer (2001).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See, for example, OECD (2000, 2001).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See, van Ark (2001) and McGuckin and van Ark (2001). A limited number of country specific studies in Europe have recognized the smaller contribution of ICT to productivity growth in ICT-using industries, mainly in services, including Oulton (2001) for the UK, Jalava and Pohjola (2001) and Niiniinen (2001) for Finland, van der Wiel (2001) for the Netherlands, Cette, Mairesse and Kocuglu (2001) for France, and De Arcangelis, Jona-Lasinio and Manzocchi (2001) for Italy.

Germany, Ireland, Italy, Netherlands, Norway, Sweden, Spain, Switzerland and the United Kingdom), Canada, Japan and the United States for the period from 1990 to 2000. The database provides the raw material to examine productivity impacts of ICT both within and across countries.

Second, the present analysis moves beyond the standard comparisons of differences in growth rates across groups of industries that we used previously by applying some simple regression models. This extension is possible since, unlike our earlier work we do not exclusively deal with the performance of ICT-producing, ICT-using and the non-ICT industries as a whole. With information on each industry, it is possible to assess the importance and significance of the widely different trends among individual industries. Whether and by how much these trends differ by country is a key issue we consider here. In particular, among service industries we find a very wide variation in productivity performance.

As in our earlier work, we mainly rely on U.S. information on capital by industry to group industries into ICT-producing, ICT-using and specific "non-ICT" industries. We interpret this U.S. industry grouping as a reflection of the opportunities for applying ICT in other countries. In the face of relatively meager direct data for Europe on ICT intensity, it helps us to identify where an ICTproductivity relationship is likely to emerge in Europe. We also look at capital and investment intensity measures for some major European countries to investigate whether this assumption is likely to be violated. While the information on ICT capital by industry outside the U.S. is not suitable for direct econometric work, it offers evidence on differences in the timing and industry pattern of diffusion of ICT in Europe.

Table 1 summarizes our results in terms of labor productivity growth rates and GDP shares for major industry groups for the European Union and the United States. The first impression from the table is a widespread acceleration in U.S. productivity growth in particular for ICT-producing manufacturing and ICT-using services. Secondly, in contrast to the U.S., overall productivity growth in the European Union slowed, except for the ICT-producing sector of the economy where it accelerated. In the ICT-using sector in Europe productivity growth did not improve, whereas growth rates declined in non-ICT industries.

		Productiv	ity growth		<b>GDP share</b> 2000		
	1990	-1995	1995	-2000			
	$EU^b$	US	$EU^b$	US	$EU^b$	US	
Total Economy	1.9	1.1	1.4	2.5	100.0	100.0	
ICT Producing Industries	6.7	8.1	8.7	10.1	5.9	7.3	
ICT Producing Manufacturing	11.1	15.1	13.8	23.7	1.6	2.6	
ICT Producing Services	4.4	3.1	6.5	1.8	4.3	4.7	
ICT Using Industries <sup>a</sup>	1.7	1.5	1.6	4.7	27.0	30.6	
ICT Using Manufacturing	3.1	-0.3	2.1	1.2	5.9	4.3	
ICT Using Services	1.1	1.9	1.4	5.4	21.1	26.3	
Non-ICT Industries	1.6	0.2	0.7	0.5	67.1	62.1	
Non-ICT Manufacturing	3.8	3.0	1.5	1.4	11.9	9.3	
Non-ICT Services	0.6	-0.4	0.2	0.4	44.7	43.0	
Non-ICT Other	2.7	0.7	1.9	0.6	10.5	9.8	

Table 1: Productivity growth and GDP shares of ICT-producing, ICT-using and non-ICT industries in the EU and the U.S.

a) excluding ICT producing

b) EU includes Austria, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Ireland, Italy, Netherlands, Spain, Sweden

and the United Kingdom, which represents over 90% of EU GDP.

Notes: Productivity is defined as value added per person employed

Source: Tables 5 and 6

The latter suggests that differences with the U.S. go beyond differences in the diffusion of new technologies. There are surely many factors involved, among them overall performance of product and labor markets, differences in initial capital labor ratios and the widespread moderation of initially high wages in Europe since the mid 1990s. Nonetheless, technology diffusion is a big part of the story. There is diffusion of ICT in Europe, but at a slower pace than in the United States in particularly during the second half of the 1990s.

Looking beyond the aggregate numbers there are 3 factors that stand out. First, European countries show rapid increases in labor productivity growth in ICT- producing manufacturing and service industries alike. The contribution of these industries to aggregate productivity growth was slightly lower than in the U.S. due to the smaller size of these industries.

Second, since 1995 most European countries have shown a significant difference between productivity growth in ICT-using services and non-ICT services although this difference in performance is much larger for the U.S. than for Europe. Of particular importance, the U.S-EU differential in productivity growth is largely associated with much faster productivity growth in three ICT-using service industries, namely in retail and wholesale trade and in securities. Because of their large share in output and employment, these service industries feature prominently in accounting for the aggregate productivity growth differential. Moreover, compared to the U.S., each of these industries can be linked to restricted opportunities for expansion and implementation of ICT in Europe.

Third, it appears that ICT diffusion in Europe is following patterns across industries that are similar to those experienced in the U.S. Not only is there a reasonable correlation between the industry distributions of productivity growth in the U.S. during the earlier half of the 1990s and the European industry productivity pattern from 1995-2000, but the industry distributions of ICT capital across countries are similar as well.

The paper is organized as follows. In Section 2 we discuss different measures of ICT intensity by industry, which we use to group our industries into ICT-using and non-ICT industries. Next we examine the distributions of labor productivity between these industry groups and whether and how much they differ across countries using econometric analysis (Section 3). Within these groups we also focus on differences in growth performance of service industries, which are among the most intensive users of ICT. In Section 4 we look at the dynamics of productivity growth for individual industries – and in particular services industries – classified as ICT-using or non-using. Section 5 concludes with some suggestions for further research.

#### 2. Measures of ICT Use and Industry Grouping by ICT-Categories

While the levels of detail, breadth of coverage and particulars of the measurement methodology of the impact of ICT on productivity vary across studies, they can be grouped into two main types: growth accounting exercises that decompose the growth into various components or sources, and econometric models that seek to "explain" variations in performance by variations in the use of ICT technology.<sup>6</sup> In this paper we make use of both approaches to examine the relationship between ICT use and labor productivity growth, but our focus is on a somewhat indirect measure of the impact of ICT on growth, i.e., labour productivity growth by industry related to the intensity of ICT use.

To distinguish between industries that use ICT more or less intensively, we must choose as a practical matter between three possible measures of ICT use by industry. These are the share of ICT investment in total investment, the share of ICT capital in total capital, and the share of the flow of capital services from ICT in total capital services. The latter measure has our preference, as the service flow per unit of ICT capital can be quite different from the flow from a unit of non-ICT capital. Service flows are calculated by estimating a user cost of each type of capital, and these can be relatively high for ICT capital because of high rates of depreciation. Thus a simple measure of ICT's share of total assets may understate the flow of services from it.<sup>7</sup> Unfortunately, except for aggregate studies and industry level analyses for the U.S, the data requirements limit the possibilities for the use of capital services as a measure of ICT use.<sup>8</sup> For example, industry level data on the ICT capital stock are only available for five countries (France, Germany, Netherlands, UK, and U.S.) and are not fully consistent across countries. Outside the U.S. there is an almost complete lack of data on ICT capital services by industry.

Faced with these data limitations, we largely base our grouping on the U.S. estimates of capital services by industry for 1995 by Stiroh (2001). The rationale behind our choice of this indicator (in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> We would also include in the econometric category the numerous case studies that explore how ICT operates in particular plants, firms or industries.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In addition user cost measures by industry will also take account of possible high returns on ICT capital in particular industries. For example, in the oil extraction industry a small investment in ICT has fundamentally changed the methods by which this industry explores new oil reserves (Olewiler, 2002). But when using the capital services approach, capital returns can be high even with small amounts of investment in ICT.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Capital services estimates by industry are an integral part of both the growth accounting analyses by Jorgenson and Stiroh (2000) and Oliner and Sichel (2000) for the U.S., Colecchia and Schreyer (2001) for OECD countries, and van Ark *et al.* (2002) for the European Union. Stiroh (2001) and Jorgenson, Ho and Stiroh (2002) also use this measure at the industry level. For a limited number of country-specific studies, see footnote 5.

addition to our preference for capital services measures as discussed above) is the assumption that the U.S. distribution of ICT intensity across industries defines the opportunity set for productive use of ICT. Then we use this distribution to study to what extent other countries have used the opportunities ICT provides in these industries. The use of the U.S. distribution of ICT provides an independent standard that helps us identify where to expect differential productivity performance in Europe. For example, the U.S. has shown acceleration of productivity growth in industries like finance, banking and business services that are heavy users of ICT. In addition, case studies of ICT use in industries as diverse as retail trade and trucking support the contention that ICT makes an important contribution to enhanced productivity growth.

A distinction between heavy users of ICT and less intensive ICT-users (non-ICT) is necessarily arbitrary as there are few if any industries that do not use ICT at all, so it requires an arbitrary cut-off point. For example, Stiroh's cutoff point is the median of the 57 industries he studied. In other studies gaps in the proportion of industry capital devoted to IT were used to separate using and non-using industries. However, the limitations of this type of grouping of industries should not be overdrawn. It certainly can have advantages when ICT intensity measures contain substantial noise.<sup>9</sup> Moreover this type of industry grouping has worked well in several earlier U.S studies to identify the industries with the highest impact from increased ICT use (McGuckin and Stiroh, 2001, 2002; Stiroh, 2001).

#### ICT-Producing, ICT-Using and Non-ICT Industry Groups

Table 2 provides the basic grouping of industries. One important issue is that our industry data largely use the OECD STAN database on national accounts (though with some refinements), which is based on the international ISIC Rev. 3 classification. In contrast, Stiroh's (2001) study, from which we obtained the U.S. capital services measures, uses the U.S. National Income and Product Accounts. They are based on (largely) the 2-digit SIC87 (Standard Industrial Classification).<sup>10</sup> On the one hand, this reduces the industry detail for the U.S. somewhat since our database distinguishes 52 industries instead of a maximum for the U.S. of 57 industries.<sup>11</sup> For example, for transport and storage (ISIC rev 60-63) Stiroh distinguishes seven separate industries, of which only two (air transportation and transportation services) are above his median cut-off point of industries with the highest ICT capital intensity. We included all transport and storage in the group of non-ICT industries.

Table 2 – Grouping of ICT producing, ICT using, and less intensive ICT-using Industries

#### ISIC Rev. 3 ICT-producing industries

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The BEA notes with the capital and investment data by type and industry suggest that these data are much less reliable than more aggregated figures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See Appendix Tables A.1 for a detailed comparison of industries included in ICT -using according to our study and Stiroh's study. Within the ICT-producing, ICT-using groups and non-ICT groups we distinguish further between manufacturing industries and service industries. Section 3 and Appendix B describe our data sources in more detail.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> For none of the countries, data was available on extra-territorial organizations (ISIC 99), so we do not report on this industry.

#### **ICT-producing manufacturing** Office, accounting and computing machinery 30 313 Insulated wire and cable 321 Semiconductors and other electronic components Communication and broadcasting equipment 322 Radio and TV receivers 323 Medical and measuring equipment and industrial process control 331 **ICT-producing services** Post and telecommunications 64 Computer and related services 72

#### ISIC Rev. 3 ICT-using industries

#### ICT-using manufacturing

	0 0
18	Wearing apparel, dressing and dying of fur
22	Printing and publishing
29	Machinery and equipment
31, excl. 313	Electrical machinery and apparatus, excluding insulated wire
33, excl. 331	Precision and optical instruments, excluding ICT instruments
351	Building and repairing of ships and boats
353	Aircraft and spacecraft
352+359	Railroad equipment and transport equipment
36-37	Miscellaneous manufacturing and recycling
	ICT-using services
51	Wholesale trade
51 52	Wholesale trade Retail trade
51 52 65	Wholesale trade Retail trade Financial intermediation
51 52 65 66	Wholesale trade Retail trade Financial intermediation Insurance and pension funding
51 52 65 66 67	Wholesale trade Retail trade Financial intermediation Insurance and pension funding Activities related to financial intermediation
51 52 65 66 67 71	IC1-using services         Wholesale trade         Retail trade         Financial intermediation         Insurance and pension funding         Activities related to financial intermediation         Renting of machinery and equipment
51 52 65 66 67 71 73	IC1-using servicesWholesale tradeRetail tradeFinancial intermediationInsurance and pension fundingActivities related to financial intermediationRenting of machinery and equipmentResearch and development
51 52 65 66 67 71 73 741-743	IC1-using servicesWholesale tradeRetail tradeFinancial intermediationInsurance and pension fundingActivities related to financial intermediationRenting of machinery and equipmentResearch and developmentProfessional business services

#### ISIC Rev. 3 Less-intensive ICT-using industries

	Other Manufacturing
15-16	Food products, beverages and tobacco
17	Textiles
19	Leather, leather products and footwear
20	Wood and products of wood and cork
21	Pulp, paper and paper products
23	Coke, refined petroleum products and nuclear fuel
24	Chemicals and chemical products
25	Rubber and plastic products
26	Non-metallic mineral products
27	Basic metals
28	Fabricated metal products
34	Motor vehicles, trailers and semi-trailers

#### Table 2 (continued)

	Other Services
50	Repairs
55	Hotels and restaurants
60-63	Transport and storage
70	Real estate activities
745-749	Other business services (non-professional)
75	Public administration and defense; compulsory social security
80	Education
85	Health and social work
90-93	Other community, social and personal services
95	Private households with employed persons
99	Extra-territorial organizations and bodies
	Other Industries
01-05	Agriculture, hunting, forestry and fishing
10-14	Mining and quarrying
40-41	Electricity, gas and water supply
45	Construction

On the other hand, in some cases we use a more refined classification than Stiroh did on the basis of the U.S. SIC. This is especially true in the area of ICT producing industries (such as computers and other ICT equipment) and for business services. The group of ICT-producing industries (which for the sake of analysis are distinguished from the group of intensive ICT using industries) is derived from a classification by the OECD (2002), that includes industries producing ICT-hardware, software and ICT services.<sup>12</sup> We therefore broke out office and computer equipment (U.S. SIC 357) from industrial machinery and equipment (U.S. SIC 35), and radio and TV equipment (U.S. SIC 365-367) from electronic and electric equipment (U.S. SIC 36). We also distinguish computer services and telecommunication services as ICT-producing service industries. In ICT-using services, we distinguish between business services that are clearly part of ICT using industries (i.e., professional business services, including accountants, architects and technical engineering) and those that are clearly not (such as security and cleaning services).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> In fact, the OECD classification also includes wholesale and renting of office and computing machinery, which we were not able to back out from the data. Moreover, telecommunication services in our data still include postal services.

We most strongly departed from Stiroh's grouping of industries, i.e., by excluding education, health and social work from the ICT-using group. Even though these industries are above the median of industries with the highest share of ICT capital services, they use relatively little capital anyway as value added largely consists of labor income. Indeed we find that when looking at ICT capital as a percentage of output in education, health and social work, these industries are at the lower end of the distribution of ICT intensive industries. Our preference to exclude these industries from ICT-intensive using industries has some implications for our econometric results, but do not affect the main conclusions outlined above.<sup>13</sup>

#### Comparisons with Other Countries' Measures of ICT Use

One way to crosscheck the sensibility of the industry groupings in Table 2 is to see how they look from the perspective of the industry measures of ICT and IT intensities that we have for some other countries. Appendix Table A.2 provides the average proportion of total IT investment (i.e., excluding investment in communication equipment) in total investment for France, Germany, the Netherlands, the U.K. and the U.S over the 1993-97 period. We also obtained information on the share of ICT capital in the total capital stock for France and the UK from a recent study by O'Mahony and de Boer (2002), and compared it to information on the U.S. ICT capital share obtained from the BEA. While the data are spotty, they show wide variation across industries in ICT or IT intensities across countries. Some industries spend a minor percentage of their investment budget on ICT and IT (for example, around respectively 2.5% and 1% in agriculture) while in other industries, like finance, about 50% of investment is in ICT and about 20% in IT. This wide variation is also observed in the U.S. data.

Tables 3 and 4 show the rank correlation for each country pair for IT investment and ICT capital intensities respectively.<sup>14</sup> All rank correlations for IT intensity in Table 3 are positive and most are above 0.50.<sup>15</sup> France is the only country where the correlations with other countries appear low. The correlations on ICT capital intensity in Table 4 are somewhat higher for France and somewhat lower for the UK, but still clearly positive.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Our present industry grouping deviates somewhat from what we used in our earlier work, which was based on more limited evidence on ICT investment/output ratios and ICT capital shares for the U.S. and the Netherlands (van Ark, 2001; McGuckin and van Ark, 2001). First, chemicals were reclassified as a non-ICT industry, based on the fact that it was clearly in the lower half of the distribution. The second change was to add retail trade to the intensive user categories. Retail trade is one of the more intensive ICT users based on the capital service measure, but not when based on the share of the ICT stock. We also reclassified three transport equipment industries (ships, aircraft and other) to ICT-using as well as furniture and miscellaneous manufacturing, since these four industries are above the median ICT intensity according to Stiroh's (2001) measure. The last change we made was to include industrial machinery with the ICT-using industries. It is not possible to make this decision solely based on the U.S. intensity measures for which we have intensity measures, the machinery industry (without computers) also shows up as an intensive ICT user.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> By comparing the rankings of the industries, we minimize the effects of differences – measurement methodology, data availability and definitions, etc. – that affect the intensity levels estimates across countries. <sup>15</sup> Real estate is excluded as capital stock measures in this industry also include imputed housing, which distorts

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Real estate is excluded as capital stock measures in this industry also include imputed housing, which distorts the picture.

	France	Germany	Netherlands	UK	U.S.
France		0.12	0.45	0.24	0.35
Germany			0.66	0.64	0.67
Netherlands				0.61	0.66
UK					0.85
U.S.					
Notas investor	ant interacity	management	ag investment	in IT	aguinmant

Table 3: Rank correlations between IT investment intensity by industry,mid 1990s

Note: investment intensity measured as investment in IT equipment (excluding communication equipment) as share of total equipment investment. France, UK, U.S.: 1993-1997; Germany: 1991-1994; Netherlands; 1990-1995

Sources: Appendix Table A.2

Table 4: Rank correlations between the ICT capital intensity, 1995

	France	UK	U.S.	
France		0.32	0.44	
UK			0.67	
US				

Note: capital intensity measured as ICT capital as share of total capital equipment in 1995. France, UK, U.S.: 1995

Sources: France and UK: O'Mahony and de Boer (2002); U.S.:

BEA, Fixed Asset Tables, Section 4: Non-Residential Fixed Assets

(http://www.bea.gov/bea/dn/faweb/AllFATables.asp#S4)

Overall, the rankings suggest that the intensive ICT using industries are similar across countries. This suggests that using the U.S. experience with ICT diffusion as a measure of the opportunity set is reasonable. This conclusion is also supported by results from O'Mahony and de Boer (2002) that show that ICT capital shares in French and British service industries are –just as in the U.S.– higher than in manufacturing. Industries like transport and communication and financial and business services are all in the upper part of the intensity distribution –a finding which also emerges from a similar study on the Netherlands (CPB, 2001).<sup>16</sup> O'Mahony and de Boer also show that the amount of ICT capital per hour worked in the U.S. is considerably higher than in France and the UK across almost all industries. The latter suggests a slower pace of ICT diffusion in European countries, which is confirmed by evidence on ICT capital intensity at the aggregate level from studies such as Daveri (2001), Colecchia and Schreyer (2001), and van Ark *et al.* (2002).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> However, the study by O'Mahony and de Boer also suggests lower capital intensities than in manufacturing for the distribution sector.

#### 3. Does ICT make a Difference for Productivity?

In the remainder of this paper we use the grouping of industries according to ICT use to examine differences in labor productivity growth. In this section we investigate differences in productivity growth between the groups as a whole. In the next section we undertake a more detailed examination of individual industries within the ICT-using and non-ICT categories. One key issue is whether there is some commonality in productivity growth rates across countries within the industry groupings. We begin with a brief overview of our productivity data and related measurement issues.

#### Data and Adjustments for Deflation of ICT goods<sup>17</sup>

The data for this study are for 16 OECD countries from 1990 to 2000. The database is largely draws on the new STAN database for national accounts from the OECD.<sup>18</sup> STAN includes industry series of GDP in current basic prices, and constant price series expressed as index numbers. Employment refers to all persons employed, including self-employed persons. As hours per employee at industry level were only available for a limited number of countries, our computations relate only to output per person employed.<sup>19</sup>

For some ICT-producing industries, like insulated wire (ISIC 313) and instruments (ISIC 331), the STAN database does not report the detail separating them from the broader industry to which they belong. For the U.S. we also had to break out office and computer equipment (ISIC 30) and radio, TV and communication equipment (ISIC 321-323) from the aggregate series on industrial machinery and electrical machinery and equipment respectively. In addition, we needed to break out repairs, retail and wholesale trade (ISIC 50-52) and distinguish between ICT-intensive business services (ISIC 741-743) and non-ICT business services (ISIC 749). Although the procedures differed from country-to-country, in most cases output and employment shares for the more detailed industries were obtained from the *OECD Structural Statistics for Industry and Services* and the *OECD Services Statistics on Value Added and Employment* and applied to the more aggregated series from STAN.<sup>20</sup>

To obtain constant price series in national currencies we linked index series for real value added to 1995 GDP levels in current prices. These constant price series were distributed by industry within each of the industry groups distinguished in Section 2 and then aggregated on the basis of

18 See http://www.oecd.org/EN/document/0,,EN-document-0-nodirectorate-no-1-3245-0,00.html.

<sup>17</sup> A detailed description of the data and adjustments is given in Appendix B.

Data for Netherlands, Norway and Switzerland are directly obtained from the countries' national accounts. For France and Spain data presently only run up to 1999, and for Japan only up to 1998. German data start in 1991. At a later stage we aim to take these estimates further back to 1970 which is the starting date of the STAN database.

<sup>19</sup> Even though the decline in working hours in Europe means that labor productivity grew faster when measured in hours than when measured on a person employed-basis, differences across industries are not strongly affected by these different measures of labor productivity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> In the case of the United States, we also heavily relied on detailed series from the Bureau of Economic Analysis on value of shipments at the 4-digit level for manufacturing industries and gross output at the 3-digit level for non-manufacturing industries (<u>http://www.bea.gov/bea/dn2/gpo.htm</u>). In addition we used Input/Output tables from the Bureau of Labor Statistics (<u>http://www.bls.gov/emp</u>) to obtain shares of intermediate inputs in gross output which are needed for the double deflation (i.e., separate deflation of series on gross output and intermediate inputs) at value added level (see below and Appendix B).

chain-weighted Törnqvist indexes. As a result our aggregated series do not exactly match the original GDP series for each country.

Prior to these procedures, however, we faced a serious methodological problem concerning the deflation of output in ICT-producing industries – a problem already identified in earlier studies (e.g., Schreyer, 2000, 2002; Daveri, 2001). Since many countries develop price indices for ICT goods by matching prices of comparable models between two periods in time, the rapid changes in quality of ICT equipment are not adequately reflected in measured output. Only a limited number of countries, including the United States, Australia, Canada and France, use hedonic output price indexes in their national accounts that capture the quality changes. Therefore measured prices in these countries typically decline much more rapidly. Some countries in Europe, for example Denmark and Sweden, do not create their own hedonic price indexes, but make use of the U.S. price index for ICT equipment with a correction for the U.S. dollar exchange rate.

We adopted a procedure based on Schreyer (2000). The U.S. value added deflators for ICTproducing manufacturing industries were applied to the other countries, after an adjustment for the ratio of the aggregate GDP deflator (excluding the deflators for ICT-producing manufacturing) for each country relative to the U.S. GDP deflator. As the series for ICT-producing manufacturing industries are not separately reported in the U.S. National Income and Product Accounts, the hedonic price indices for these industries were constructed with procedures and data similar to those used by BEA.<sup>21</sup> For most countries this procedure leads to considerably higher growth in ICT-producing manufacturing industries compared to the estimates reported in the national statistics (see Table 6 below).

A second issue of concern was the measure of real output in services. The current methodology of splitting the change in output value into a quantity component and a price component is difficult to apply to many service activities, as a quantity component can often not be distinguished. Moreover changes in the quality of services are also difficult to measure. These problems are not new, and improvement in measurement of service output has been a topic on the agenda of statisticians and academics for a long time.<sup>22</sup>

Despite these measurement problems, as long as the statistical bias remains relatively constant the traditional methods should suffice at least to measure the change in real output (Hulten, 2000). The increasing importance of ICT, however, likely led to understatement of the growth in real output by increasing quality changes in service output, although by how much is not known.<sup>23</sup> Various efforts to improve output measurement in services have been undertaken at statistical agencies across

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> We are grateful to Brian Moyer (BEA) and Robert Yuskavage (BEA) for advice. See also Kask and Sieber (2002) for similar procedures to obtain productivity growth rates for high-tech industries. However, our hedonic deflators refer to value added rather than gross output.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> See, for example, Griliches (1992) and the statistical work of the Voorburg Group on Service Statistics (<u>http://www4.statcan.ca/english/voorburg/</u>). For example, a key measurement issue is that information on inputs (such as labor income) is still used as a proxy for output in many service industries.

the OECD. But much remains to be done. Unfortunately the actual steps taken to implement new methodologies in the national accounts are often not well documented, particularly outside the United States. Thus the evidence to claim that the national accounts in one country reflect better service output measurement than in another is not strong enough to draw any definitive conclusions on the lack of international comparability. We therefore take as our working assumption that the international comparisons between industries we observe reflect actual differences in productivity growth in the industry or grouping of industries examined. We briefly return to this issue in next section.

In making comparisons between Europe and other countries, we calculated a European Union average based on eleven EU member states in our sample (covering more than 90 per cent of EU GDP). The 1995-based value added in each industry was converted to the euros using the exchange rate between each national currency and the value of the euro as fixed on January 1, 1999.<sup>24</sup> This procedure follows the actual practice of the OECD concerning data for years before 1999 (see OECD 2001b). This method assumes, somewhat problematically, that there are no price differences between countries in the EU area – an assumption that incidentally is identical to what is assumed for U.S. states in the output statistics for the U.S.

#### Productivity Growth by Industry Group

Table 5 shows the relative importance of seven industry groups in the year 2000 for each country in our sample and for the European Union average. It shows the proportion of GDP accounted for by ICT-producing industries in manufacturing, ICT-producing industries in services, ICT-using industries in manufacturing (excluding the ICT-producing manufacturing industries), ICT-using industries in services (excluding the ICT-producing service industries), non-ICT industries in manufacturing, non-ICT industries in services and other non-ICT industries (including agriculture, mining, construction and public utilities).

On average ICT-producing industries make up for at most 8 per cent of GDP, with Finland being a notable exception (just over 10 per cent of GDP) because of its large communication equipment industry. Most countries in Europe have lower GDP shares in ICT-producing manufacturing and ICT-producing services than the United States. ICT-using industries (other than ICT-producing industries) also account for bigger shares in the United States than in Europe, but there is a clear difference between manufacturing and services.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> See Triplett and Bosworth (2001) and van Ark (2002) for a further discussion. McGuckin and Stiroh (2001) estimate for the U.S. that output understatement could be as high as 1.5 percentage points in individual industries, and productivity growth could be underestimated by up to 20%.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> For Sweden and the UK, which do not participate in the euro, we used their average exchange rate to the euro for 1999. For European countries for which we had missing years (e.g., 1990 for Germany and 2000 for France and Spain) we filled gaps by extrapolating with growth rates for the years for which we had data.

	ICT Producing		ICT U	Jsing <sup>a</sup>	Non-ICT				
	Manufac-	Services	Manufac-	Services	Manufac-	Services	Othe		
	turing		turing		turing				
Austria	1.7	2.8	5.7	22.7	13.5	40.7	12.7		
Denmark	1.1	3.6	5.9	20.6	10.1	47.7	11.0		
Finland	5.9	4.7	6.1	15.3	13.9	43.1	11.1		
France <sup>b</sup>	1.4	4.1	5.0	20.3	11.8	47.8	9.7		
Germany	1.6	4.0	7.4	21.1	13.1	44.3	8.4		
Ireland	7.0	5.3	6.2	25.2	18.9	24.8	12.5		
Italy	1.0	3.7	6.8	22.8	12.8	42.8	10.3		
Netherlands	1.4	4.4	4.7	24.1	10.3	42.7	12.5		
Spain <sup>b</sup>	0.7	3.6	4.5	18.9	13.1	44.7	14.6		
Sweden	2.1	5.7	5.6	18.1	12.2	48.2	8.1		
UK	1.8	5.3	5.8	21.5	9.8	44.7	11.1		
EU	1.6	4.3	5.9	21.1	11.9	44.7	10.5		
Canada <sup>b</sup>	1.2	5.2	4.7	26.4	15.4	30.5	16.7		
Japan <sup>c</sup>	2.9	3.3	7.0	20.4	11.2	41.3	13.8		
Norway	0.6	2.9	3.6	17.2	6.0	36.4	33.2		
Switzerland	2.2	4.0	7.2	30.0	12.5	34.9	9.3		
US	2.6	4.7	4.3	26.3	9.3	43.0	9.8		

Table 5: GDP shares of ICT	nroducing. I	[CT using an	d non-ICT industries	. 2000. current	nrices in %-	noi
Table 5. ODT shares of ICT	producing, i	to i using an	a non-i e i maustries	, 2000, cui i chi	prices m 70-	pon

a) excluding ICT producing; b) 1999; c) 1998; d) agriculture, mining, construction and public utilities

In ICT-using manufacturing, almost every European country has higher GDP shares than the U.S., with Germany and Switzerland having notably larger shares.<sup>25</sup> This partly reflects the lower proportion of the manufacturing sector in the U.S. economy, but also the comparative advantage of many European countries in ICT-using (and non-ICT) industries in manufacturing outside the ICT-producing sector. In contrast, ICT-using services in the U.S. clearly account for a higher share of GDP in the U.S. than in Europe, with the exception of Switzerland where the banking sector dominates. In Section 4 we look in more detail at some of the main ICT-using service industries contributing to the American productivity growth advantage over Europe.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Here the exceptions are the Netherlands and Norway, where the non-ICT sector dominated because of large mineral extraction industries (natural gas and oil). In particular in Norway the oil extraction industry accounted for more than 10% of GDP.

	Austria	Denmark	Finland	France <sup>b</sup>	Germany <sup>a</sup>	Ireland	Italy	Nether- lands	Spain <sup>b</sup>	Sweden	UK	EU	Canada <sup>b</sup>	Japan <sup>c</sup>	Norway	Switzer- land	US
	1990-1995																
Total Economy	2.3	1.6	3.3	1.0	2.1	3.0	1.8	0.7	1.6	2.8	2.8	1.9	1.1	0.8	3.3	-0.1	1.1
ICT Producing Industries	5.8	7.6	6.9	4.7	7.1	11.2	2.5	3.8	4.3	4.8	8.8	6.7	2.6	8.8	3.2	1.5	8.1
ICT Producing Manufacturing	7.6	6.5	8.9	10.0	6.8	17.1	4.6	5.7	8.3	-0.7	15.8	11.1	11.8	12.4	8.4	1.4	15.1
ICT Producing Services	4.8	7.9	4.8	2.6	5.9	2.2	1.6	2.3	3.1	6.8	5.6	4.4	0.4	4.2	2.1	1.5	3.1
ICT Using Industries <sup>d</sup>	2.2	1.1	1.9	1.1	1.6	1.4	2.2	0.6	-0.2	3.4	2.3	1.7	1.8	0.7	4.3	-1.5	1.5
ICT Using Manufacturing	1.9	2.7	4.7	3.3	2.6	6.1	3.4	1.8	1.7	5.6	2.1	3.1	2.1	-1.1	1.3	0.0	-0.3
ICT Using Services	2.1	0.6	0.7	0.5	1.1	0.2	1.6	0.4	-0.7	2.5	2.5	1.1	1.9	1.4	5.2	-2.0	1.9
Non-ICT Industries	2.1	1.4	3.4	0.7	2.0	2.6	1.5	0.5	2.0	2.4	2.5	1.6	0.5	0.1	3.0	0.7	0.2
Non-ICT Manufacturing	4.6	2.9	6.2	3.4	4.4	7.8	2.7	3.7	3.5	6.3	4.0	3.8	2.1	0.4	2.2	4.4	3.0
Non-ICT Services	0.1	0.5	2.0	-0.3	0.9	-0.9	0.6	-0.2	0.9	1.5	1.5	0.6	-0.2	-0.2	0.7	-0.2	-0.4
Non-ICT Other	4.5	4.1	4.2	1.6	2.7	2.9	3.0	0.9	2.9	2.8	6.1	2.7	1.4	0.2	9.3	-0.2	0.7
Pro memoria: with national deflators	5																
Total Economy	2.2	1.6	3.3	1.1	2.1	2.4	1.8	0.6	1.5	2.8	2.7	1.9	1.0	0.7	3.2	0.0	1.1
ICT Producing Manufacturing	3.8	6.7	12.4	9.5	4.3	4.0	3.5	4.3	0.5	-0.1	9.8	7.8	6.8	6.8	2.3	4.8	15.1
	1995-2000	)															
Total Economy	2.3	1.9	2.5	1.2	1.3	5.3	0.8	0.9	0.4	2.1	1.8	1.4	1.4	0.9	1.7	1.1	2.5
ICT Producing Industries	3.4	5.9	10.9	8.7	12.7	23.5	6.3	3.2	5.9	2.7	8.3	8.7	5.3	12.1	8.4	-1.9	10.1
ICT Producing Manufacturing	9.6	5.7	13.2	15.0	13.7	42.3	6.0	-1.9	13.1	1.1	16.1	13.8	16.9	19.5	4.9	-4.3	23.7
ICT Producing Services	-0.4	5.9	8.1	6.2	11.9	-0.2	6.2	4.5	4.1	3.3	5.2	6.5	2.8	4.0	9.2	-0.7	1.8
ICT Using Industries <sup>d</sup>	3.0	2.0	2.5	1.0	1.3	2.9	1.0	2.0	0.1	2.9	2.3	1.6	2.5	0.1	3.7	1.3	4.7
ICT Using Manufacturing	6.0	0.1	1.5	1.9	2.4	8.7	1.5	2.7	1.1	1.7	1.7	2.1	1.1	0.5	-1.3	3.3	1.2
ICT Using Services	2.1	2.5	3.0	0.7	0.9	1.4	0.6	1.9	-0.1	3.3	2.6	1.4	2.8	0.0	4.8	0.8	5.4
Non-ICT Industries	1.8	1.5	1.4	0.7	0.5	2.7	0.4	0.2	0.1	1.6	0.8	0.7	0.5	0.1	0.7	1.1	0.5
Non-ICT Manufacturing	4.6	3.8	3.0	2.7	0.5	10.4	0.6	2.0	-0.3	3.3	0.5	1.5	1.3	-0.3	1.7	4.4	1.4
Non-ICT Services	-0.4	1.2	0.6	0.1	-0.1	-1.2	-0.4	0.1	-0.1	1.4	0.9	0.2	-0.4	0.6	0.4	0.8	0.4
Non-ICT Other	4.0	1.2	2.3	1.1	2.3	1.2	2.5	0.0	1.3	0.5	1.5	1.9	1.1	-1.5	1.4	-1.3	0.6
Pro memoria: with national deflators	3																
Total Economy	2.2	1.8	2.9	1.2	1.3	3.3	0.8	1.0	0.3	2.5	1.6	1.4	1.3	0.7	1.7	1.2	2.5
ICT Producing Manufacturing	4.6	3.9	19.9	13.9	6.8	8.6	1.4	3.3	1.6	21.1	5.5	10.1	6.6	9.3	3.2	0.7	23.7

Table 6: Labour productivity growth (value added per person employed) by industry group, 1990-1995 and 1995-2000

a) 1991-1995; b) 1995-99; c) 1995-98; d) excluding ICT producing industries

Table 6 shows the productivity growth rates for the seven industry groupings distinguished above for individual countries and for the EU as a whole for the periods 1990-1995 and 1995-2000. During the first half of the decade, aggregate productivity growth in Europe was considerably faster than in the United States, but since 1995 U.S. productivity growth was 1.1 percentage points faster. But here are some important differences in growth dynamics between industry groups. First, productivity growth in the ICT-producing industries in manufacturing (i.e., office and computer equipment and telecommunication equipment) is much faster than in the rest of the economy for virtually all countries. Hence once comparable price indexes reflecting the rapid technological change in ICT-producing manufacturing are adopted for all countries - and not just for the U.S. - ICT-producing industries exhibit rapid productivity growth in this (small) part of the economy nearly everywhere.<sup>26</sup>

The clearest and most systematic differences between Europe and the U.S., however, arise in services, particularly in ICT-producing and ICT-using services. In ICT-producing services productivity growth in many European countries is faster than in the United States.<sup>27</sup> As we will see in Section 4 this is mainly due to the faster productivity growth in telecommunication services in Europe. In contrast, in ICT-using services (excluding the ICTproducing services), U.S. performance was substantially better than in other countries since 1995. For example, productivity in ICT-using services grew at 5.4% in the U.S. compared to 1.4% for Europe in the 1995-2000 period. This difference is mainly due to better U.S. productivity performance in the securities and trade sectors.

#### Industry Group Contributions to Aggregate Productivity Growth

The impact of each industry group on labor productivity at the aggregate level depends not only on the average productivity growth rate of each industry, but also on the relative size of that industry. Hence labor productivity for the total economy (P) can be perceived as the sum of the productivity contributions of each industry group (i) weighted with the labor share  $(L_i/L=S_i):^{28}$ 

$$P = \frac{Y}{L} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\frac{Y_i}{L_i}) (\frac{L_i}{L}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (P_i S_i)$$
(1)

In a time perspective the change in productivity between year t ( $P_i$ ) and year t-1 ( $P_{i-1}$ ) can be written as follows:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> In Ireland productivity growth in ICT-producing manufacturing is faster than in the U.S. because of the large impact of the computer and semiconductor industries. The bottom line of Table 6 shows the estimates for all countries based on the original price indexes for ICT -producing manufactuirng. This shows that the procedure adopted here makes substantial differences at the level of ICT-producing manufacturing. However, at the aggregate level the differences between the original and adjusted estimates are much smaller.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> We also find that productivity growth in ICT -using manufacturing is higher than in the U.S. for many countries. <sup>28</sup> Based on Fabricant (1942).

$$\frac{P_t - P_{t-1}}{P_t} = \frac{\Delta P}{P_t} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n (\Delta P_i \cdot \overline{S}_i)}{P_t} + \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n (\overline{P}_i \cdot \Delta S_i)}{P_t}$$
(2)

where  $\overline{S}_i$  and  $\overline{P}_i$  are the average employment share and the average productivity level in year t and t-1 respectively. Thus aggregate productivity growth is decomposed into intragroup productivity growth (the first term on the right-hand side, called "intra-effect") and the effects of the reallocation of labor (the second term, called the "shift-effect").<sup>29</sup>

Figure 1 shows the contributions by ICT-producing industries, ICT-using industries and the rest of the economy to labor productivity growth for 1990-1995 and 1995-2000.<sup>30</sup> The combined shift effect is shown separately (it is generally positive but small), so that the contributions of each individual group refer to the intra effects only. The chart shows that, despite their relatively small share in GDP, ICT-producing manufacturing industries contributed substantially to labor productivity growth, and for most countries this contribution increased during the second half of the 1990s. However, the contribution of ICT-producing manufacturing is substantially bigger in the U.S. than in Europe. For some European countries (in particular Germany, the Netherlands and Norway) the contribution of ICT-producing services even exceeded that of ICT-producing manufacturing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> See van Ark (2001), who also distinguished between a static and dynamic shift effect. However, the latter effect is the product of changes in shares and changes in labor productivity levels and is quite small when using annual data, as is the case here.
<sup>30</sup> For the sake of clarity we put the three groups of industries in the non-ICT group together, so that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> For the sake of clarity we put the three groups of industries in the non-ICT group together, so that there are only five industry groupings distinguished here.



#### Figure 1: Contribution of industry groups to labor productivity growth

Source: Appendix C



#### Figure 1: Contribution of industry groups to labor productivity growth

While the contribution of ICT-using manufacturing (excluding the producers) has generally been somewhat higher in Europe (and in particular in Germany) than in the U.S., ICT-using services (again excluding the producers) accounts for by far the largest contributions to productivity growth in the U.S.. In contrast, the productivity contribution of the non-ICT group has been smaller in the U.S. than in most other countries. Although the non-ICT contribution to labor productivity growth seriously diminished in almost all countries since 1995, its fall was much greater outside the U.S. As observed in our earlier work the deceleration of productivity contributions from the non-ICT sector has accounted for much of the aggregate slowdown that European countries experienced during the second half of the 1990s (van Ark, 2001; McGuckin and van Ark, 2001).

#### Are the Differences in Productivity Growth between Industry Groups Significant?

Even though this decomposition suggests substantive differences in growth rates across industry groupings, it is useful to determine the statistical strength of the differences between ICT-producing, ICT-using and other industries while taking account of variations in industry productivity growth associated with each group. For this purpose we carried out a number of country-specific regressions using a simple difference model for which we progressively increased the number of industry groupings. First we estimated the simplest model, which distinguishes only between ICT-using (including ICT-producing industries) and non-ICT industries:

$$\Delta P_{i,t} = \boldsymbol{a} + \boldsymbol{g} \boldsymbol{C} + \boldsymbol{e}_{i,t} \qquad (3)$$

where,  $\Delta P_{i,t}$  is the annual productivity growth rate, *i* denotes the industry group and *t* is years between 1990 and 2000. With 52 industries, this leads to a maximum of 520 observations per country. C is a dummy that is one if the industry is an ICT-intensive industry (which here means either an ICT-producing or an ICT-using industry). The estimated coefficients in Table 7 have the following interpretation: a is the average productivity growth rate for non-ICT industries and a + g is the mean growth rate of ICT intensive industries. Hence  $\gamma$  shows the difference between the growth rate of ICT-using industries and non-ICT industries. We ran the regressions for two sub-periods, 1990-1995 and 1995-2000.<sup>31</sup> The left-hand side of Table 7 focuses on the first half of the 1990s. It shows that in nearly all countries (except Austria and Spain) productivity growth was faster in ICT-using industries than in non-ICT industries. But during the early 1990s the difference between ICT-using and non-ICT industries was statistically significant for only four of the 16 countries (the U.S. at the one-percent level, Japan and Norway at the five-percent level and Canada at the ten-percent level). The right hand side of Table 7 shows that during the second half of the 1990s the difference in growth between ICT and non-ICT industries became significant for more than half of the countries, namely Canada, Finland, France, Germany, Ireland, the Netherlands, Norway, the UK, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> All parameters are estimated with weighted least-squares (WLS), where the weight of each industry is its employment in the relevant year (this multiplies the dependent and the independent variable by the square root of employment).

U.S. and the EU as a whole. It should be noted that the degree (or lack) of significance not only depends on the average growth difference between the two industry groups, but also on the variation within each group.

	Productivi	ty Growth	Difference	Productivi	ty Growth	Difference
	(1990-	-1995)	over non-ICT	(1995-	-2000)	over non-ICT
	Non-ICT	ICT-	ICT-	Non-ICT	ICT-	ICT-
		Using	Using		Using	Using
Austria	2.238	1.878	-0.360	1.491	2.821	1.330
	(1.074)**	(0.442)***	(1.161)	(0.700)**	(0.546)***	(0.888)
Canada <sup>b</sup>	0.036	1.962	1.926	0.401	2.881	2.481
	(0.420)	(0.954)**	(1.042)*	(0.365)	(0.402)***	(0.543)***
Denmark	1.264	2.209	0.945	1.710	2.051	0.341
	(0.981)	(0.844)***	(1.294)	(1.002)*	(0.850)**	(1.314)
Finland	2.249	2.673	0.424	1.138	3.340	2.202
	(0.641)***	(1.380)*	(1.522)	(0.386)***	(0.725)***	(0.821)***
France <sup>b</sup>	0.631	1.714	1.082	0.538	1.953	1.415
	(0.442)	(0.609)***	(0.753)	(0.431)	(0.646)***	(0.777)*
Germany <sup>a</sup>	1.629	1.946	0.317	0.144	1.743	1.599
	(0.602)***	(0.686)***	(0.913)	(0.329)	(0.684)**	(0.759)**
Ireland	0.799	1.690	0.891	0.358	4.842	4.485
	(0.542)	(1.303)	(1.411)	(1.042)	(1.749)***	(2.036)**
Italy	1.528	1.985	0.457	0.506	1.221	0.714
	(0.464)***	(0.583)***	(0.745)	(0.311)	(0.446)***	(0.544)
Japan <sup>c</sup>	-0.600	1.218	1.819	-0.910	0.920	1.830
-	(0.523)	(0.679)*	(0.857)**	(0.714)	(1.257)	(1.445)
Netherlands	0.585	0.921	0.336	0.640	1.741	1.101
	(0.343)*	(0.418)**	(0.541)	(0.356)*	(0.510)***	(0.622)*
Norway	2.308	4.191	1.883	0.832	4.125	3.293
·	(0.495)***	(0.731)***	(0.883)**	(0.371)**	(0.759)***	(0.845)***
Spain <sup>b</sup>	1.523	1.044	-0.479	0.097	0.841	0.744
1	(0.341)***	(0.441)**	(0.558)	(0.235)	(0.441)*	(0.500)
Sweden	1.863	3.377	1.514	1.913	2.567	0.654
	(0.347)***	(0.939)***	(1.001)	(0.584)***	(0.498)***	(0.768)
Switzerland	-1.287	-0.933	0.354	-0.093	0.100	0.194
	(0.691)*	(0.886)	(1.124)	(0.461)	(0.570)	(0.733)
UK	2.382	3.258	0.876	1.015	2.923	1.908
	(0.536)***	(0.462)***	(0.708)	(0.443)**	(0.662)***	(0.797)**
EU	1.462	2.184	0.722	0.703	2.160	1.456
-	(0.286)***	(0.347)***	(0.450)	(0.183)***	(0.351)***	(0.396)***
U.S.	0.041	2.361	2.320	0.529	5,105	4.576
	(0.324)	(0.527)***	(0.619)***	(0.242)**	(0.622)***	(0.667)***

a) 1991-95; b) 1995-99; c) 1995-98

Notes: The dependent variable is yearly productivity growth.

Standard errors, consistent for heteroscedasticity and autocorrelation, are in brackets.

All estimations are done using weighted least squares, where employment is used as weights

\* significant at 10% level; \*\* significant at 5% level; \*\*\* significant at 1% level

Using a slight modification of equation (3) we allow for differential effects between ICT-producing and ICT-using industries (excluding ICT-producing):

$$\Delta P_{i,t} = \boldsymbol{a} + \boldsymbol{g}_1 P + \boldsymbol{g}_2 U + \boldsymbol{e}_{i,t} \quad (4)$$

where the dummy variable P is one if the industry is an ICT-producing industry and U is one if it is an ICT-using industry. Table 8 shows that the ICT-producing industry group accounts for much of the difference in productivity growth rates relative to the non-ICT industry. Between 1990-1995, most countries (except France, Ireland, Italy, Norway, Spain and Sweden) showed significantly higher growth rates in ICT-producing compared to the non-ICT industries. On the other hand, only Norway and the United States showed significantly faster growth in other ICT-using (excluding ICT-producing) industries. For the second half of the 1990s the difference between productivity growth in ICT-producing and non-ICT is still strong and significant at the 1%-significance level for most countries (including the EU as a whole). Moreover, the coefficient on the differences is higher than for the period 1990-1995 in eight countries as well as for the EU as a whole. Still, apart from the United States, only Canada, Norway, the UK and the EU as a whole showed significantly higher growth for ICT-using industries as well.<sup>32</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> The significant result for the EU as a whole is caused by the fact that industries within the ICT-using group showed less volatility in productivity growth than individual EU member countries.

<u>10010 0.1111</u>	Productivity Growth (1990-95)		Difference o	ver non-ICT	 Productivi	ity Growth (1	1995-2000)	Difference of	Difference over non-ICT		
	Non-ICT	ICT-	ICT-	ICT-	ICT-	Non-ICT	ICT-	ICT-	ICT-	ICT-	
		Producing	Using <sup>d</sup>	Producing	Using <sup>d</sup>		Producing	Using <sup>d</sup>	Producing	Using <sup>d</sup>	
Austria	2.238	5.098	1.467	2.860	-0.771	1.491	3.440	2.740	1.948	1.248	
	(1.076)**	(1.018)***	(0.451)***	(1.481)*	(1.167)	(0.701)**	(2.498)	(0.523)***	(2.594)	(0.875)	
Canada <sup>b</sup>	0.036	3.850	1.737	3.814	1.701	0.401	6.775	2.366	6.374	1.965	
	(0.421)	(1.078)***	(1.059)	(1.157)***	(1.140)	(0.366)	(1.840)***	(0.402)***	(1.876)***	(0.544)***	
Denmark	1.264	7.013	1.485	5.748	0.221	1.710	6.136	1.451	4.427	-0.258	
	(0.983)	(1.738)***	(0.930)	(1.997)***	(1.353)	(1.004)*	(1.760)***	(0.918)	(2.027)**	(1.360)	
Finland	2.249	5.870	2.079	3.620	-0.171	1.138	8.847	2.001	7.709	0.863	
E b	(0.642)****	(1.084)****	(1.602)	(1.802)***	(1.726)	(0.387)****	(2.255)****	(0.564)***	(2.286)***	(0.684)	
France	(0.443)	4.332	1.326	3.701	0.694	0.538	7.629	1.099	7.091	0.562	
Commony	1.620	(2.307)	(0.584)	(2.024)	0.405	0.144	(2.273)	0.450	(2.313)	0.215	
Germany	(0.604)***	(1.963)***	(0.697)*	(2.054)**	(0.922)	(0.329)	(2.760)***	(0.548)	(2.779)***	(0.640)	
Ireland	0.799	8.945	0.528	8.147	-0.271	0.358	14.922	2.472	14.564	2.114	
	(0.543)	(5.252)*	(1.178)	(5.280)	(1.297)	(1.044)	(5.946)**	(1.623)	(6.037)**	(1.930)	
Italy	1.528	2.110	1.970	0.582	0.442	0.506	5.965	0.653	5.459	0.147	
-	(0.465)***	(1.892)	(0.614)***	(1.948)	(0.770)	(0.312)	(1.686)***	(0.422)	(1.714)***	(0.524)	
Japan <sup>c</sup>	-0.600	8.328	0.341	8.928	0.941	-0.910	12.257	-0.499	13.168	0.411	
	(0.525)	(2.796)***	(0.647)	(2.845)***	(0.833)	(0.717)	(6.254)*	(1.019)	(6.295)**	(1.246)	
Netherlands	0.585	3.636	0.571	3.051	-0.014	0.640	2.533	1.627	1.893	0.987	
	(0.344)*	(1.326)***	(0.423)	(1.370)**	(0.545)	(0.357)*	(2.272)	(0.483)***	(2.300)	(0.600)	
Norway	2.308	3.247	4.344	0.939	2.036	0.832	8.338	3.436	7.506	2.604	
b	(0.496)***	(3.314)	(0.651)***	(3.351)	(0.819)**	(0.3/1)**	(2.385)***	(0.//3)***	(2.414)***	(0.858)***	
Spain	1.523	3.605	0.543	2.082	-0.980	0.097	2.015	0.582	1.918	0.485	
Swadan	1 862	2 2 4 2	(0.439)	(1.272)	(0.372)*	(0.250)	(1.908)	(0.525)*	(1.923)	(0.402)	
Sweden	(0 348)***	(2.731)	(0 990)***	(2,753)	(1.050)	(0 585)***	(1 415)*	(0 522)***	(1.531)	(0.038)	
Switzerland	-1 287	1 726	-1 284	3 014	0.003	-0.093	-1 443	0 330	-1 350	0.423	
Switzerialia	(0.693)*	(1.453)	(0.988)	(1.610)*	(1.206)	(0.462)	(1.437)	(0.627)	(1.509)	(0.779)	
UK	2.382	7.778	2.610	5.396	0.228	1.015	6.019	2.410	5.004	1.395	
	(0.537)***	(1.493)***	(0.470)***	(1.587)***	(0.714)	(0.444)**	(1.920)***	(0.708)***	(1.971)**	(0.836)*	
EU	1.462	6.187	1.632	4.725	0.170	0.703	7.482	1.413	6.779	0.710	
	(0.287)***	(1.310)***	(0.317)***	(1.341)***	(0.427)	(0.184)***	(1.836)***	(0.225)***	(1.845)***	(0.291)**	
U.S.	0.041	6.382	1.784	6.341	1.743	0.529	6.655	4.858	6.126	4.329	
	(0.324)	(1.976)***	(0.542)***	(2.002)***	(0.631)***	(0.242)**	(2.538)***	(0.626)***	(2.549)**	(0.671)***	

Table 8. Impact of Non-ICT ICT-producing and ICT-using Industry Crownings on Productivity Crowth

a) 1991-95; b) 1995-99; c) 1995-98; d) excluding ICT-producing

Notes: The dependent variable is yearly productivity growth. Standard errors, consistent for heteroscedasticity and autocorrelation, are in brackets.

All estimations are done using weighted least squares, where employment is used as weights \* significant at 10% level; \*\* significant at 5% level; \*\*\* significant at 1% level

Table 9 provides estimates of a model that focuses on the distinction between manufacturing and services. The model in equation (4) was modified to:

$$\Delta P_{i,t} = \boldsymbol{a}_1 + \boldsymbol{g}_3 Q + \boldsymbol{g}_4 R + \boldsymbol{g}_2 S + \boldsymbol{e}_{i,t} \qquad (5)$$

where  $\alpha_1$  represents the average productivity growth rate for non-ICT using services industries, dummy Q is one if the industry is an ICT-using industry in manufacturing, dummy R is one if the industry is ICT-using and in services, and dummy S is one when the industry a non-ICT and a non-services industry. So the differences in productivity growth estimated in equation (5) are all relative to the non-ICT using services group. The results provide further support for the hypothesis that ICT use, in particular in services, is driving productivity growth. Between 1990 and 1995, six countries showed significantly faster growth in ICTusing services than in non-ICT using services and, between 1995 and 2000, that number went up to ten countries. For the EU average the difference between ICT-using and non-ICT services was already significant between 1990-1995 but became significant at the 1% level for the period 1995-2000. A comparison of the left and right hand sides of Table 9 shows that despite an increasing spread in productivity growth between ICT-using and non-ICT services from 1995-2000, productivity growth in ICT-using services was still somewhat slower compared to 1990-1995 for five European countries. For the U.S. there was a substantial increase in both the spread between ICT and non-ICT services and in the productivity growth of industries within the ICT-using services group itself.

14510 77 1112	Productivity Growth (1990-1995)			Difference	ence over non-ICT Services			Productivity Growth (1995-2000)				Difference over non-ICT Services		
	Non-ICT	ICT-using	ICT-using	Other	ICT-using	ICT-using	Other	Non-IC	ICT-using	ICT-using	Other	ICT-using	ICT-using	Other
	Services	Manufct.	Services	non-ICT	Manufct.	Services	non-ICT	Service	Manufct.	Services	non-ICT	Manufct.	Services	non-ICT
Austria	-0.025	2.280	1.726	4.537	2.305	1.751	4.562	-0.361	6.209	1.725	3.676	6.570	2.086	4.036
	(0.379)	(0.707)***	(0.542)***	(1.987)**	(0.802)***	(0.662)***	(2.023)**	(0.818)	(1.212)***	(0.591)***	(1.030)***	(1.463)***	(1.009)**	(1.315)***
Canada <sup>b</sup>	-0.327	3 850	1 693	0.731	4 176	2.019	1.057	-0.178	3 866	2 750	1 490	4 044	2,928	1 669
	(0.542)	(1.066)***	(1.081)	(0.654)	(1.196)***	(1.209)*	(0.849)	(0.390)	(1.731)**	(0.399)***	(0.671)**	(1.775)**	(0.558)***	(0.776)**
Denmark	0.515	2.855	1.971	2.982	2.340	1.456	2.467	1.604	0.551	2.561	1.972	-1.053	0.956	0.368
	(1.323)	(1.794)	(0.957)**	(1.150)**	(2.229)	(1.633)	(1.753)	(1.345)	(1.661)	(1.006)**	(1.039)*	(2.137)	(1.680)	(1.699)
Finland	0.980	4.201	1.981	4.311	3.222	1.001	3.331	0.326	3.482	3.271	2.619	3.156	2.945	2.293
1	(0.373)***	(2.195)*	(1.755)	(1.462)***	(2.227)	(1.794)	(1.509)**	(0.282)	(1.253)***	(0.892)***	(0.898)***	(1.284)**	(0.935)***	(0.942)**
France	-0.230	3 872	1.060	2 284	4 102	1 290	2 514	0.111	3 652	1 4 8 9	1 495	3 541	1 378	1 383
Trance	(0.467)	(1.247)***	(0.695)	(0.905)**	(1.331)***	(0.837)	(1.019)**	(0.461)	(1.566)**	(0.700)**	(0.996)	(1.632)**	(0.838)	(1.097)
Germany <sup>a</sup>	0 363	3 4 9 9	1 232	3 547	3 136	0.869	3 183	-0.452	3 708	1.012	1 207	4 160	1 464	1 660
German,	(0.594)	(1.380)**	(0.728)*	(1.302)***	(1.502)**	(0.940)	(1.431)**	(0.355	(1.294)***	(0.766)	(0.644)*	(1.342)***	(0.845)*	(0.736)**
Ireland	-1 029	6 4 5 9	-0.063	2.769	7 488	0.966	3 797	-0 373	14 056	1 692	1 295	14 429	2.065	1 668
	(0.601)*	(3.319)*	(1.175)	(0.712)***	(3.373)**	(1.320)	(0.932)***	(1.412	(4.688)***	(1.651)	(1.550)	(4.896)***	(2.172)	(2.097)
Italy	0.547	3 707	1 229	2 932	3 161	0.682	2 385	-0.172	1 797	0.991	1 585	1 969	1 163	1 757
1	(0.508)	(1.050)***	(0.657)*	(0.795)***	(1.167)***	(0.831)	(0.943)**	(0.277)	(0.794)**	(0.531)*	(0.622)**	(0.841)**	(0.599)*	(0.681)**
Japan <sup>°</sup>	-0.601	1.211	1.222	-0.599	1.812	1.823	0.002	0.007	4.377	-0.535	-1.986	4.370	-0.542	-1.993
	(0.478)	(1.606)	(0.665)*	(0.965)	(1.676)	(0.819)**	(1.077)	(0.907)	(2.729)	(1.229)	(1.144)*	(2.875)	(1.528)	(1.460)
Netherlands	0.070	2.508	0.507	1.782	2.438	0.438	1.712	0.356	1.250	1.847	1.395	0.894	1.491	1.039
	(0.395)	(0.965)**	(0.447)	(0.672)***	(1.043)**	(0.596)	(0.779)**	(0.386)	(1.640)	(0.513)***	(0.789)*	(1.685)	(0.642)**	(0.878)
Norway	1.416	1.973	4.908	4.714	0.557	3.492	3.298	0.935	-0.388	5.586	0.538	-1.323	4.651	-0.397
	(0.437)***	(0.924)**	(0.888)***	(1.052)***	(1.022)	(0.990)***	(1.139)***	(0.385)*	* (1.167)	(0.801)***	(0.929)	(1.229)	(0.889)***	(1.005)
Spain <sup>b</sup>	1.006	1.608	0.814	2.837	0.602	-0.192	1.831	0.023	0.650	0.917	0.289	0.626	0.894	0.266
-	(0.303)***	(1.122)	(0.428)*	(0.898)***	(1.162)	(0.524)	(0.948)*	(0.208)	(0.988)	(0.479)*	(0.665)	(1.009)	(0.522)*	(0.697)
Sweden	1.056	3.580	3.294	4.004	2.525	2.238	2.949	1.904	1.816	2.858	1.939	-0.087	0.954	0.035
	(0.306)***	(2.354)	(0.917)***	(0.892)***	(2.374)	(0.966)**	(0.943)***	(0.774)*	* (1.000)*	(0.567)***	(0.554)***	(1.265)	(0.959)	(0.952)
Switzerland	-2.489	0.063	-1.262	0.526	2.552	1.228	3.016	-0.194	1.984	-0.456	0.079	2.178	-0.261	0.274
	(1.019)**	(0.982)	(1.141)	(0.813)	(1.415)*	(1.529)	(1.303)**	(0.501)	(1.154)*	(0.633)	(0.922)	(1.258)*	(0.807)	(1.049)
UK	1.822	3.756	3.122	3.664	1.934	1.301	1.843	1.131	2.394	3.058	0.713	1.262	1.927	-0.418
	(0.720)**	(1.180)***	(0.496)***	(0.630)***	(1.382)	(0.874)	(0.957)*	(0.574)	* (1.389)*	(0.751)***	(0.576)	(1.503)	(0.946)**	(0.813)
EU	0.515	4.081	1.490	3.057	3.566	0.975	2.542	0.230	3.211	1.826	1.615	2.981	1.596	1.385
	(0.287)*	(0.804)***	(0.334)***	(0.559)***	(0.854)***	(0.440)**	(0.628)***	(0.176)	(0.913)***	(0.351)***	(0.392)***	(0.930)***	(0.393)***	(0.430)***
U.S.	-0.452	2.944	2.214	1.535	3.396	2.666	1.987	0.216	4.891	5.153	1.510	4.675	4.937	1.294
	(0.292)	(1.301)**	(0.578)***	(0.917)*	(1.334)**	(0.648)***	(0.962)**	(0.243)	(1.791)***	(0.645)***	(0.621)**	(1.807)**	(0.689)***	(0.667)*

Table 9: Impact of Non-ICT Services, ICT-using Manufacturing, ICT-using Services and other non-ICT on Productivity Growth

a) 1991-95; b) 1995-99; c) 1995-98

Notes: The dependent variable is yearly productivity growth. Standard errors, consistent for heteroscedasticity and autocorrelation, are in brackets.

All estimations are done using weighted least squares, where employment is used as weights

\* significant at 10% level; \*\* significant at 5% level; \*\*\* significant at 1% level

Finally, we assessed the possibility that productivity growth accelerated between the second half and the first of the 1990s due to increased use of ICT. Such acceleration is found in the aggregate results for the United States, as well as in industry-specific work such as McGuckin and Stiroh (2001, 2002) and Stiroh (2001). For this purpose we transformed equation (5) by adding specific dummies to pick up differences in growth rates between the pre- and post 1995 period:

$$\Delta P_{i,t} = \boldsymbol{a} + \boldsymbol{b} D + \boldsymbol{g}_3 Q + \boldsymbol{g}_4 R + \boldsymbol{g}_2 S + \boldsymbol{d}_1 Q \cdot D + \boldsymbol{d}_2 R \cdot D + \boldsymbol{d}_3 S \cdot D + \boldsymbol{e}_{i,t}$$
(6)

where the parameter **b** is the acceleration in productivity growth of non-ICT industries after 1995,  $\mathbf{b} + \mathbf{d}_1$  is the acceleration for ICT-using industry in manufacturing,  $\mathbf{b} + \mathbf{d}_2$  is the acceleration for ICT-using services,  $\mathbf{b} + \mathbf{d}_3$  is the acceleration for other non-ICT industries, and  $\mathbf{d}_1, \mathbf{d}_2$  and  $\mathbf{d}_3$  are the additional accelerations of each industry group beyond the acceleration in non-ICT services. Table 10 confirms the earlier contribution analysis. Non-ICT services experienced decelerating growth during the second half of the 1990s compared to the first half for most European countries, but not for Canada and the United States. Still only the United States showed an acceleration of productivity in ICT-using services that was significantly different from that in non-ICT services. In fact in Denmark, Japan, Sweden and Switzerland, ICT-using services showed deceleration relative to non-ICT services, even though none of these differences are statistically significant.

In summary, the regressions show that the difference in productivity growth between ICT-using and non-ICT industries is in part linked to ICT-production. Quite apart from that, a sizeable number of countries also have shown significantly faster growth in ICT-using services compared to non-ICT services since 1995. This suggests that the diffusion of ICT in Europe is proceeding but at a slower pace than in the U.S. The U.S. stands out since it is the only country that also shows a significantly faster acceleration in ICT-using services compared to non-ICT services since 1995. In turn, this suggests that the diffusion of ICT in Europe has been "too slow" to accommodate the rapid improvement in employment growth in Europe since the 1990s.

Troductivity	Acceleration	Productivity	Acceleration		Difference over Productivity					
		(1995-2000 ov	ver 1990-1995	)	Acceleration in non-ICT Services					
	Non-ICT	ICT-using	ICT-using	Other	ICT-using	ICT-using	Other			
	Services	Manufct.	Services	non-ICT	Manufct.	Services	non-ICT			
Austria	-0.336	3.929	-0.001	-0.861	4.265	0.335	-0.526			
	(0.902)	(1.403)***	(0.802)	(2.238)	(1.668)**	(1.207)	(2.413)			
Canada <sup>b</sup>	0.148	0.015	1.057	0.759	-0.133	0.909	0.611			
	(0.668)	(2.031)	(1.152)	(0.936)	(2.138)	(1.331)	(1.150)			
Denmark	1.089	-2.303	0.589	-1.009	-3.392	-0.500	-2.098			
	(1.887)	(2.445)	(1.389)	(1.550)	(3.088)	(2.343)	(2.442)			
Finland	-0.654	-0.719	1.291	-1.692	-0.065	1.944	-1.038			
	(0.467)	(2.528)	(1.969)	(1.716)	(2.571)	(2.023)	(1.779)			
France <sup>b</sup>	0.341	-0.220	0.430	-0.790	-0.561	0.088	-1.131			
	(0.656)	(2.000)	(0.986)	(1.345)	(2.105)	(1.184)	(1.496)			
Germany <sup>a</sup>	-0.815	0.209	-0.220	-2.339	1.024	0.595	-1.524			
	(0.692)	(1.892)	(1.058)	(1.453)	(2.015)	(1.264)	(1.609)			
Ireland	0.656	7.586	1.754	-1.483	6.930	1.099	-2.138			
	(1.535)	(5.744)	(2.026)	(1.705)	(5.945)	(2.542)	(2.294)			
Italy	-0.719	-1.911	-0.238	-1.347	-1.191	0.482	-0.628			
	(0.578)	(1.317)	(0.845)	(1.009)	(1.438)	(1.024)	(1.163)			
Japan <sup>c</sup>	0.608	3.166	-1.757	-1.387	2.558	-2.366	-1.995			
	(1.022)	(3.158)	(1.394)	(1.493)	(3.319)	(1.728)	(1.810)			
Netherlands	0.286	-1.259	1.340	-0.387	-1.545	1.054	-0.673			
	(0.552)	(1.903)	(0.680)*	(1.036)	(1.982)	(0.876)	(1.174)			
Norway	-0.481	-2.360	0.678	-4.176	-1.879	1.158	-3.695			
	(0.582)	(1.489)	(1.196)	(1.403)***	(1.598)	(1.330)	(1.519)**			
Spain <sup>b</sup>	-0.983	-0.958	0.103	-2.549	0.024	1.086	-1.566			
	(0.368)***	(1.493)	(0.642)	(1.116)**	(1.538)	(0.740)	(1.175)			
Sweden	0.848	-1.767	-0.435	-2.064	-2.615	-1.283	-2.912			
	(0.832)	(2.558)	(1.078)	(1.050)*	(2.690)	(1.362)	(1.340)**			
Switzerland	2.295	1.927	0.806	-0.448	-0.369	-1.489	-2.743			
	(1.135)**	(1.515)	(1.305)	(1.229)	(1.893)	(1.729)	(1.673)			
UK	-0.691	-1.363	-0.065	-2.952	-0.673	0.626	-2.261			
	(0.921)	(1.822)	(0.900)	(0.854)***	(2.041)	(1.287)	(1.256)*			
EU	-0.285	-0.870	0.336	-1.442	-0.585	0.621	-1.157			
	(0.337)	(1.216)	(0.484)	(0.683)**	(1.262)	(0.590)	(0.761)			
U.S.	0.669	1.947	2.939	-0.024	1.279	2.271	-0.693			
	(0.380) <u>*</u>	(2.214)	(0.866)***	(1.107)	(2.246)	(0.946)**	(1.171)			

Table 10: Impact of Non-ICT Services, ICT-using Manufacturing, ICT-using Services and other non-ICT Productivity Acceleration

a) 1991-95; b) 1995-99; c) 1995-98

Notes: The dependent variable is yearly productivity growth.

Standard errors, consistent for heteroscedasticity and autocorrelation, are in brackets.

All estimations are done using weighted least squares, where employment is used as weights

\* significant at 10% level; \*\* significant at 5% level; \*\*\* significant at 1% level

#### 4. Is Diffusion in Europe Slower than in the U.S?

Even though the grouping of industries based on ICT intensity is useful, it hides much of the variation within each of these groups. In this section we focus on individual industry performance for 51 of the 52 industries in our database.<sup>33</sup> Since we now deal with 16 countries and 51 industries for two sub-periods (1990-1995 and 1995-2000), most of our discussion below centers on comparisons of industry averages for the eleven EU member countries and the U.S. In addition, the discussion concentrates on services industries, which are among the largest users of ICT and which, because of their sheer size, are major contributors to aggregate productivity growth.<sup>34</sup>

#### Productivity Growth Rates by Industry

Table 11 shows the labor productivity growth rates by industry for 1990-1995 and 1995-2000, the accelerations between the two sub-periods, and the differential between the United States and the EU. Within each of the seven industry groupings, individual industries are ranked by the U.S. productivity growth rates from 1995-2000.

#### **ICT-Producing Industries**

In the ICT producing sector, both the U.S. and the EU show very strong productivity growth. Turning first to the ICT producing manufacturing industries, our attention is drawn to the very rapid productivity growth in office and computer equipment and semiconductors. These manufacturing industries clearly benefited from the rapid technological progress in ICT that lowered prices and led to increased adoption of these technologies. It is striking that the labor productivity growth rates in these industries for both the EU and the U.S are relatively close, but the acceleration of productivity growth in the ICT-producing manufacturing sector as a whole in the second half of the decade has been faster in the U.S.. Also noteworthy is the negative productivity growth in some of the ICT producing manufacturing industries, like radio and TV equipment. The reason for the decline in productivity is that these industries make intensive use of semiconductors and other electronic components. While the prices of these inputs have spectacularly decreased, the output of these industries is valued at roughly unchanged prices. As a result, the (implicit) price of value added is rising rapidly and productivity is declining.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> We excluded Private households (ISIC 95) because of missing data for many countries.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> See Appendix D for numbers for individual countries including the numbers for manufacturing industries.

T-LL 11. T-L D J	. C	D'ff	1000 1005
Table II: Labor Productivity	v Growin and Productivity	Differential for EU and US	. 1990-1995 and 1995-2000
Lubic III Bubbl I loudettin	oron and rioudenting	Differential for EC and CD	, 1770 1770 und 1770 2000

ISIC		1990-1995			 1	995-200	0	A	Acceleration			
Rev3		$EU^{a}$	U.S.	U.S	$EU^{a}$	U.S.	U.S	EU <sup>a</sup>	U.S.	U.S		
				EU			EU			EU		
	Total Economy	10	11	-0.8	14	25	11	-0.5	14	10		
	ICT Producing Industries	67	9 1	-0.0	87	10.1	1.1	-0.5	2.0	0.0		
	Manufacturing	11 1	15 1	4.0	13.8	23.7	10.0	2.0	2.0 8.6	6.0		
30		33.2	28.6	4.0	10.3	23.7 52.3	3.0	2.0 16.1	23.7	0.0 7.6		
201	Computers	277	26.0	-4.0	49.5	52.5	5.0 4.2	10.1	15.2	7.0		
321	Communication eq	50	50.8	-1.0	30.4	-0.4	-4.5	-1.5	-7.0	-5.4		
313	Fiber optics	5.0 6.9	5.6	-1.3	2.9	-0.4 5.7	28	-1.5	-7.0	-5.0		
331	Instruments	-2.6	-4.5	-1.5	_7.2	-5.9	1.3	-4.0	-1.4	3 3		
323	Radio and TV eq	-2.0	-4.5	-1.5	-13.0	-12.5	1.5	-4.7	-7.9	3.3		
525	Services	-2.0	-4.0	-2.1	-13.9	-12.5 18	-47	-11.5	-7.9	-34		
64	Telecommunications	57	33	-2.5	9.9	6.5	-3.4	4.2	3.2	-0.9		
72	Computer services	1.5	27	1.2	1.5	-4.5	-6.0	4.2	-7.2	-7.2		
12	ICT Using Industries <sup>a</sup>	1.5	1.5	0.2	1.5	47	3.2	0.0	1.2	3.4		
	Manufacturing	3.1	-0.3	-0.2	2.1	4./ 12	-10	-0.1	5.5 1 4	5.4 2.4		
31 31 3	Flactrical machinery	3.1 2.2	-0.5	- <b>J.4</b>	2.1	1.2	-1.0	-1.0	1.4	13		
31-31.3	Watches & instruments	2.2	0.5	-1.0	2.5	-0.7	-5.0	_2 3	-1.3	-1.5		
18	Apparel	5.2	3.4	-1.8	2.0	3.8	0.0	-2.5	0.3	27		
36-37	Mise manufacturing	1.1	13	0.3	1.5	2.4	0.9	-2.4	1.0	0.6		
30-37	Aircraft	0.5	1.5	1.5	1.J 6.4	2.4	53	5.0	2.1	3.8		
29	Machinery	4.2	0.9	-3.3	1.0	0.3	-0.7	-3.3	-0.7	2.6		
352+359	Railroad and other	5.9	-2.0	-79	3.1	-0.1	-3.1	-2.8	1.9	4.8		
273	Printing & Publishing	1.9	-2.6	-4.6	2.5	-0.2	-27	0.5	2.4	1.0		
351	Shine	4 1	-3.8	-7.9	0.4	-0.2	-0.6	-3.8	3.6	7.4		
551	Services	1.1	1.9	0.8	1.4	5.4	4.0	0.3	3.5	3.2		
67	Securities trade	1.1	3.2	2.1	2.0	15.3	13.4	0.9	12.1	11.3		
52	Retail trade	1.1	2.3	1.2	1.4	6.9	5.5	0.3	4.7	4.4		
51	Wholesale trade	2.9	3.4	0.5	1.2	61	49	-1.7	2.7	44		
65	Banks	0.4	1.3	0.9	3.0	2.8	-0.2	2.6	1.5	-1.0		
73	R&D	-0.2	1.0	1.2	-0.5	3.1	3.6	-0.3	2.1	2.4		
741-743	Professional services	-0.4	-0.7	-0.3	0.4	1.0	0.6	0.8	1.8	0.9		
71	Renting of machinery	2.4	6.7	4.2	0.5	5.7	5.2	-2.0	-1.0	1.0		
66	Insurance	0.2	3.0	2.8	0.2	-1.0	-1.1	-0.1	-4.0	-3.9		
	Non-ICT Industries	1.6	0.2	-1.4	0.7	0.5	-0.2	-0.9	0.2	1.1		
	Manufacturing	3.8	3.0	-0.8	1.5	1.4	-0.1	-2.4	-1.6	0.7		
24	Chemicals	6.8	3.4	-3.4	4.7	4.4	-0.4	-2.0	1.0	3.0		
25	Rubber & plastics	3.2	4.6	1.4	1.6	4.1	2.5	-1.6	-0.5	1.1		
17	Textiles	3.5	3.0	-0.4	1.4	3.3	2.0	-2.1	0.3	2.4		
27	Basic metals	6.9	3.9	-3.0	0.9	3.1	2.2	-6.0	-0.8	5.2		
26	Stone, clay & glass	2.5	2.8	0.3	1.4	2.6	1.3	-1.1	-0.2	1.0		
23	Petroleum & coal	9.6	5.0	-4.5	0.2	1.5	1.3	-9.3	-3.5	5.8		
34	Motor vehicles	3.2	4.9	1.7	0.9	1.4	0.5	-2.3	-3.5	-1.2		
19	Leather	3.3	4.9	1.6	0.7	1.3	0.5	-2.5	-3.6	-1.1		
28	Fabricated metals	2.2	3.2	1.0	0.9	0.6	-0.3	-1.3	-2.6	-1.3		
20	Wood	2.5	-2.8	-5.3	2.7	0.3	-2.4	0.1	3.1	2.9		
21	Paper	3.5	0.0	-3.5	2.3	0.2	-2.1	-1.2	0.2	1.4		
15-16	Food & beverages	2.9	3.5	0.6	0.0	-4.5	-4.5	-2.9	-8.0	-5.1		
	Services	0.6	-0.4	-0.9	0.2	0.4	0.2	-0.4	0.8	1.2		
70	Real estate	-0.7	1.6	2.3	-0.8	1.7	2.5	-0.1	0.1	0.2		
60-63	Transportation	3.2	2.1	-1.1	1.7	1.6	0.0	-1.5	-0.4	1.0		
55	Hotels & restaurants	-1.8	-1.1	0.7	-1.2	0.4	1.6	0.6	1.5	0.9		
95	Private households		2.2			0.7			-1.5			
75	Government	1.4	0.0	-1.4	1.1	0.2	-0.8	-0.3	0.3	0.6		
74.9	Other business services	-1.1	-1.0	0.1	-0.3	1.4	1.7	0.8	2.4	1.6		
85	Health	0.8	-2.2	-2.9	0.4	-0.3	-0.7	-0.3	1.9	2.3		
80	Education	0.9	-0.2	-1.1	-0.1	-1.2	-1.1	-0.9	-1.0	0.0		
50	Repairs	-0.1	-1.4	-1.2	1.0	-2.5	-3.4	1.1	-1.1	-2.2		
90-93	Personal & social serv.	-0.4	0.3	0.7	-0.5	-0.9	-0.5	-0.1	-1.3	-1.2		
	Other non-ICT industries	2.7	0.7	-2.0	1.9	0.6	-1.3	-0.8	-0.1	0.7		
01-05	Agriculture	5.2	-1.0	-6.3	4.0	6.3	2.3	-1.3	7.3	8.5		
40-41	Utilities	4.5	2.5	-2.0	4.9	2.3	-2.7	0.5	-0.2	-0.7		
45	Construction	0.4	0.5	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.0	-0.2	-0.3	-0.1		
10-14	IVIIIIIII2	1.5	2.4	-2.1	3.3	-1.ð	-3.4	-3.9	-1.2	-3.3		

Note: EU includes Austria, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Ireland, Italy, Netherlands, Spain, Sweden and the United Kingdom. See Appendix B for notes on data and methods

While the ICT-producing services industries showed notably slower productivity growth than the ICT producing manufacturing industries, ICT-producing services clearly stand out compared to other services industries. This can be mainly attributed to the strong productivity growth in the telecommunications sector. While this industry had fast productivity growth in both the EU and the U.S., the EU had a clear advantage over the United States in particular because of the rapid take off of the wireless market. From 1995-2000 Europe showed positive productivity growth rates in computer services, whereas negative growth rates were reported for the U.S.<sup>35</sup>

#### **ICT-Using Industries**

The ICT-using ector (excluding the ICT-producing industries) was the sector in which the U.S. showed the most clear-cut performance advantage over the EU. Most U.S. manufacturing and service industries in this group showed a faster acceleration in productivity growth than the EU after 1995.

In ICT-using manufacturing productivity growth accelerated faster in the U.S., with the exception of the "other electrical machinery" industry and the aircraft industry. However, these widespread gains in the U.S. come against the backdrop of generally lower productivity growth compared to the EU. Even from 1995-2000 U.S. productivity growth in mostICT-using manufacturing industries was still lower than in Europe.

The story is much different for ICT-using services (other than ICT-producing) where the EU experienced a negligible improvement in productivity growth of 0.3 %-point compared to an increase of 3.5 %-points in the U.S. Some individual industries of course show bigger differences. For example, the United States experienced the strongest productivity growth in securities trade, and wholesale and retail trade. In fact all ICT-using services but two (renting of machinery and insurance) show acceleration in labor productivity growth in the United States, whereas in the European Union most of these industries experienced a decelerating growth performance.

The strong acceleration of productivity in trade is recognized in the U.S. literature.<sup>36</sup> Europe's very slow productivity growth in this sector is a key factor in explaining the economy-wide differences in productivity acceleration in the late 1990s. In fact, as we will see below, the trade sector and securities together account for the largest part of the whole difference in productivity growth between Europe and the United States since 1995.

The banking sector was the only ICT-using service industry (excluding ICT-producing) for which the EU showed acceleration in productivity growth after 1995, which was also higher than in the United States. The higher productivity growth in banking for the EU reflects the experience of most EU member states, except Austria, Ireland and the Netherlands

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> But recently concerns have surfaced concerning the still too fragmented market structure of the European telecom market. See, for example, Isern and Rios (2002).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> See, for example, McKinsey Global Institute (2001)

(see Appendix D). Part of Europe's higher growth rate in banking is due to restructuring of the sector, which led to a continuous fall in employment with little offset in measured output. In contrast, employment in U.S. banking increased since 1995. In banking, measurement issues are of major concern. Strikingly, the Netherlands is among the few countries that (like the United States) recently shifted from measuring real output in the banking sector based on deflated interest receipts and service charges to genuine volume measures of banking output. Hence some of the differences across countries may reflect measurement procedures.

#### Non-ICT Industries

In the "non-ICT" sector (representing the less intensive users of ICT) there are substantial differences in productivity growth across industries, with mostly better productivity performance in manufacturing industries (such as chemicals and textiles) than in service industries, particularly in the 1990-95 period. The differences between the manufacturing and service non-ICT sectors narrowed considerably in the 1995-2000 period in both the U.S. and the EU. There was also a narrowing of the differences in productivity growth rates between the EU and the U.S. as U.S. productivity growth slowed less in non-ICT manufacturing and even modestly accelerated in non-ICT services. Nonetheless, compared to the ICT-using sector both the EU and the U.S. showed slower productivity growth throughout the non-ICT sector.

Given their sheer size, services industries are mainly responsible for the overall slower growth of productivity in the non-ICT sector compared to the ICT-using sector. Unfortunately, measurement issues cloud interpretation of the differences. While measurement of service sector output is a problem in the ICT-using sector, for some of the non-ICT service sectors these problems may be even bigger. One of the major issues is that the real output of services sectors is still largely based on information on inputs (such as employment input and labor income). While in both in Europe and the United States improvements in measurement of non-market services output are discussed, for example, in health and education, details on the actual implementation of improved measurement methods in the national accounts are often missing.<sup>37</sup> Since it is likely that the problems in developing suitable output measures are similar across countries, we can only assume that progress towards solutions is not all that different.

Table 11 shows that the average productivity growth for a considerable part of non-ICT services in the U.S. was lower than in the EU, particularly in health, repairs, education, and personal and social services. The latter may simply reflect faster growth of nominal wages in Europe (i.e., it is a measurement problem), but there may also be explanations of a more economic nature. For example, employment in education, health, personal and social services

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> In the United States, the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (which is responsible for the development of price indices) and the Bureau of Economic Analysis (which produces the National Income and Product Accounts) have introduced various improvements in measurement methods (Dean, 1999; Gullickson and Harper, 1999; Landefeld and Fraumeni, 2001). In a series of reports, Eurostat recently evaluated measurement practices in various service activities, such as financial services and public services (Eurostat, 1998a, 1998b, 2000, 2001).

and government has increased much more slowly in Europe than in the United States since 1995, although the difference in employment growth rates for these industries diminished as European employment growth at least turned positive since 1995. There is also some scattered – and partly anecdotal – evidence of greater efficiency in terms of output per person in European health and education services.<sup>38</sup> At the same time, productivity in some non-ICT services in the United States (in particular health – though still negative – and non-ICT business services) improved much more since 1995 than in the EU. But clearly all these measures are unlikely to take adequate account of quality improvements so that these arguments should not be pushed too far.

What is clear, however, is that the largest part of the observed difference in productivity performance between Europe and the U.S. arises from the much better performance of ICT-using services relative to non-ICT services in the U.S. While ICT-using services performed better than the non-ICT services in both the U.S. and the EU in 1995-2000, the differential was greater in the U.S. (1.2% in the EU versus 5.0% in the U.S.) Moreover, U.S. productivity accelerated in both sectors, though by substantially more in ICT-using (3.5% in ICT-services versus 0.8% in non-ICT services). At the same time European productivity growth more or less stalled in ICT-using services, and decelerated in non-ICT services (from 0.6% to 0.2%).

#### Industry Contribution to the U.S. - EU Productivity Growth Differential

While the differences in performance between ICT and non-ICT services is a primary factor in accounting for the aggregate productivity growth differential between the U.S. and the EU since 1995, it is largely driven by a limited number of industries. In order to examine the importance of particular industries accounting for the rise in the productivity gap between Europe and the United States between 1995 and 2000, we return to our decomposition analysis – introduced by equations (1) and (2) in Section 3. Using this decomposition, aggregate productivity growth in both countries was allocated to the 50 industries used in the industry-by-industry analysis.

By taking the difference between the EU and the U.S. in terms of industry contributions to aggregate productivity growth, we can allocate the aggregate difference in productivity growth between the U.S. and the EU (which was of 1.1 percentage points from 1995-2000) to the individual industries. The results of this exercise are displayed in Figures 2a to 2c. Figure 2a shows the contribution to the U.S.-EU productivity differential from ICT-using services (including ICT-producing services). Figure 2b provides the same information for non-ICT services. The analysis is extended to ICT-using manufacturing in Figure 2c.

Figure 2a shows that securities, retail, and wholesale trade contributed more than 0.90 percentage points less to aggregate productivity growth in Europe than in the United States. This number is close to the overall productivity differential of 1.1 percentage points between the U.S. and the EU from 1995-2000. Figure 2b shows that most non-ICT services in Europe

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> But in health services, some countries (Austria, Germany and the Netherlands) showed an even faster decline in labor productivity than the United States since 1995.
show faster productivity growth than in the U.S., offsetting part of the slower growth in Europe's ICT-using services. Figure 2c shows that office and computer machinery and semiconductors add substantially to the U.S.-EU productivity differential, but the contributions of other manufacturing industries to the differences in productivity growth between the EU and the U.S. are small.

# Figure 2a, Contribution of ICT-using services to U.S.-EU Productivity Differential, 1995-2000



Source: See Appendix Table E.5





# Figure 2c, Contribution of ICT-using manufacturing to U.S.-EU Productivity Differential, 1995-2000



Apart from calculating the differences in the industry contributions to the aggregate growth differential, we can also provide insight into what is driving these differences. In Appendix E we describe a methodology for decomposing the difference in industry contribution to the growth differential between two countries into four effects. From equation (2) it follows that an industry can have a bigger contribution to aggregate growth because 1) its productivity growth is higher, 2) its share in total employment is higher, 3) its productivity level is higher or 4) because the industry has expanded its employment share. We can therefore attribute differences in an industry's contribution to cross-country differences to each of these four factors.

We distinguish between these four effects by running counterfactual shift-share analyses. The employment shares of the U.S. are imposed on the EU and vice-versa. By comparing the "intra-effect" using the same employment shares, we isolate the effect of differences in productivity growth. The remaining difference in the intra-effect is then due to differences in the employment share. By comparing the "shift-effect" with identical employment shares, the productivity level effect is identified. Likewise, the remaining difference in the shift-effect is due to changing employment shares. In the end, we take the average of each of the effects under U.S. and EU employment shares.<sup>39</sup>

In Figure 2a, we not only show the total difference in contribution, but also (between brackets) the part that is due to higher or lower productivity growth. The second figure in brackets is the sum of the remaining three effects.<sup>40</sup> As Figure 2a shows, the majority of the difference in contribution can be explained by differences in productivity growth. This is especially true in the two trade industries and to a lesser extent for the other industries.

Figure 2b shows that in non-ICT services the contributions of individual industries generally have a small effect on the aggregate U.S.-EU productivity differential. The largest positive impact on the U.S.-EU gap is real estate contributing 0.09 percentage points to the productivity growth differential. In this case a much lower productivity growth rate in the EU (-0.8% versus 1.7% in the U.S.) has a reduced impact because of the smaller size of the industry in the EU. The majority of industries in non-ICT services grouping in fact narrow the gap between the EU and the U.S.. As mentioned above, although the productivity differentials have become smaller relative to the 1990-1995 period, most non-ICT services have shown faster productivity growth in the EU than in the U.S. between 1995-2000.

Figure 2c shows that ICT-using manufacturing industries (including ICT-producing) also account for part of the aggregate productivity differential. Here the role of the semiconductor industry is especially noteworthy. Its contribution to the U.S.-EU growth differential is actually the largest of all industries. This is mostly because the U.S. industry has a much

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> See Appendix E for a detailed explanation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> See Appendix Table E5 for the separate effects by industry.

larger employment share than in the EU (0.4 versus 0.2 percent of employment).<sup>41</sup> The computer industry also makes a considerable contribution to the difference between the U.S. and EU, but the remainder of the industries makes only limited contributions. This is because differences in productivity growth rates between the U.S. and the EU are not as large as those found in ICT-using services. In addition, the size differences between the EU and the U.S. in ICT manufacturing are much smaller than those in ICT services.

## Testing the "Lagging Diffusion" Hypothesis for Europe

While so far we have presented some evidence from industry labor productivity data supporting the idea that diffusion rates for ICT have been slower in the Europe than in the U.S., the direct evidence is relatively sparse. But the evidence that labor productivity growth, and changes in growth rates, are linked to ICT-using and ICT-producing industries extend to Europe. Moreover the differences in productivity performance between the EU and the U.S. are strongly associated with major ICT-using industries, particularly trade and securities. We conclude this line of reasoning by looking at the patterns of productivity growth across the entire distribution of industries.

Table 12 provides correlations of productivity growth between the E.U. and the U.S. for all industries, for all industries with the two major ICT-producing industries (office and computer equipment, and semiconductors) omitted, and for service industries only. The first column shows Spearman rank correlation coefficients for productivity growth rates and the second and third columns provide Pearson correlations on productivity growth rates and productivity contributions respectively. The calculations are carried out on productivity growth in EU and U.S. between 1995 and 2000, on acceleration in productivity growth in 1995-2000 relative to 1990-1995, and on EU productivity growth from 1995-2000 relative to U.S. growth from 1990-1995. The latter type of correlation comes closest to the "lagging diffusion" hypothesis as it tests whether the EU growth pattern during the second period resembles the U.S. growth pattern during the first period.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Productivity growth in the semiconductor industry also contributes positively to the U.S.-EU differential. While Table 11 shows higher productivity growth in the EU, the shift-share analysis decomposes the absolute change in productivity (value added per person in currency units) in each industry. Despite the higher European growth rates, the U.S. semiconductor industry has shown a larger absolute increase in productivity.

	Spearman	Pearson	correlations
	Rank	On productivity	On contributions
	Correlations	growth	to aggregate
			productivity growth
	(1)	(2)	(3)
All industries			
EU and US (1995-2000)	0.47**	0.95**	0.61**
EU and US Acceleration 1995-2000/1990-95	0.47**	0.70**	0.24*
EU (1995-2000) and US (1990-95)	0.31**	0.92**	0.58**
All industries (except 30 and 32.1)			
EU and US (1995-2000)	0.40**	0.60**	0.51**
EU and US Acceleration 1995-2000/1990-95	0.40**	0.38**	0.15
EU (1995-2000) over US (1990-95)	0.23	0.40**	0.48**
Service industries			
EU and US (1995-2000)	0.36**	0.35**	0.35**
EU and US Acceleration 1995-2000/1990-95	0.26	0.27*	0.22
EU (1995-2000) over US (1990-95)	0.50**	0.33**	0.38**

#### Table 12: Correlation between EU and US Productivity Growth by Industry

Notes: Stars denote significance: \* 10%, \*\* 5%

Reading across the top panel of Table 12, which shows the correlations when all industries are included, the relationships are positive and, when the productivity growth measure (in column 2) is used, in fact quite strong. However, as is shown in the second panel, the originally high correlation coefficients in column (2) drop significantly once the office and computer equipment (ISIC 30) and semiconductors (ISIC 321) are dropped from the sample. While the Spearman coefficient (column 1) in the second panel drops somewhat, the Pearson correlations on productivity contributions in column (3) (which take account of the relative size of industries) hold up fairly well. In particular the correlation between EU and U.S. productivity growth rates in the 1995-2000 period, and the comparison of the EU productivity growth rates in 1995-2000 with those in the U.S. in the earlier period, 1990-1995, remain strongly significant.<sup>42</sup>

In the third panel of Table 12 we concentrate on the services industries only, and find again that the results support the argument that Europe's diffusion process is ongoing but lagging behind that of the U.S. In particular, the correlations are uniformly positive and follow a reasonable pattern for comparisons of EU growth from 1995-2000 with U.S. growth from 1990-1995. While the correlation coefficients are somewhat smaller than in the other two panels, they are still significantly positive.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> The acceleration test performs badly across the board, which is no surprise given the slowdown of productivity growth in many European industries and the acceleration in many U.S. industries since 1995 (see Table 11)

# 5. Concluding Comments and Further Research

The main conclusion from this paper is that the diffusion of ICT in Europe is underway. It is following patterns similar to those experienced in the U.S., but the pace is considerably slower overall.

ICT production, particularly the computers and semiconductor industries, showed strong productivity growth and acceleration in virtually all countries. The contribution of these industries to aggregate productivity growth was higher in the U.S. due to their larger size. But in many European countries ICT-producing services industries (in particular telecommunication services) performed better than in the U.S.. This suggests support for countries that are primarily users and that do not rely on a major computer-producing industry.

The key differences between Europe and the U.S. are in the services sector, in particular in intensive ICT-using services. Productivity growth in the U.S. strongly accelerated during the second half of the decade, whereas it more or less stalled in the EU. While there was great diversity among industries and countries, a couple of patterns stand out. The U.S., in contrast to Europe, showed strong productivity improvements in retail and wholesale trade and securities. Moreover, even though these sectors were larger in the U.S., it was productivity growth rates between the U.S. and the EU since 1995. In addition, there were almost universal productivity gains in banking but very mixed performances in insurance and securities services, with the larger countries, including the U.S., doing poorly in the insurance industry.

Clear patterns were less obvious among the non-ICT industries. Productivity performances were very mixed across industries, but on the whole Europe showed higher productivity growth in both 1990-95 and 1995-2000. The gap narrowed, however, as the U.S. was one of the few countries to show some improvement in productivity growth for the aggregate of non-ICT services.

These results raise several questions that deserve further research. First, how important are measurement issues as contrasted with economic explanations in explaining our findings? We cannot be sure how much of the differences we observe are the result of inadequate measurement of services output and differences across countries in measurement methodology. It is clear that the measurement issues need to remain a key item on the future agenda for productivity research. The importance of services industries in accounting for the U.S.–EU gap in aggregate productivity growth underscores the central role that measurement issues are to take in the research agenda.

Second, why was ICT diffusion faster in the U.S.? It is clear that ICT equipment is sold in worldwide markets and that European productivity growth in manufacturing matches that in the U.S. This means the technology is available to potential users about everywhere. Moreover stronger productivity performance in European ICT-producing services, in particular telecom services, suggests plenty of support for ICT-users.

Finally, despite the importance of ICT, it should be noted that ICT is not the only factor explaining differences in productivity growth between Europe and the U.S. A broad literature has addressed a wide range of causes for Europe's slowdown in productivity growth during the 1990s. In turn, these same factors may be behind the slower diffusion of ICT in Europe compared to the U.S.43 Indeed business organization and the opportunities to exploit technologies depend on the constraints and restrictions that firms face. For example, McGuckin and van Ark (2001) argue that in many European industries regulations and structural impediments in product and labor markets limit the opportunities to invest in ICT. Examples of product market restrictions include limits on shop opening hours, and transport regulations that make it difficult for manufacturers and wholesalers to supply customers frequently. Restrictive labor rules and procedures limit flexibility in organizing the workplace and hiring and firing of workers. Furthermore, barriers to entry and restrictions on the free flow of capital are still an issue in many countries. We note that such queries would not just focus on European rigidities. The relatively poor performance of telecom services in the U.S. may be associated with cable and broad-spectrum regulations and the lack of universal standards that limit entry and competition in telecommunications services.

More research on these issues may also help with the related question posed in the paper: How was the U.S. was able to simultaneously expand employment in industries such as retail trade and increase labor productivity? In Europe it appears that the slower pace of ICT diffusion meant that employment gains went together with declining productivity. This slower pace involves a risk that Europe may enter a low-productivity growth path, which will make it difficult to raise output and living standards in the long run.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> A useful summary is in Scarpetta et al. (2000).

# 6. Bibliography

- Ark, B. van (2001), "The Renewal of the Old Economy: Europe in an Internationally Comparative Perspective", OECD STI Working Paper, 2001/5 (http://www.olis.oecd.org/olis/2001doc.nsf/LinkTo/DSTI-DOC(2001)5)
- Ark, B. van (2002), "Measuring the New Economy: An International Comparative Perspective", *Review of Income and Wealth*, vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 1-14, March
- Ark, B. van, J. Melka, N. Mulder, M.P. Timmer and G. Ypma (2002), "ICT Investment and Growth Accounts for the European Union, 1980-2000, *Research Memorandum GD-56*, Groningen Growth and Development Centre (http://www.eco.rug.nl/GGDC/).
- Baily, M.N. and Lawrence, R.Z. (2001), "Do we have a New E-conomy?", *NBER Working Paper*, no. 8243, April
- Cette, G., J. Mairesse and Y. Kocuglu (2001), 'Diffusion des technologies de l'information et de la communication et croissance économique", *Croissance*, No. 6, 14, November.
- Colecchia, A. and Schreyer, P. (2001), "ICT Investment and Economic Growth in the 1990s: Is the United States a Unique Case? A Comparative Study of Nine OECD Countries", OECD STI Working Paper, 2001/7, October (<u>http://www.olis.oecd.org/olis/2001doc.nsf/LinkTo/DSTI-DOC(2001)7</u>)
- Daveri, F. (2001), "Information Technology and Growth in Europe", University of Parma and IGIER, May (<u>http://digilander.iol.it/crenos/cnr67701/Daveri.pdf</u>)
- De Arcangelis, G, C. Jona-Lasinio and F. Manzocchi (2001), "Sectoral Determinants and Dynamics of ICT Investment in Italy", mimeo, University of Bari, ISTAT and University of Perugia.
- Dean, E.R. (1999), "The Accuracy of BLS Productivity Measures", *Monthly Labor Review*, February, pp. 24-34
- ECB (2001), "New technologies and productivity in the euro area", *ECB Monthly Bulletin*, July, pp. 37-48
- Eurostat (1998a), Report of the Task Force Volume Measure for Non-Market Services, September, Luxembourg.
- Eurostat (1998b), Report of the Task Force Prices and Volumes for Health, September, Luxembourg.
- Eurostat (2000), Report of the Task Force Price and Volume Measures for Financial Intermediation, May, Luxembourg
- Eurostat (2001), Handbook on price and volume measures in national accounts, Eurostat
- Fabricant, S. (1942). *Employment in Manufacturing, 1899-1939*. National Bureau of Economic Research: New York.

- Gordon, R.J. (2000) "Does the "New Economy" Measure up to the Great Inventions of the Past?", *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 49-77
- Gordon, R.J. (2002), "Technology and Economic Performance in the American Economy", NBER Working Paper, no. 8771, February
- Griliches, Z., ed. (1992), *Output Measurement in the Service Sectors, Studies in Income and Wealth*, Volume 56, National Bureau of Economic Research, Chicago University Press.
- Gullickson, W. and Harper, M.J. (1999), "Possible measurement bias in aggregate productivity growth", *Monthly Labor Review*, February, pp. 47-67
- Hulten, C.R. (2000), "Measuring Innovation the New Economy", paper prepared for the National Bureau of Economic Research Summer Institute joint workshop of the Productivity Program and the Conference on Research in Income and Wealth, July 31 and August 1 (<u>http://www.bsos.umd.edu/econ/neweconf.pdf</u>)
- Isern, J. and Rios, M. (2002) "Facing Disconnection: Hard Choices for Europes Telecos", *The McKinsey Quarterly*, 2002, no. 1
- Jalava, J. and Pohjola M. (2001), "Economic Growth in the New Economy: Evidence from Advanced Economies", mimeo UNU/WIDER.
- Jorgenson, D.W. (2001), "Information Technology and the U.S. Economy", *American Economic Review*, vol. 91, no.1, pp. 1-32
- Jorgenson, D.W. and Stiroh, K.J. (2000), "Raising the Speed Limit: U.S. Economic Growth in the Information Age", *Brooking Papers on Economic Activity*, pp. 125-211
- Jorgenson, D.W., Ho, M.S. and Stiroh, K.J. (2002), "<u>Growth of U.S. Industries and Investments in</u> <u>Information Technology and Higher Education</u>", paper presented at Conference on Research in Income and Wealth, *Measuring Capital in the New Economy*, April 26 - April 27, 2002 (http://post.economics.harvard.edu/faculty/jorgenson/papers/jhscriw.pdf)
- Kask, C. and Sieber, E. (2002), "Productivity growth in 'high-tech' manufacturing industries" Monthly Labor Review, March, pp. 16-31
- Landefeld, J.S. and Fraumeni, B.M. (2001), "Measuring the New Economy", *Survey of Current Business*, March, pp. 23-40
- McKinsey Global Institute (2001), U.S. Productivity Growth 1995-2000, Understanding the contribution of Information Technology relative to other factors, October
- McGuckin, R. and Van Ark, B. (2001), "Making the Most of the Information Age: Productivity and Structural Reform in the New Economy", *Perspectives on a Global Economy*, Report 1301-01-RR, October
- McGuckin, R. and Van Ark, B. (2002), *Performance 2001, Productivity, Employment, and Income in the World's Economies*, New York: The Conference Board

- McGuckin, R.H. and Stiroh, K.J. (2001), "Do Computers Make Output Harder to Measure?", Journal of Technology Transfer, vol. 26, pp. 295-321
- McGuckin, R.H. and Stiroh, K.J. (2002), "Computers and Productivity: Are Aggregation Effects Important?" *Economic Inquiry*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 42-59, January
- Niiniinen, P. (1999), "Computers and Economic Growth in Finland ", in M. Pohjola (ed.), *Information Technology and Economic Development*, WIDER/United Nations University, Oxford University Press, forthcoming.
- O'Mahony, M. and de Boer, W. (2002), "Britain's relative productivity performance: Updates to 1999" Final report to DTI/Treasury/ONS, March
- Dlewiler, N. (2002), "The Impact of Technical Advance and Productivity Growth for Natural Resource and Environmental Sustainability", paper presented at Workshop on Productivity and Social Progress in Canada: Perspectives and Prospectives, Center for the Study of Living Standards, Ottawa, January 25-26 2001, *mimeo*
- OECD (2001a), OECD Productivity Manual: A Guide to the Measurement of Industry-Level and Aggregate Productivity Growth, Paris: OECD
- OECD (2001b), "Introduction of the Euro in OECD Statistics", *mimeo*, downloadable from www.oecd.org/doc/M00017000/M00017083.doc
- OECD (2002), Measuring the Information Economy, Paris: OECD
- Oliner, S.D. and D.E. Sichel (2000), "The Resurgence of Growth in the Late 1990s: Is Information Technology the Story" *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, vol. 14, no.4, pp. 3-22, Fall
- Oulton, N. (2001), "ICT and Productivity Growth in the United Kingdom", *Working Paper*, no. 140, Bank of England, July.
- Scarpetta, S., A. Bassanini, D. Pilat and P. Schreyer (2000), "Economic Growth in the OECD Area: Recent Trends at the Aggregate and Sectoral Level," *Economics Department Working Papers*, No. 248, OECD, Paris.
- Schreyer, P. (2000), "The contribution of information and communication technology to output growth: a study of the G7 countries", *STI Working Papers 2000/2*, OECD, Paris
- Schreyer, P. (2002), "Computer price indices and international growth and productivity comparisons" *Review of Income and Wealth*, vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 15-31, March
- Stiroh, K.J. (2001), "Information Technology and the U.S. Productivity Revival: What Do the Industry Data Say?" *American Economic Review*, forthcoming
- Triplett, J.E. and Bosworth, B.P. (2001), "Productivity in the Services Sector" in Stern (ed.) Services in the International Economy, University of Michigan Press
- Triplett, J.E. and Bosworth, B.P. (2002), ""Baumol's Disease" has been Cured: IT and Multifactor Productivity in U.S. Services Industries", Brooking Institution, mimeographed
- Wiel, H.P. van der (2001), "Does ICT boost Dutch productivity growth?", *CPB Document*, No. 016, December
- Yuskavage, R.E. (1996), "Improved Estimates of Gross Product by Industry, 1959-94", Survey of Current Business, pp. 133-55, August

# 7. Appendices

# Appendix A: ICT Classifications and ICT Intensity

Appendix Table A1: ICT Industry Grouping on basis of ISIC Rev. 3 (1=ICT-producing or ICT-using ; 0=non-ICT)

ISIC	Industry	Stiroh (2001)	Our
01-05	AGRICULTURE, HUNTING, FORESTRY AND FISHING	0	0
10-14	MINING AND QUARRYING	0	0
15-16	FOOD PRODUCTS, BEVERAGES AND TOBACCO	0/1	0
17	TEXTILES	0	0
18	WEARING APPAREL. DRESSING AND DYING OF FUR	1	1
19	LEATHER, LEATHER PRODUCTS AND FOOTWEAR	0	0
20	WOOD AND PRODUCTS OF WOOD AND CORK	0	0
21	PULP. PAPER. PAPER PRODUCTS	0	0
22	PRINTING & PUBLISHING	1	1
23	COKE REFINED PETROLEUM PRODUCTS AND NUCLEAR FUEL	0	0
24	CHEMICALS AND CHEMICAL PRODUCTS	Ő	Ő
25	RUBBER AND PLASTICS PRODUCTS	0	Ő
26	OTHER NON-METALLIC MINERAL PRODUCTS	0	Ő
20	BASIC METALS	0	Ő
28	FABRICATED METAL PRODUCTS except machinery and equipment	0	Ő
29	MACHINERY AND FOLUPMENT NEC	1	1
30	OFFICE ACCOUNTING AND COMPUTING MACHINERY	1	1
21	ELECTRICAL MACHINERY AND ADDADATUS NEC	1	1
212	ELECTRICAL MACHINER I AND AFFARATOS, NEC	1	1
21 212	Floetrical machinery and apparatus, eval, fiber optics	1	1
22	DADIO, TELEVISION AND COMMUNICATION EQUIDMENT	1	1
32	MEDICAL DECISION AND ODTICAL INSTRUMENTS	1	1
221	MEDICAL, PRECISION AND OF ITCAL INSTRUMENTS	1	1
22 221	Medical, measuring and industrial control instruments	1	1
23-331	Motion Vehicles TRALERS AND SEMI TRALERS	1	1
54 25	MOTOR VEHICLES, TRAILERS AND SEMI-TRAILERS	0	1
33 251	DIHER TRANSPORT EQUIPMENT	1	1
351	Building and repairing of snips and boats	1	1
353	Aircraft and spacecraft	1	1
352+359	Kaliroad equipment and other transport equipment, nec	1	1
30-37	MANUFACIUKING NEC; KECYCLING	1	1
40-41	ELECTRICITY, GAS AND WATER SUPPLY	0	0
45	CONSTRUCTION	0	0
50	REPAIRS	0/1	0
51	WHOLESALE TRADE	l	l
52	RETAIL TRADE	l	l
55	HOTELS AND RESTAURANTS	0	0
60-63	TRANSPORT AND STORAGE	0/1	0
64	POST AND TELECOMMUNICATIONS	1	1
65	FINANCIAL INTERMEDIATION except insurance and pension funding	1	1
66	INSURANCE AND PENSION FUNDING, except compulsory social security	1	1
67	ACTIVITIES RELATED TO FINANCIAL INTERMEDIATION	1	1
70	REAL ESTATE ACTIVITIES	0	0
71	RENTING OF MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT	1	1
72	COMPUTER AND RELATED ACTIVITIES	1	1
73	RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT	1	1
74	OTHER BUSINESS ACTIVITIES	1	0/1
741-743	Professional Service	1	1
749	Other business activities, excl. professional	1	0
75	PUBLIC ADMIN AND DEFENCE; COMPULSORY SOCIAL SECURITY	na	0
80	EDUCATION	1	0
85	HEALTH AND SOCIAL WORK	1	0
90-93	OTHER COMMUNITY, SOCIAL AND PERSONAL SERVICES	na/0/1	0
95	PRIVATE HOUSEHOLDS WITH EMPLOYED PERSONS	0	0
99	EXTRA-TERRITORIAL ORGANIZATIONS AND BODIES	0	0

Notes: "na" means that Stiroh (2001) did not classify this industry due to a lack of investment data by type. "0/1" means that part of this ISIC industry was classified by Stiroh (2001) as non-ICT, but another part as ICT intensive in Stiroh (2001). "na/0/1" is analogous and also includes not classified industries.

App	endix Ta	ble A.2	IT investmen	t as a % of tota	al investment b	y industry
-----	----------	---------	--------------	------------------	-----------------	------------

		IT m	ivestment as a 9	6 of total inves	tment	
		US	France	Germany	Netherlands	UK
	ISIC rev.3	1993-1997	1993-1997	1991-1994	1990-1995	1993-1997
AGRICULTURE, HUNTING, FORESTRY AND FISHING	01-05	0.5%	0.2%	0.2%	0.6%	0.4%
MINING AND QUARRYING	10-14	1.4%		1.6%		0.1%
FOOD PRODUCTS, BEVERAGES AND TOBACCO	15-16	3.1%	1.6%	3.0%	3.1%	5.2%
TEXTILES, APPAREL AND LEATHER	17-19	6.1%		6.7%	5.2%	11.0%
TEXTILES AND APPAREL	17-18	6.1%	9.9%	6.6%		9.6%
TEXTILES	17	4.7%		6.3%		
WEARING APPAREL, DRESSING AND DYING OF FUR	18	14.5%		7.8%		
LEATHER, LEATHER PRODUCTS AND FOOTWEAR	19	6.5%		8.1%		25.6%
WOOD AND PRODUCTS OF WOOD AND CORK	20	3.0%	6.4%	2.8%	3.3%	6.1%
PAPER, PRINTING & PUBLISHING	21-22	7.3%		4.9%	6.8%	11.7%
PULP, PAPER AND PAPER PRODUCTS	21	2.1%		6.7%	3.9%	
PRINTING AND PUBLISHING	22	13.3%		4.1%	8.1%	
CHEMICAL, RUBBER, PLASTICS AND FUEL PRODUCTS	23-25	3.3%	1.7%	3.0%	4.9%	5.6%
COKE, REFINED PETROLEUM PRODUCTS AND NUCLEAR H	UI 23	1.2%		1.7%	10.5%	0.5%
CHEMICALS AND CHEMICAL PRODUCTS	24	3.8%		2.5%	4.5%	8.3%
RUBBER AND PLASTICS PRODUCTS	25	3.0%		5.0%	2.7%	7.1%
OTHER NON-METALLIC MINERAL PRODUCTS	26	3.0%		2.0%		6.2%
BASIC METALS AND FABRICATED METAL PRODUCTS	27-28	3.8%	2.5%	6.3%	6.4%	6.1%
BASIC METALS	27	24%		3.8%	10.8%	
FABRICATED METAL PRODUCTS excent machinery and equir	m 28	51%		83%	4.6%	
	20	15 90/ <sup>a</sup>		7 10/	0.8%	16 204
FIECTRICAL AND OFFICIAL FOURMENT	29	13.8%	2.00/	10.20/	9.070 C 00/	10.270
ELECTRICAL AND OPTICAL EQUIPMENT	30-33	9.0%	2.0%	10.2%	0.9%	15.4%
ELECTRICAL MACHINERY AND RADIO, IV AND COMMEN	2 31-32	/.0%				
MEDICAL, PRECISION AND OPTICAL INSTRUMENTS	33	12.2%	2.10/	6.00/	1.00/	<b>5</b> 00/
IRANSPORT EQUIPMENT	34-35	3.9%	2.1%	6.3%	4.0%	5.8%
MOTOR VEHICLES, TRAILERS AND SEMI-TRAILERS	34	2.0%		6.4%		
OTHER TRANSPORT EQUIPMENT	35	9.1%		5.8%		
BUILDING AND REPAIRING OF SHIPS AND BOATS	351			2.0%		
AIRCRAFT AND SPACECRAFT	353			9.7%		
RAILROAD EQUIPMENT AND TRANSPORT EQUIPMENT	352+359			5.5%		
MANUFACTURING NEC; RECYCLING	36-37	5.8%	<b>5</b> 407	7.4%	1 60/	6.8%
ELECTRICITY, GAS AND WATER SUPPLY	40-41	1.9%	5.1%	0.4%	1.6%	4.2%
CONSTRUCTION	45	3.4%	1.7%	2.1%	5.8%	5.1%
WHOLESALE AND RETAIL TRADE; REPAIRS	50-52	9.8%	1.8%	10.8%	6.0%	10.0%
REPAIRS	50	1.3%			4.0%	
WHOLESESALE TRADE	51	15.6%			11.0%	
RETAIL TRADE	52	5.3%			4.0%	
HOTELS AND RESTAURANTS	55	1.9%	1.9%	1.4%	2.3%	0.5%
TRANSPORT AND TELECOMMUNICATIONS	60-64	2.6%	2.3%	0.8%	2.4%	11.6%
TRANSPORT AND STORAGE	60-63	2.0%		0.9%		
POST AND TELECOMMUNICATIONS	64	2.7%		0.6%		
FINANCIAL INTERMEDIATION	65-67	13.6%	21.5%	13.1%	20.2%	20.3%
FINANCIAL INTERMEDIATION except insurance and pension f	unc 65	14.5%		15.0%	26.7%	
INSURANCE AND PENSION FUNDING, except compulsory so	xial 66	12.4%		7.9%	12.5%	
ACTIVITIES RELATED TO FINANCIAL INTERMEDIATION	67	3.2%		14.0%	10.9%	
REAL ESTATE, RENTING AND BUSINESS ACTIVITIES	70-74	8.6%	0.6%	2.1%	10.4%	16.7%
REAL ESTATE ACTIVITIES	70	4.0%	0.0% <sup>b</sup>	0.0%	0.2%	0.0% <sup>b</sup>
RENTING OF M&EQ AND OTHER BUSINESS ACTIVITIES	71-74	16.1%	2.9%	8.4%	13.4%	38.7%
RENTING OF MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT	71				1.3%	
COMPUTER AND RELATED ACTIVITIES	72				68.7%	
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT	73				24.5%	
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES	74.1-74.3				18.7%	
OTHER BUSINESS ACTIVITIES (non-professional)	74.9				5.1%	
PUBLIC ADMIN AND DEFENCE: COMPUT SORY SOCIAL SECT	JR 75	NA	2.6%	NA	0.170	
EDUCATION	80	67%		3.2%		
HEALTH AND SOCIAL WORK	85	61%		1.9%	3.3%	
OTHER COMMUNITY SOCIAL AND PERSONAL SERVICES	90-93	3.5%		1.270	63%	
PRIVATE HOLISEHOLDS WITH EMDLOVED DERSONS	95	NA			0.070	
EXTRA-TERRITORIAL ORGANIZATIONS AND BODIES	99	NA				
	//					

Notes: a: includes office and computing machinery (ISIC 30) as well; b: assumed to be equal to 0 Source: US: BEA, Germany: Ifo Investorenrechnung. France, Netherlands, UK: Data from national statistical offices

#### General

The main data on value added in current and constant prices and employment by industry for this study are obtained from the OECD STructural ANalysis (STAN) database.<sup>44</sup> This database, which is largely based on national accounts of individual OECD member states, provides a comprehensive tool for analyzing industrial performance at a relatively detailed level of activity across countries using the ISIC Rev. 3 industry classification.<sup>45</sup> Even though STAN mostly goes back to 1970, our data so far only cover the period 1990-2000. For a number of countries, however, we only have data up to 1998 or 1999 (see below).

The STAN database does not show separate entries for five of the six ICT producing industries (semiconductors, 321; communication equipment, 322, fiber optics, 313; radio and TV equipment, 323; and instruments, 331), for repairs, wholesale and retail trade (50, 51 and 52) and "other" business services (professional services 741-9). For some countries there were also missing disaggregations for other industries, for example basic metals and fabricated metals (27 and 28). We generally break these industries out by using the share in value added and employment which we then apply to the aggregate from STAN. Although the data sources differ between countries, for breaking out the manufacturing industries, we commonly rely on value added at current prices and employment from the *OECD Structural Statistics for Industry and Services* (I&S, 2000). For services, we mostly used the *OECD Services Statistics on Value Added and Employment* (SerNA, 2001), which also provides value added in constant prices. The I&S data cover at most 1991-1998, while SerNA covers 1990-1999. For years outside this range, or in cases for which no data are available for particular years, we extrapolate by the change in value added and employment shares. Only when data are available for less than four years, the share itself is assumed constant over time.

In cases where the more detailed data sources did not provide value added estimates in constant prices, we used the deflator for the aggregate industry groups. However, this procedure is inadequate for ICT-producing industries (30, 313, 31ex313, 321, 322, 323, 331 and 33ex331) for which price changes are very different from those for the aggregate industry groups to which they belong. The large quality improvements of ICT equipment have led to very rapid price declines. Unlike traditional matched models the quality changes are better picked up by hedonic price indexes, which are estimates of price changes based on changes in the quality characteristics of ICT equipment. Whereas the U.S. National Income and Product Accounts (NIPA) make extensive use of hedonic price indexes, most other countries do not use independent hedonic price indices, which implies that their deflators for computers, electrical machinery, telecom equipment and instruments for many countries did not decline

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> See <u>http://www.oecd.org/EN/document/0.,EN-document-0-nodirectorate-no-1-3245-0,00.html</u>. For the Netherlands, Ireland and Switzerland the national accounts of each country were used. In some cases (for example, for Sweden and the UK) STAN was supplemented with more recent data for the countries' national accounts.

or declined much less than in the United States. Since this would understate productivity growth in other countries relative to the US, we applied the U.S. deflators for ICT-producing industries (30, 313, 31ex313, 32, 331 and 33ex331) to these industries in all countries. In order to correct for differences in overall inflation between each country and the U.S., we adjusted these hedonic deflators for the ratio of the GDP price indexes of each country and the U.S..<sup>46</sup>. Since the ICT-producing industries are not separately distinguished in the U.S. NIPA, we constructed these deflators using price changes in output and intermediate inputs of ICT goods. We did this in a fashion that approximates the BEA procedures and results as closely as possible. We describe the details below in the overall description of the U.S. data.

Finally, in (re)calculating aggregates for industry groups and for the aggregate economy we used chain-weighted Törnqvist quantity indices for value added in constant prices. This implies that the sum of individual industries does not exactly sum to the original total of a group or sector.

# Additional sources for individual countries

Below more detailed information is provided on the specific procedures used for each country in the construction of the data, in addition to the general procedure outlined above.<sup>47</sup> Table B1 below shows for which industries additional data was used, the source of this data, how many years were available and the variables available from this source.

# Austria

For industries in 31-33, the years that were not available were extrapolated with the change in shares over that period; 1996 was interpolated. For the industries in 50-52 and 74, the shares were assumed to have remained constant before 1997 and after 1998. For these industries, the deflator for the more aggregated industry from STAN was used (for 50-52 and 74 respectively).

# Canada

In the STAN file for this country, miscellaneous manufacturing includes instruments, so these were split up using I&S. Repairs, securities trade and professional services could not be distinguished separately. Real estate only consists of owner-occupied dwellings so no corresponding employment figures are available. This industry has therefore been omitted from the database and the total economy figures have been adjusted accordingly. At present, value added in current prices is available only up to 1996 (the year of the most recent I/O

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> In the remainder, any numbers that do not refer to years, are ISIC rev3 codes for the industries in question.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> This procedure is based on Schreyer (2000), although he uses each country's deflator for non-ICT investment relative to that of the USA as a correction factor. As we do not have non-ICT investment deflators for each country, we use the ratio of the overall GDP (excluding ICT producing industries) deflators

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> In the following, the abbreviations Cur, Con and Emp refer to respectively value added in current prices, value added in constant prices and persons employed. I&S refers to the OECD *Structural Statistics for Industry and Services*, SerNA for the OECD *Service Statistics on Value Added and Employment* and PPI for weights from the producer price index.

table). Value added in constant prices has been extrapolated by Statistics Canada. To derive estimates of value added at current prices, we use PPIs for manufacturing industries and data on value added in current prices for broad sectors directly obtained from Statistics Canada. For employment, only information for broad sectors are available, directly obtained from Statistics Canada. Shares at the lower levels of aggregation were extrapolated. For I&S data, shares were assumed to have remained constant before 1994 and after 1995. Shares from SerNA were extrapolated.

## Denmark

Employment shares were used in 31-33 for value added in current prices as well. For 31-33, missing years in I&S were extrapolated using the trend in the shares for the available years

# Finland

For 31-33, missing years in I&S were extrapolated using the trend in the shares for the available years

#### France

In the STAN file for this country, mining (10-14) is partly included in petroleum and coal products (23) and partly in non-metallic mineral products (26). We use detailed national accounts data to break out this industry. For 1990-1991, we use the shares from I&S to extrapolate. Similarly, private households (95) is included in personal & social services (90-93). This industry is also broken out with detailed national accounts data and extrapolated using SerNA. Finally, data on value added in constant prices were extrapolated for 1990 for a number of detailed industries using the average deflator change over the rest of the decade.

#### Germany

For 31-33, missing years in I&S were extrapolated using the trend in the shares for the available years. To split up business services (74) we (arbitrarily) assumed professional services (741-743) makes up half of the total.

# Ireland

We used separate national accounts data for this country, since there is no data in STAN yet. The metal industry (27-28) and transport equipment (34-35) were split up using I&S. Missing years from I&S were extrapolated using the trend in the shares for the available years. The deflators from the more aggregated industries were used for each of the parts.

#### Italy

For 31-33, missing years in I&S were extrapolated using the trend in the shares for the available years. Detailed industries in other transport equipment (35) are not available from STAN for the period since 1995, so these were extrapolated using shares from I&S from then on. The I&S data for 1995 were interpolated. For employment in other transport equipment, only the number of full-time equivalents (FTEs) was available for the period until 1995. The share in FTEs was used for 1990 to 1995. Value added in constant prices and employment for 1990 and 1991 in textiles and wearing apparel (17-18), paper and publishing (21-22), the

metal industries (27-28) and financial intermediation (65-67) were extrapolated using the data for the later years. This was also done for financial intermediation (65-67) for value added in current prices. Furthermore, real estate (70) includes rental of machinery (71) and computer services (72) includes research and development (73). These were split up using the distribution from Germany. To split up business services (74) we (arbitrarily) assumed professional services (741-743) makes up half of the total.

#### Japan

For 31-33, missing years in KS were extrapolated using the trend in the shares for the available years. In addition, the industries in other transport equipment (35) as well as the division between education (80) and health (85) was extrapolated for 1998 and 1996-1998 respectively. Repair activities (50) are included with the individual manufacturing industries so could not be separately distinguished. Hotels and restaurants (55) are included in social and personal services (90-93) and could not be separately distinguished. Similarly, financial intermediation (65-67) could not be split up further. Other business activities (71-74) were (arbitrarily) split up according to the following Table.

	Value added	Employment <sup>a)</sup>
71, Renting of machinery	10% of 71-74	5% of BUS
72, Computer services	20% of 71-74	15% of BUS
73, R&D	20% of 71-74	20% of BUS
741-3, Professional services	30% of 71-74	60% of BUS
749, Other business activities	20% of 71-74	(71-74) – BUS

a) BUS is from the Labour Force Survey and calculated as finance, real estate and business services – real estate – finance.

#### Netherlands

For the Netherlands, we obtained newly revised data directly from the national accounts and the accompanying Input/Output tables, which are fully consistent with the national accounts. These I/O tables were used for a considerable number of manufacturing industries, but are not separately shown in Table B1 due to the consistency with the national accounts. To split up the industries in radio, TV and communication equipment (32), we had only one observation from the PPI weights, which we used for the whole decade. The I/O tables did not include the number persons employed, so here we used shares from the Census.

#### Norway

For 31-33, missing years in I&S were extrapolated using the trend in the shares for the available years. The same goes for trade and repairs (50-52) and other business activities (71-74) based on SerNA. In addition to these two sources, the Structure Statistics from Statistics Norway for 1998 and 1999 were used. For other years, shares were assumed to have remained constant. Furthermore, for most manufacturing industries, data on value added in current prices and employment for 2000 were extrapolated based on I&S (exceptions are food, wood, paper and publishing, basic metals and shipbuilding). For transport and communication (60-64) and real estate (70), data on value added in current prices and employment for 1990 was

extrapolated based on SerNA. For value added in constant prices, additional extrapolations had to be made for chemical industries (23-26) based on the aggregate directly from the National Accounts. Textiles (17) and wearing apparel (18) were split up to obtain value added in constant prices by using their share in value added in current prices. Data on value added in constant prices for fabricated metal products (28) were calculated as a residual after subtracting basic metal (27) from the total of the two industries. For the industries in trade and repair (50-52) the deflator for the more aggregated industry was used. Finally, employment in community social and personal services (75-99) was extrapolated for 1998-2000 using trends from STAN for the earlier years.

# Spain

For 31-33, missing years in I&S were extrapolated using the trend in the shares for the available years. The same goes for 50-52 based on SerNA. Business services (74) could not be split up any further. Industries in financial intermediation (65-67) and other business activities (71-74) were extrapolated for 1990-1994 and 1999 based on shares from STAN for the other years. The same was done for transport and communication (60-64) for 1999. Value added in constant prices for all manufacturing industries except food (15-16) and non-metallic mineral products (26) were also extrapolated for these years based on the deflators for more aggregated industries.

#### Sweden

The STAN data for Sweden currently run to 1998. We extended this to 2000 using detailed national accounts tables from Statistics Sweden. For 31-33, missing years in I&S were extrapolated using the trend in the shares for the available years. For 50-52, shares were assumed to have remained constant for years before 1997 and after 1998. Financial intermediation (65-67) and community, social and personal services (75-99) could not be split up further. For aggregating to the EU level, the average shares of the detailed industries for all other EU countries were applied. Research and development (73), professional services (741-743) and other business services (749) were split up using their composition in Denmark. Employment alone had to be split up for textiles and wearing apparel (17-18) and other transport equipment (35) using I&S. To obtain value added in constant prices for 1990-1992 for all manufacturing industries, shares were extrapolated using data for later years. For most services industries, the deflator for a more aggregated industry was used.

# Switzerland

We used separate national accounts data for this country, since there is no data in STAN yet. For value added in current prices and employment the weight in the PPI was used to distinguish fiber optics (313) from the rest of electrical machinery (31ex313) and split up radio, TV and communication equipment (32). In instruments and watches (33), only watches (335) could be distinguished separately, so instruments (331) includes everything but watches. Business services (74) could not be split up.

## United Kingdom

At present, the data from STAN only run up to 1999. Data for 2000 were obtained directly from the National Acounts in the ONS Blue Book (2001). For 1999 and 2000, Table B1 shows that the Annual Business Inquiry (ABI) was used for extrapolation in a number of industries. For value added in constant prices, deflators for more aggregated industries were used. The number of self-employed is only available for broad sectors, so the share of self-employed in the total number of persons employed is applied to all underlying industries.

# United States

Since the U.S. does not use the ISIC rev 3 classification, a large number of adaptations had to be made, mainly in the ICT producing manufacturing industries. While the STAN database contained data on value added in current prices for the industries 29 up to 33, it did not provide a further disaggregation to 3-digit level. For insulated wire and cable (313), semiconductors (321), communication equipment (322), radio and TV receivers (323), and medical and measurement instruments and industrial process control (331), value added shares were taken from the U.S. Census Bureau's *Annual Survey of Manufacturers* (ASM) and used as weights to calculate value added in current prices.<sup>48</sup> For a number of 2-digit industries, data for 2000 were lacking in STAN (these include, amongst others 31, electrical machinery and 32, radio, television and communication equipment). The 1999 figures were extrapolated using the 2000 ASM. The procedure to obtain a complete set of employment figures is comparable to that used for value added in current prices. Extrapolations to 2000 (where needed) are also based on the 2000 ASM.

A number of other adjustments had to be made. First, value added and employment for wholesale trade, retail trade and repairs had to be separated. While these are separate industries in the BEA "GDP by Industry" data set, they are combined in STAN. According to ISIC, retail trade (52) does not include eating and drinking places, but in the U.S. SIC this industry (SIC 58) is included in retail trade (SIC 52-59). We used the BEA "Gross Output by Detailed Industry" data to relocate eating and drinking places to Hotels and restaurants (ISIC 55). Since gross output from this source is not consistent with the GDP by Industry figures, we scaled the figures down to equal the GDP by Industry totals.<sup>49</sup> We next used value added from the BLS I/O tables to calculate value added in current prices. Here, too, we had to make an adjustment so that value added in current prices for these industries combined would sum to the total from the national accounts. Employment figures were obtained from the BLS. These are employees figures instead of persons employed figures, and not completely consistent with the figures the BEA figures reported in the GDP by Industry data. We used

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Here, the BEA "Shipments of Manufacturing Industries" data could not be used, since these only contain value of shipments figures apart from the price data. Because the concordance between NAICS and SIC is not perfect, the shares showed a shift between 1997 and 1998. For the deflators this is less of a problem than for the value added and employment data. Therefore, for 1996-97, we extrapolated 31 and 313 as well as 33 and 331 with the growth rate of 31 and 33 respectively. For the years 1997-2000, we applied the growth rates from the NAICS based data.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> The Gross Output by Detailed Industry data are based on the benchmark I/O tables (last one for 1992) and are extrapolated for other years.

employee shares to scale these up to the number of persons employed. It should be stressed that these adjustments for retail trade and restaurants do matter in an important way. It diminishes value added (in current prices) in retail trade by around 25%, while quadrupling value added in hotels and restaurants.

The calculation of value added (in current and constant prices) and employment for business services follows a similar procedure. In STAN, other business activities (ISIC 71-74) is equal to the industries business services (SIC 73), legal services (SIC 81) and other services (SIC 84, 87, 89). While this is roughly correct, there are some important exceptions, like automobile renting (part of ISIC 71 but included in automobile repair in the U.S.). ISIC 71-74 in STAN also includes Museums, botanical, zoological gardens (SIC 84), which we relocated to ISIC 90-93 (Personal, Social and Community Services). Finally, post and telecommunications should not include radio and TV broadcasting (SIC 483) so we relocate this industry to ISIC 90-93 as well. The industries in other business activities (71-74) can now also be separately distinguished.

The next problem was that no separate price deflators are available for the machinery and electrical machinery industries (29-33), the other transport equipment industries (35) or for the industries in which we reclassified detailed industries. We therefore developed our own deflators for these industries. From the BEA data sets on "Gross Output by Detailed Industry" and "Shipments of Manufacturing Industries" we used value of shipments deflators for manufacturing industries and gross output deflators for non-manufacturing industries. We use a Törnqvist index to obtain gross output (value of shipments) deflators for each of the industries.

We then use the Input/Output (I/O) tables from the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS)<sup>50</sup> for 1990-2000 to calculate an intermediate input deflator for each ISIC industry. For each of the 190 I/O industries distinguished we calculated a gross output deflator series.<sup>51</sup> We use these deflators to calculate an intermediate input price index for each industry. For industry *i* this is done in the following way:

$$\Delta \ln P_i^M = \sum_j \overline{s}_{i,j}^M \Delta \ln P_{i,j}^M$$
(B1)

In equation (B1)  $P_{i,j}^{M}$  is the price of the  $j^{\text{th}}$  intermediate input used in industry *i*. The price change for this input is weighted by the average share of input *j* in total intermediate inputs in current prices of the industry over the two periods:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Specifically from the Office of Occupational Statistics and Employment Projections (<u>www.bls.gov/emp</u>). We use these tables since they are available for each year in our sample and because the industry detail is much greater (190 versus 96 industries).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> If there is a many-to-one correspondence, we use a Törnqvist index to aggregate to the level of aggregation of the I/O table.

$$\overline{s}_{i,j}^{M} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{P_{i,j}^{M,t} M_{i,j}^{t}}{\sum_{j} P_{i,j}^{M,t} M_{i,j}^{t}} + \frac{P_{i,j}^{M,t-1} M_{i,j}^{t-1}}{\sum_{j} P_{i,j}^{M,t-1} M_{i,j}^{t-1}} \right).$$
(B2)

Using the deflators for gross output and intermediate inputs, we calculate gross output and intermediate inputs at constant prices. These are combined to calculate value added in constant prices:

$$\Delta \ln V_i = \frac{1}{\overline{s}_i^V} \left( \Delta \ln Q_i - \overline{s}_i^M \Delta \ln M_i \right)$$
(B3)

Here,  $V_i$ ,  $Q_i$  and  $M_i$  are the quantity indices of value added, gross output and intermediate inputs respectively. Furthermore:

$$s_{i}^{V} = 1 - s_{i}^{M} = \frac{P_{i}^{t}Q_{i}^{t} - P_{i}^{M,t}Q_{i}^{M,t}}{P_{i}^{t}Q_{i}^{t}}$$
(B4)

In other words,  $s_i^V$  is the share of current value added in current gross output. The average over the two periods is taken and used in equation (B3). While this procedure does not exactly replicate the BEA procedure, it serves as a good approximation since the aggregate deflators are close to the value added deflator from the national accounts.<sup>52</sup> Given these deflators, value added in constant prices all industries could be calculated.

 $<sup>^{52}</sup>$  Differences exist for a number of reasons: the BEA uses the detailed source material of the I/O tables, which is even more disaggregated than the 532-industry detail benchmark table. Furthermore we use a single deflator for all inputs from a certain commodity category, while the BEA distinguishes between domestically produced and imported goods. Also, our price deflators correspond to the value of shipments of an *industry* not of the *commodities* that are used as inputs.

Table B1, I	Description	of additional	data used in	the construction	of the database
-------------	-------------	---------------	--------------	------------------	-----------------

Industry	ISIC rev3	C rev3 Austria Canada		ada	Denmar	<b>c</b>	Finland		
Agriculture	01-05	/ tusti	a	Can	aua	Denmari	<b>`</b>		
Mining	10-14								
Food & beverages	15-16								
Textiles	15 16			I&S (94-95)	Cur. Emp				
Apparel	18			I&S (94-95)	Cur, Emp				
Leather	19			I&S (94-95)	Cur, Emp				
Wood	20			1005 (31.30)	our, Emp				
Paper	21			I&S (94-95)	Cur. Emp				
Printing & Publishing	22			I&S (94-95)	Cur, Emp				
Petroleum & coal	23			1005 (31.30)	eur, Emp				
Chemicals	24								
Rubber & plastics	25								
Stone, clay & glass	26								
Basic metals	27								
Fabricated metals	28								
Machinery	29								
Office and Comp. Eq.	30								
Fiber ontics	31.3	I&S (91-98ex96	) Cur Emp	I&S (94-95)	Cur Emp	I&S (93-98)	Emn	L&S (95-98)	Cur Emp
Electrical machinery	31-31-3	I&S (91-98ex96	) Cur, Emp	I&S (94-95)	Cur, Emp	I&S (93-98)	Emp	I&S (95-98)	Cur Emp
Semiconductors	32.1	I&S (91-98ex96	) Cur, Emp	I&S (94-95)	Cur, Emp	I&S (93-98)	Emp	I&S (95-98)	Cur, Emp
Communication eq.	32.2	I&S (91-98ex96	) Cur, Emp	I&S (94-95)	Cur, Emp	I&S (93-98)	Emp	I&S (95-98)	Cur, Emp
Radio and TV eq.	32.3	I&S (91-98ex96	) Cur, Emp	I&S (94-95)	Cur, Emp	I&S (93-98)	Emp	I&S (95-98)	Cur, Emp
Instruments	33.1	I&S (91-98ex96	) Cur, Emp	I&S (94-95)	Cur, Emp	I&S (93-98)	Emp	I&S (95-98)	Cur, Emp
Watches & instruments	33-33.1	I&S (91-98ex96	) Cur, Emp	I&S (94-95)	Cur, Emp	I&S (93-98)	Emp	I&S (95-98)	Cur, Emp
Motor vehicles	34		, cui, <u>Lin</u> p	1005 (31.30)	our, Emp	1005 (20 20)	Linp	1005 (30 30)	our, Emp
Ships	351								
Aircraft	353								
Railroad and other	352+359								
Misc. manufacturing	36-37			I&S (94-95)	Cur. Emp				
Utilities	40-41				· · · / I				
Construction	45								
Renairs	50	I&S (97-98)	Cur. Emp			SerNA (90-99) Cur	Con Emp	SerNA (90-99)	Cur. Con. Em
Wholesale trade	51	I&S (97-98)	Cur, Emp	SerNA (90-99)	Cur. Con. Emp	SerNA (90-99) Cur	Con, Emp	SerNA (90-99)	Cur, Con, Em
Retail trade	52	I&S (97-98)	Cur, Emp	SerNA (90-99)	Cur, Con, Emp	SerNA (90-99) Cur	. Con. Emp	SerNA (90-99)	Cur, Con, Em
Hotels & restaurants	55		,r	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	,,p		, ,r	~~~~~~~~~~~	,,
Transport	60-63								
Telecommunications	64								
Banks	65			SerNA (90-99)	Cur. Con. Emp				
Insurance	66			SerNA (90-99)	Cur, Con, Emp				
Securities trade	67			(,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	··· , ·· , · 1				
Real estate	70								
Renting of machinery	71								
Computer services	72			SerNA (90-99)	Cur. Con. Emp				
R&D	73			Residual	··· , ·· , · 1				
Professional services	74.1-74.3	I&S (97-98)	Cur. Emp	SerNA (90-99) <sup>a)</sup>	Cur. Con. Emp	SerNA (90-97) Cur	. Con. Emp	SerNA (90-99)	Cur. Con. Em
Other business services	74.9	I&S (97-98)	Cur. Emp		··· , ·· , · 1	SerNA (90-97) Cur	. Con. Emp	SerNA (90-99)	Cur. Con. Em
Government	75		· · · · · ·			( , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	, , <b>r</b>	(	
Education	80							1	
Health	85							1	
Personal & social serv.	90-93							1	
Private households	95							L	

b) Arbitrarily assumed to have equal shares

c) 70 includes 71, 72 includes 73. Split up based on composition in Germany d) See text for details on subdivision

e) Split up using shares for Denmarkf) All of 33, except watches is included under 331

g) See text for details on data used for these industries

h) For these industries new deflators are calculated

Industry         ISC red3         France         Germany         Ireland         Iaby           Agricultur         01-04         NA (92-99)         Cur, Con, Emp         Forda Reverages         15-16         Forda Reverages	Table B1, Continued											
Agriculture         01-05         NA (92-99)         Cur, Con, Emp           Food & Everages         15-10   <	Industry	ISIC rev3	Fra	ance	Ger	many	Irela	and	Italy			
Mining         10-14         NA (92-99)         Cur, Con, Emp For Od. Neverage         15-14           Total Serving         15-14         Na         Na </td <td>Agriculture</td> <td>01-05</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Agriculture	01-05										
Food & Beverages         15-10 Appare1         Issues	Mining	10-14	NA (92-99)	Cur, Con, Emp								
Taxilies         17           Appar21         18           Leather         19           Wood         20           Paper         21           Printing & Publishing         22           Parinting & Publishing         22           Perroleum & Cool         23           Nuber & Publishing         22           Perroleum & Cool         23           Nuber & Publishing         22           Parone Macoal         24           Nober & Publishing         22           Basic metals         23           Machnery         30           Basic metals         23           Machnery         31           Iks (90-98)         Cur. Emp           Iks (91-97)         Cur. Emp           Iks (91-97)         Cur. Emp           Iks (90-98)         Cur. Emp           Iks (91-97)         Cur. Emp           Iks (90-98)         Cur. Emp           Iks (91-97)         Cur. Emp           Iks (90-98)         Cur. Emp           Iks (91-97)         Cur. Emp           Iks (91-97)         Cur. Emp           Iks (91-97)         Cur. Emp           Iks (91-97) <t< td=""><td>Food &amp; beverages</td><td>15-16</td><td></td><td>-</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>	Food & beverages	15-16		-								
Apparel         18           Leather         19           Wood         20           Paper         21           Printige & Publishing         22           Printige & Publishing         22           Printige & Publishing         22           Printige & Publishing         22           Shower dy glass:         25           Shome, city & glass         26           Machinery         29           Office and Comp, Eq.         30           Office and Comp, Eq.         30           Christend Achinery         31-31         I&S (90-98)         Cur, Emp           I&S (90-98)         Cur, Emp         I&S (91-97)         Cur, Emp           Res (91-97)         Cur, Emp         I&S (92-97ex95)         Cur, Emp           Semiconductors         31-31         I&S (90-98)         Cur, Emp         I&S (91-97)         Cur, Emp         I&S (92-97ex95)         Cur, Emp           Radio and TV eq.         32.1         I&S (90-98)         Cur, Emp         I&S (91-97)         Cur, Emp         I&S (92-97ex95)         Cur, Emp           Radio and TV eq.         33.3         I&S (90-98)         Cur, Emp         I&S (91-97)         Cur, Emp         I&S (92-97ex95)         Cur, Emp </td <td>Textiles</td> <td>17</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Textiles	17										
Lianber 199 Paper 21 Prinzige & Publishing 22 Petroleum & coal 23 NA (92-99) Cur, Con, Emp Basis metals 24 Stone, clay & glass 26 Na (92-99) Cur, Con, Emp Basis metals 27 Paper 31-31. I&S (90-98) Cur, Emp I&S (91-97) Cur, Emp I&S (92-97ex95) Cur, Emp I&S (91-97) Cur, Emp I&S (91-97) Cur, Emp I&S (92-97ex95) Cur, Emp I&S (91-97) Cur, Emp I&S (91-97) Cur, Emp I&S (92-97ex95) Cur, Emp I&S (91-97) Cur, Emp I&S (91-97) Cur, Emp I&S (91-97) Cur, Emp I&S (92-97ex95) Cur, Emp I&S (91-97) Cur, Em	Apparel	18										
Wood         20 Papper         21 Phoning & Publishing         22 Paroleum & coal         23 Paroleum & coal	Leather	19										
Paper         21         Serval (9-99)         Cur, Con, Emp         Less (9-97)         Cur, Emp         Less (9-97)         Cur, Emp           Rubber & Jastis         24         NA (92-99)         Cur, Con, Emp         I&S (91-97)         Cur, Emp           Basis metals         27         I         ISS (91-97)         Cur, Emp         I&S (91-97)         Cur, Emp           Basis metals         28         I         ISS (91-97)         Cur, Emp         I&S (91-97)         Cur, Emp           Basis metals         28         I         ISS (91-97)         Cur, Emp         I&S (92-97ex95)         Cur, Emp           Basis metals         28         I         ISS (90-98)         Cur, Emp         I&S (91-97)         Cur, Emp         I&S (92-97ex95)         Cur, Emp           Beniconductoris         31.1         ISS (90-98)         Cur, Emp         I&S (91-97)         Cur, Emp         I&S (92-97ex95)         Cur, Emp           Instruments         33.1         I&S (90-98)         Cur, Emp         I&S (91-97)         Cur, Emp         I&S (92-97ex95)         Cur, Emp           Instruments         33.1         I&S (90-98)         Cur, Emp         I&S (91-97)         Cur, Emp         I&S (92-97ex95)         Cur, Emp           Instruments         <	Wood	20										
Printing & Publishing         22         NA (92-99)         Cur, Con, Emp         Retroleum & Construction         Retroleum & Con	Paper	21										
Petrolam & coal 2 3 NA (92-99) Cur, Con, Emp Rubber & plastics 23 Stone, clay & glass 26 Rubber & plastics 27 Stone, clay & glass 26 Rubber & plastics 27 Stone, clay & glass 26 Rubber & plastics 27 Pabricated metals 28 Machinery 29 Office and Comp. Eq. 300 Fiber optics 31.3 I&S (90-98) Cur, Emp Electrical machinery 31-31.3 I&S (90-98) Cur, Emp Electrical machinery 31-31.4 I&S (90-98) Cur, Emp Electrical machinery 33-31.4 I&S (90-98) Cur, Emp Electrical machinery 33-31.4 I&S (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-98) Cur, Emp Electrical machinery 32-24-39 Raicrind 11 mach 52 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (92-99) Cur, Con, Emp	Printing & Publishing	22										
Chemicals 24 Rubber & plastics 25 Stone, cluy & glass 26 Rubber & plastics 25 Stone, cluy & glass 26 Rubber & plastics 27 Stone, cluy & glass 26 Rubber & plastics 27 Stone, cluy & glass 26 Rubber & plastics 27 Fiber ordination eq. 32.3 1485 (90-98) Cur, Emp Electrical machinery 31-31.3 1485 (90-98) Cur, Emp Electrical machinery 31-31.3 1485 (90-98) Cur, Emp Electrical machinery 31-31.3 1485 (90-98) Cur, Emp 1485 (95-99) Cur, Emp 1485 (91-97) Cur, Emp 1485 (9	Petroleum & coal	23	NA (92-99)	Cur, Con, Emp								
Rubber & plastics         25         NA (92-99)         Cur, Con, Emp         Base         Stress          Stress	Chemicals	24										
Stone, clay & glass       26       NA (92-99)       Cur, Con, Emp       L&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       L&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp         Basic metals       27       1       KS (90-98)       Cur, Emp       L&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       L&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       L&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Fiber optics       31.31       L&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       L&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       L&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       L&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Semiconductors       32.1       L&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       L&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       L&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       L&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Semiconductors       32.1       L&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       L&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       L&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       L&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Instruments       33.1       L&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       L&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       L&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       L&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Matche & instruments       33.3.1       L&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       L&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       L&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Matche & instruments       33.3.1       L&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       L&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp <td< td=""><td>Rubber &amp; plastics</td><td>25</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td<>	Rubber & plastics	25										
Basic metals       27       Identify and the set of the set o	Stone, clay & glass	26	NA (92-99)	Cur. Con. Emp								
Fabricated metals       28         Machinery       29         Office and Comp. Eq.       30         Fiber optics       31.31       I&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       I&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       I&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Semiconductors       32.11       I&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       I&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       I&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Semiconductors       32.11       I&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       I&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       I&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Radio and TV eq.       32.31       I&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       I&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       I&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Matches & instruments       33.31       I&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       I&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       I&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Matches & instruments       33.31       I&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       I&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Miches & 4041       53       SerNA (90-99)       Cur, Con, Emp       SerNA (91-98)       Cur, Con, Emp       I&S (91-97)	Basic metals	27	· · · /	, , <b>1</b>			I&S (91-97)	Cur. Emp				
Machinery       29       Office and Comp. Eq.       30         Office and Comp. Eq.       30       I&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       I&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       I&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Electrical machinery       31-31.3       I&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       I&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       I&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Semiconductors       32.1       I&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       I&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       I&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Radio and TV eq.       32.3       I&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       I&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Instruments       33.3       I&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       I&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Nator valicies       34       I&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       I&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95	Fabricated metals	28					I&S (91-97)	Cur. Emp				
Office and Comp. Eq.       30       Ids (90-98)       Cur, Emp       Ids (90-98)       Cur, Emp       Ids (90-97)	Machinery	29					(	I I				
Non-non-non-non-non-non-non-non-non-non-	Office and Comp. Eq.	30										
Electrical machinery       31-31.3       1&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       1&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       1&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       1&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Semiconductors       3.2.1       1&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       1&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       1&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       1&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Radio and TV eq.       3.2.2       1&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       1&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       1&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       1&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Nationa dard Ve q.       3.3.1       1&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       1&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       1&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       1&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Matches & instruments       33.3.1       1&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       1&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       1&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       1&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Matches & instruments       33.3       1       IS (90-98)       Cur, Emp       1&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       1&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp       1 <s (91-97)<="" td="">       Cur, Emp       1<s (92-97ex95)<="" td="">       Cur, Emp       1<s (91-97)<="" td="">       Cur, Emp       1<s (92-97ex95)<="" td="">       Cur, Emp       1<s (91-97)<="" td="">       Cur, Emp       1<s (92-97ex95)<="" td="">       Cur, Emp       1<s (91-97)<="" td="">       Cur, Emp       1<s< td=""><td>Fiber optics</td><td>31.3</td><td>I&amp;S (90-98)</td><td>Cur Emp</td><td>I&amp;S (95-99)</td><td>Cur. Emp</td><td>I&amp;S (91-97)</td><td>Cur. Emp</td><td>I&amp;S(92-97ex95)</td><td>Cur. Emp</td></s<></s></s></s></s></s></s></s>	Fiber optics	31.3	I&S (90-98)	Cur Emp	I&S (95-99)	Cur. Emp	I&S (91-97)	Cur. Emp	I&S(92-97ex95)	Cur. Emp		
Semiconductors       32.1       I&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       I&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       I&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Communication eq.       32.2       I&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       I&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       I&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Radio and TV eq.       32.3       I&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       I&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       I&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Mational TV eq.       33.3       I       I&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       I&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Mator and nother       33-33.1       I&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       I&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Naitroad and other       352-359       Misc.       Aircraft       353       I&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Nuitities       40-41       Construction       45       SerNA (90-99)       Cur, Con, Emp       SerNA (91-98)       Cur, Con, Emp       I&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (90-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (90-92)       Cur, Con, Emp         Retail trade       51       SerNA (90-99) <t< td=""><td>Electrical machinery</td><td>31-31.3</td><td>I&amp;S (90-98)</td><td>Cur, Emp</td><td>I&amp;S (95-99)</td><td>Cur. Emp</td><td>I&amp;S (91-97)</td><td>Cur, Emp</td><td>I&amp;S(92-97ex95)</td><td>Cur, Emp</td></t<>	Electrical machinery	31-31.3	I&S (90-98)	Cur, Emp	I&S (95-99)	Cur. Emp	I&S (91-97)	Cur, Emp	I&S(92-97ex95)	Cur, Emp		
Communication eq.       32.2       I&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       I&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       I&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Radio and TV eq.       33.3       I&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       I&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       I&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Matches & instruments       33.3.1       I&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       I&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       I&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Matches & instruments       33.3.1       I&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       I&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       I&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Motor vehicles       34       Startant       Startant       I&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Naircraft       353       Startant       Startant       I&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Naircraft       353       Startant       Startant       I&S (90-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Naircraft       353       Startant       Startant       Startant       Startant       Startant       Startant       Startant       Startant	Semiconductors	32.1	I&S (90-98)	Cur, Emp	I&S (95-99)	Cur. Emp	I&S (91-97)	Cur. Emp	I&S(92-97ex95)	Cur, Emp		
Radio and TV eq.       32.3       I&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       I&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       I&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Instruments       33.3       I       I&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       I&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       I&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Watches & instruments       33.3       I       I&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       I&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       I&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Motor vehicles       34       I       I&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       I&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Aircraft       353       A       Velocol       I       IS (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp       I&S (92-97ex95)       Cur	Communication eq.	32.2	I&S (90-98)	Cur, Emp	I&S (95-99)	Cur. Emp	I&S (91-97)	Cur. Emp	I&S(92-97ex95)	Cur, Emp		
Instruments       33.1       1&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       1&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       1&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       1&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Matches & instruments       33-3.1.       1&S (90-98)       Cur, Emp       1&S (95-99)       Cur, Emp       1&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       1&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp       1&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       1&S (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp       1&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp       1&S (91-97)       Cur, Emp	Radio and TV eq.	32.3	I&S (90-98)	Cur, Emp	I&S (95-99)	Cur. Emp	I&S (91-97)	Cur. Emp	I&S(92-97ex95)	Cur, Emp		
Matchesk instruments       33-33.1       1&85 (90-98)       Cur, Emp       1&85 (95-99)       Cur, Emp       1&85 (91-97)       Cur, Emp       1&85 (92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Motor vehicles       34         Ships       351         Aircraft       353         Railroad and other       352+359         Misc. manufacturing       36-37         Uillities       40-44         Construction       45         Repairs       50         SerNA (90-99)       Cur, Con, Emp         SerNA (90-99)       Cur, Con, Emp         Motor vehicles       51         Array       SerNA (90-99)       Cur, Con, Emp         Hotels & restaurants       55         Transport       60-63         Telecommunications       64         Banks       65         Insurance       66         Securities trade       70         R&D       73         Professional services       7	Instruments	33.1	I&S (90-98)	Cur, Emp	I&S (95-99)	Cur, Emp	I&S (91-97)	Cur, Emp	I&S(92-97ex95)	Cur, Emp		
Motor vehicles       34       The (0.957)       Cur, Emp       The (0.957)       Cur, Emp         Ships       351         Aircraft       353       Sig       Law (91-97)       Cur, Emp       L&S(92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Railroad and other       3522-359       Like (92-97)       Cur, Emp       L&S(92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Misc. manufacturing       36-37       Like (91-97)       Cur, Emp       L&S(92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Misc. manufacturing       36-37       Like (91-97)       Cur, Emp       L&S(92-97ex95)       Cur, Emp         Misc. Construction       45       SerNA (90-99)       Cur, Con, Emp       SerNA (91-98)       Cur, Con, Emp       SerNA (92-99)       Cur, Con, Emp         Moleska trade       51       SerNA (90-99)       Cur, Con, Emp       SerNA (91-98)       Cur, Con, Emp       SerNA (92-99)       Cur, Con, Emp         Hetal trade       52       SerNA (90-99)       Cur, Con, Emp       SerNA (92-99)       Cur, Con, Emp         Hotels & restaurants       55       SerNA (90-99)       Cur, Con, Emp       SerNA (92-99)       Cur, Con, Emp         Banks       65       SerNA (90-99)       Cur, Con, Emp       SerNA (92-99)       Cur, Con, Emp         Real estate       7	Watches & instruments	33-33.1	I&S (90-98)	Cur, Emp	I&S (95-99)	Cur, Emp	I&S (91-97)	Cur, Emp	I&S(92-97ex95)	Cur, Emp		
Aircraft       351         Aircraft       353         Railroad and other       352+359         Misc. manufacturing       36-37         Utilities       40-41         Construction       45         Repairs       50         SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp       SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp         Wholesale trade       51         SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp       SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp         Retail trade       52         SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp       SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp         Molesale trade       51         Transport       60-63         Telecommunications       64         Banks       65         Insurance       66         Securities trade       67         Read estate       70         Retail trade       52         Retail trade       67         Real estate       70         Retail trade       67         Read estate       70         Retail trade       67         Read estate       70         Robin of there with the state services       74.9         Other business services       74.9         Other business services	Motor vehicles	34	ias (90 90)	Cui, Linp	ices ( <i>35 77</i> )	Cui, Emp	I&S (91-97)	Cur, Emp	ices()2 ) (ex)3)	Cui, Linp		
Aircraft       353         Rairoad and other       352+359         Misc. manufacturing       36-37         Utilities       40-41         Construction       45         Repairs       50         SerNA (90-99)       Cur, Con, Emp         Wholesale trade       51         Retail trade       52         Hotels & restaurants       55         Transport       60-63         Telecommunications       64         Banks       65         Insurance       66         Securities trade       67         Reat alt trade       71         Computer services       72         Retail trade       66         Securities trade       67         Reatil trade       66         Securities trade       67         Reatiltrade       64         Banks       65         Insurance       66         Securities trade       67         Readi trade       70         Readity and the securities trade       67         Real trade       70         Reatiltrade       70         Real trade       71         Computer	Ships	351					I&S (91-97)	Cur. Emp	I&S(92-97ex95)	Cur. Emp		
Raitroad and other 352-359 Misc. manufacturing 36-37 Utilities 40-41 Construction 45 Repairs 50 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp Wholesale trade 51 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (92-99) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (92-90) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (90-9	Aircraft	353						,F	I&S(92-97ex95)	Cur, Emp		
Misc. manufacturing 36-37 Utilities 40-41 Construction 45 Repairs 50 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp Retail trade 51 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp Retail trade 52 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp Hotels & restaurants 55 Transport 60-63 Telecommunications 64 Banks 65 Insurance 66 Securities trade 67 Real estate 70 Renting of machinery 71 Computer services 72 R&D 73 Professional services 74.1-74.3 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp b) a) b) Other business services 74.1-74.3 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp b) a) b) Halt M Processional services 74.1 SerNA (92-99) Cur, Con, Emp b) b) b) Professional services 74.1 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp b) b) c)	Railroad and other	352+359					I&S (91-97)	Cur. Emp	I&S(92-97ex95)	Cur, Emp		
Answing50.57Arrow Construction45Repairs50SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, EmpSerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, EmpWholesale trade51SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, EmpSerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, EmpRetail trade52SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, EmpSerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, EmpHotels & restaurants55Transport60-63Telecommunications64Banks65Insurance66Secture70Renting of machinery71Computer services72To fressional services74.1SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Empb)Other business services74.9SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Empb)Banks65Insurance60SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Empb)Computer services72Professional services74.1SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Empb)Banks65Huth85Personal & social services74.9SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Empb)Health85Resonal & social services74.9SerNA (92-99) Cur, Con, Empb)Health85Resonal & social services74.9SerNA (92-99) Cur, Con, Empb)Health85SerNA (92-99) Cur, Con, EmpSerNA (92-99) Cur, Con, EmpSerNA (92-99) Cur, Con, EmpSerNA (92-99) Cur, Con, EmpSerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, EmpSerNA	Misc manufacturing	36-37						eur, Emp	1005()2 ) (0.050)	eur, Emp		
Construction 45 Repairs 50 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp Wholesale trade 51 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp Retail trade 52 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp Notels & restaurants 55 Transport 60-63 Telecommunications 64 Banks 65 Insurance 66 Securities trade 67 Real estate 70 Real estate 70 Real estate 70 Computer services 72 R&D 73 Professional services 74.1-74.3 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp b) a) b) Other business services 74.9 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp b) a) b) Other business services 74.9 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp b) b) b) Government 75 Education 80 Health 85 Personal & social serv. 90-93 NA (92-99) Cur, Con, Emp	Utilities	40-41										
Repairs 50 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (92-99) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (92-99) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (92-99) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (92-99) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (92-99) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (92-99) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-99) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-99) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-94) NA (92-99) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-94) Cur, Con	Construction	45										
KapansSince (Samp)Serial (Samp)<	Renairs	50	SerNA $(90.99)$	Cur Con Emp	SerNA (91-98)	Cur Con Emp			SerNA (92-99)	Cur Con Em		
Retail trade 52 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (92-99) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (92-99) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (92-99) Cur, Con, Emp Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (92-99) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (91-98) Cur, Con, Emp SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp	Wholesale trade	51	SerNA (90-99)	Cur Con Emp	SerNA (91-98)	Cur, Con, Emp			SerNA (92-99)	Cur Con Em		
Name55Definit (50.97) Cut, Con, EmpDefinit (51.96) Cut, Con, EmpDefinit (51.96) Cut, Con, EmpHotels & restaurants55Transport60-63Telecommunications64Banks65Insurance66Securities trade67Real estate70Computer services72R&D73Professional services74.1-74.3SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Empb)Other business services74.9SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Empb)Bolt (10.2 m)b)Other business services74.9SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Empb)Bolt (10.2 m)b)Computer services74.9Services74.9Services74.9Services74.9Services74.9Services74.9Services74.9Services74.9Services74.9Services74.9Services74.9Services74.9Services74.9Services74.9Services74.9Services74.9Services74.9 </td <td>Retail trade</td> <td>52</td> <td>SerNA (90-99)</td> <td>Cur Con Emp</td> <td>SerNA (91-98)</td> <td>Cur Con Emp</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>SerNA (92-99)</td> <td>Cur Con Em</td>	Retail trade	52	SerNA (90-99)	Cur Con Emp	SerNA (91-98)	Cur Con Emp			SerNA (92-99)	Cur Con Em		
Transport 60-63 Telecommunications 64 Banks 65 Insurance 66 Securities trade 67 Real estate 70 Renting of machinery 71 Computer services 72 R&D 73 Professional services 74.1-74.3 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp b) a) b) Other business services 74.9 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp b) b) b) Other business services 74.9 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp b) b) b) Government 75 Education 80 Health 85 Personal & social serv. 90-93 NA (92-99) Cur Con Emp	Hotels & restaurants	55	Serier (50 55)	eur, con, Emp	5611(11()1 )0)	eur, con, Emp			561101()2 )))	Cui, Coil, Lii		
Telecommunications 64 Banks 65 Insurance 66 Securities trade 67 Real estate 70 Renting of machinery 71 Computer services 72 R&D 73 Professional services 74.1-74.3 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp b) a) Cur, Con, Emp b) b) cur, Con, Emp b) b) cur, Con, Emp b) b) cur, Con, Emp cur	Transport	60-63										
Banks 65 Banks 66 Securities trade 67 Real estate 70 Renting of machinery 71 Computer services 72 R&D 73 Professional services 74.1-74.3 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp b) a) Cur, Con, Emp b) b) b) cur Concernment 75 Education 80 Health 85 Personal & social serv. 90-93 NA (92-99) Cur Con Emp	Telecommunications	64										
Insurance 66 Securities trade 67 Real estate 70 Renting of machinery 71 Computer services 72 R&D 73 Professional services 74.1-74.3 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp b) a) Cur, Con, Emp b) b) b) c) Other business services 74.9 Government 75 Education 80 Health 85 Personal & social serv. 90-93 NA (92-99) Cur Con Emp	Banks	65										
Securities trade 67 Real estate 70 Renting of machinery 71 Computer services 72 R&D 73 Professional services 74.1-74.3 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp b) a) b) Other business services 74.9 Government 75 Education 80 Health 85 Personal & social serv. 90-93 NA (92-99) Cur Con Emp	Insurance	66										
Real estate70Real estate70Renting of machinery71Computer services72R&D73Professional services74.1-74.3SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Empb)Other business services74.9SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Empb)Other business services74.9SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Empb)Bellb)Other business services74.9SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Empb)Bellb)Covernment75Education80Health85Personal & social serv90-93NA (92-99)Cur Con Emp	Securities trade	67										
Renting of machinery 71 Computer services 72 R&D 73 Professional services 74.1-74.3 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp b) Other business services 74.9 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp b) Government 75 Education 80 Health 85 Personal & social serv. 90-93 NA (92-99) Cur Con Emp	Real estate	70							c)			
Computer services 72 R&D 73 Professional services 74.1-74.3 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp b) a) b) Other business services 74.9 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp b) b) b) Government 75 Education 80 Health 85 Personal & social serv. 90-93 NA (92-99) Cur Con Emp	Renting of machinery	78							c)			
R&D73c)Professional services74.1-74.3SerNA (90-99)Cur, Con, Empb)a)b)Other business services74.9SerNA (90-99)Cur, Con, Empb)b)b)Government75Education80b)b)b)Health85Personal & social serv90-93NA (92-99)Cur Con Empb)	Computer services	72							c)			
Professional services 74.1-74.3 SerNA (90-99) Cur, Con, Emp b) a) b)	R&D	72							c)			
Other business services     74.9     SerNA (90-99)     Cur, Con, Emp     b)     b)       Government     75       Education     80       Health     85       Personal & social serv     90-93     NA (92-99)     Cur Con Emp	Professional services	74 1-74 3	SerNA $(00.00)$	Cur Con Emp	b)		9)		b)			
Government 75 Education 80 Health 85 Personal & social serv 90-93 NA (92-99) Cur Con Emp	Other business services	74.1-74.3	SerNA(90-99)	Cur, Con, Emp	b)		a)		b)			
Education 80 Health 85 Personal & social serv 90-93 NA (92-99) Cur Con Emp	Government	74.9	SCITVA (30-99)	cui, con, Emp	0)				0)			
Health 85 Personal & social serv 90-93 NA (92-99) Cur Con Emp	Education	7.5							1			
Personal & social serv 90-93 NA (92-99) Cur Con Emp	Health	80 85			1				1			
	Personal & social serv	00-03	NA (02-00)	Cur Con Emp					1			
Private households $95$ NA (92-9) Cur, Con Emp	Private households	0-95	NA(92-99)	Cur Con Emp					1			

b) Arbitrarily assumed to have equal shares
c) 70 includes 71, 72 includes 73. Split up based on composition in Germany d) See text for details on subdivision

e) Split up using shares for Denmarkf) All of 33, except watches is included under 331

g) See text for details on data used for these industries

h) For these industries new deflators are calculated

Industry	ISIC rev3	Japan		Nether	lands	No	rwav	Spain		
Agriculture	01-05									
Mining	10-14									
Food & beverages	15-16									
Textiles	17			Census(93-99)	Emp					
Apparel	18			Census(93-99)	Emp					
Leather	19			Census(93-99)	Emp					
Wood	20			Census(93-99)	Emp					
Paper	21			, ,	1					
Printing & Publishing	22									
Petroleum & coal	23									
Chemicals	24									
Rubber & plastics	25									
Stone, clay & glass	26			Census(93-99)	Emp					
Basic metals	27									
Fabricated metals	28									
Machinerv	29									
Office and Comp. Eq.	30			Census(93-99)	Emp					
Fiber optics	31.3	I&S(94-98)	Cur, Emp	I&S(92-98)	Cur. Emp	I&S(91-99)	Cur. Emp	I&S(93-98)	Cur. Emp	
Electrical machinery	31-31.3	I&S(94-98)	Cur, Emp	I&S(92-98)	Cur, Emp	I&S(91-99)	Cur. Emp	I&S(93-98)	Cur, Emp	
Semiconductors	32.1	I&S(94-98)	Cur, Emp	PPI(95)	,p	I&S(91-99)	Cur. Emp	I&S(93-98)	Cur, Emp	
Communication eq.	32.2	I&S(94-98)	Cur, Emp	PPI(95)		I&S(91-99)	Cur. Emp	I&S(93-98)	Cur. Emp	
Radio and TV eq	32.3	I&S(94-98)	Cur. Emp	PPI(95)		I&S(91-99)	Cur. Emp	I&S(93-98)	Cur. Emp	
Instruments	33.1	I&S(94-98)	Cur, Emp	I&S(92-98)	Cur. Emp	I&S(91-99)	Cur, Emp	I&S(93-98)	Cur, Emp	
Watches & instruments	33-33.1	I&S(94-98)	Cur, Emp	I&S(92-98)	Cur, Emp	I&S(91-99)	Cur. Emp	I&S(93-98)	Cur, Emp	
Motor vehicles	34	(, , - , - , - ,	,F	Census(93-99)	Emp	(	,p	(, - , -, -,	,p	
Ships	351			Census(93-99)	Emp					
Aircraft	353			Census(93-99)	Emp					
Railroad and other	352+359			Census(93-99)	Emp					
Misc. manufacturing	36-37			Census(93-99)	Emp					
Utilities	40-41				I					
Construction	45									
Repairs	50					Struc(98-99)	Cur, Emp	SerNA(95-97)	Cur, Con, Em	
Wholesale trade	51	SerNA(90-98)	Cur, Con, Emp			Struc(98-99)	Cur. Emp	SerNA(95-97)	Cur, Con, Em	
Retail trade	52	SerNA(90-98)	Cur, Con, Emp			Struc(98-99)	Cur, Emp	SerNA(95-97)	Cur, Con, Em	
Hotels & restaurants	55	~ /	, , <u>1</u>			, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	· 1	× ,	· · · .	
Transport	60-63									
Telecommunications	64									
Banks	65					SerNA(90-97)	Cur, Con, Emp			
Insurance	66					SerNA(90-97)	Cur, Con, Emp			
Securities trade	67					SerNA(90-97)	Cur, Con, Emp			
Real estate	70	d)								
Renting of machinery	71	d)				SerNA(90-97)	Cur, Con, Emp			
Computer services	72	d)				SerNA(90-97)	Cur, Con, Emp			
R&D	73	d)				Struc(98-99)	Cur, Emp			
Professional services	74.1-74.3	d)				Struc(98-99)	Cur, Emp	a)		
Other business services	74.9	d)				Struc(98-99)	Cur, Emp	,		
Government	75	ŕ					*			
Education	80									
Health	85									
Personal & social serv.	90-93									
Private households	95									

b) Arbitrarily assumed to have equal sharesc) 70 includes 71, 72 includes 73. Split up based on composition in Germanyd) See text for details on subdivision

e) Split up using shares for Denmarkf) All of 33, except watches is included under 331

g) See text for details on data used for these industriesh) For these industries new deflators are calculated

Industry	ISIC rev3	Sweden	Switzerland	UK		τ	JS
Agriculture	01-05						
Mining	10-14						
Food & beverages	15-16						
Textiles	17	I&S(91-98) Emp		I&S(93-98), ABI(99-00)	Cur, Emp	ASM(00)	Cur, Emp
Apparel	18	I&S(91-98) Emp		I&S(93-98), ABI(99-00)	Cur, Emp	ASM(00)	Cur, Emp
Leather	19			I&S(93-98), ABI(99-00)	Cur, Emp		
Wood	20				-		
Paper	21			I&S(93-98), ABI(99-00)	Cur, Emp		
Printing & Publishing	22			I&S(93-98), ABI(99-00)	Cur, Emp		
Petroleum & coal	23				-		
Chemicals	24						
Rubber & plastics	25						
Stone, clay & glass	26						
Basic metals	27			ABI(99-00)	Cur, Emp		
Fabricated metals	28			ABI(99-00)	Cur, Emp		
Machinery	29				· 1		
Office and Comp. Eq.	30			ABI(99-00)	Cur, Emp	ASM(00)	Cur, Emp h
Fiber optics	31.3	I&S(91-98) Cur, Emp	PPI(93)	I&S(93-98), ABI(99-00)	Cur, Emp	ASM(90-00)	Cur, Emp h
Electrical machinery	31-31.3	I&S(91-98) Cur, Emp	PPI(93)	I&S(93-98), ABI(99-00)	Cur, Emp	ASM(90-00)	Cur, Emp h
Semiconductors	32.1	I&S(91-98) Cur, Emp	PPI(93)	I&S(93-98), ABI(99-00)	Cur, Emp	ASM(90-00)	Cur, Emp h
Communication eq.	32.2	I&S(91-98) Cur, Emp	PPI(93)	I&S(93-98), ABI(99-00)	Cur, Emp	ASM(90-00)	Cur, Emp h
Radio and TV eq.	32.3	I&S(91-98) Cur, Emp	PPI(93)	I&S(93-98), ABI(99-00)	Cur. Emp	ASM(90-00)	Cur. Emp h
Instruments	33.1	I&S(91-98) Cur, Emp	f)	I&S(93-98), ABI(99-00)	Cur. Emp	ASM(90-00)	Cur. Emp h
Watches & instruments	33-33.1	I&S(91-98) Cur, Emp	f)	I&S(93-98), ABI(99-00)	Cur. Emp	ASM(90-00)	Cur. Emp h
Motor vehicles	34	····(···/, ···, ·	,	ABI(99-00)	Cur. Emp		- , , I
Ships	351	I&S(91-98) Emp		ABI(99-00)	Cur. Emp	ASM(00)	Cur. Emp h
Aircraft	353	I&S(91-98) Emp		ABI(99-00)	Cur. Emp	ASM(00)	Cur. Emp h
Railroad and other	352+359	I&S(91-98) Emp		ABI(99-00)	Cur, Emp	ASM(00)	Cur, Emp h
Misc. manufacturing	36-37	I IIII			, <b>1</b>		- , , I
Utilities	40-41						
Construction	45						
Repairs	50	I&S(97-98) Cur. Emp		SerNA(92-98), ABI(99-00)	Cur, Con, Emp	g)	h
Wholesale trade	51	I&S(97-98) Cur. Emp		SerNA(92-98), ABI(99-00)	Cur. Con. Emp	2,	
Retail trade	52	I&S(97-98) Cur, Emp		SerNA(92-98), ABI(99-00)	Cur, Con, Emp	g)	h
Hotels & restaurants	55	····(····, ···, ·			· · · · · · · · ·	g)	h
Transport	60-63					8/	
Telecommunications	64					g)	h
Banks	65					8/	
Insurance	66						
Securities trade	67						
Real estate	70						
Renting of machinery	71			ABI(99-00)	Cur, Emp	g)	h
Computer services	72			ABI(99-00)	Cur, Emp	g)	h
R&D	73	e)		ABI(99-00)	Cur, Emp	g)	h
Professional services	74.1-74.3	e)	a)	SerNA(92-98), ABI(99-00)	Cur, Emp	g)	h
Other business services	74.9	e)	ĺ ĺ	SerNA(92-98), ABI(99-00)	Cur, Emp	g)	h
Government	75	, í			· I	<i>'</i> ,	
Education	80						
Health	85						
Personal & social serv.	90-93					g)	h
Private households	95					<i>,</i> 0	

b) Arbitrarily assumed to have equal shares

c) 70 includes 71, 72 includes 73. Split up based on composition in Germanyd) See text for details on subdivision

e) Split up using shares for Denmark

f) All of 33, except watches is included under 331

g) See text for details on data used for these industries

h) For these industries new deflators are calculated

Appendix C: Contributions of industry groups and	l industries to productivity growth
--	-------------------------------------

Appendix Table C1: Contribution	on or mau	stry groups	s to lador	productiv	nty growin,	1990-19	95 anu	1993-20	00								
	Austria	Denmark	Finland	France <sup>b</sup>	Germany <sup>a</sup>	Ireland	Italy	Nether-	Spain <sup>b</sup>	Sweden	UK	EU	Canada <sup>b</sup>	Japan <sup>c</sup>	Norway	Switzer-	US
<u>1990-1995</u>								lands								land	
Total Economy	2.30	1.62	3.38	1.00	2.15	3.03	1.81	0.66	1.62	2.84	2.89	1.88	1.07	0.79	3.34	-0.11	1.08
ICT Producers	0.27	0.34	0.32	0.24	0.34	0.89	0.10	0.17	0.15	0.25	0.54	0.33	0.14	0.50	0.13	0.08	0.51
ICT-producing manufacturing	0.12	0.07	0.16	0.15	0.13	0.82	0.05	0.09	0.07	-0.01	0.30	0.17	0.12	0.39	0.05	0.03	0.40
ICT-producing services	0.15	0.27	0.16	0.10	0.21	0.07	0.05	0.07	0.08	0.26	0.24	0.16	0.02	0.11	0.07	0.05	0.11
ICT Users	0.58	0.29	0.42	0.28	0.44	0.42	0.61	0.18	-0.06	0.76	0.67	0.42	0.59	0.19	1.01	-0.51	0.43
ICT-using manufacturing	0.11	0.17	0.31	0.18	0.22	0.37	0.24	0.09	0.08	0.32	0.13	0.20	0.08	-0.09	0.06	0.00	-0.01
ICT-using services	0.47	0.12	0.11	0.10	0.21	0.05	0.37	0.09	-0.14	0.44	0.54	0.23	0.51	0.29	0.95	-0.51	0.45
Non ICT	1.25	1.00	2.35	0.48	1.35	1.48	0.99	0.47	1.37	1.88	1.92	1.10	0.47	0.00	2.79	0.41	0.23
Non-ICT manufacturing	0.60	0.28	0.85	0.42	0.66	1.29	0.38	0.43	0.47	0.78	0.52	0.51	0.27	0.04	0.16	0.47	0.31
Non-ICT services	0.02	0.24	0.94	-0.13	0.40	-0.27	0.25	-0.10	0.38	0.76	0.63	0.25	-0.05	-0.08	0.29	-0.05	-0.15
Non-ICT other industries	0.63	0.48	0.57	0.19	0.29	0.45	0.36	0.14	0.52	0.34	0.76	0.34	0.25	0.03	2.34	-0.01	0.07
Shift effect	0.20	-0.02	0.29	0.00	0.02	0.24	0.11	-0.16	0.16	-0.06	-0.23	0.03	-0.13	0.10	-0.58	-0.09	-0.10
	Austria	Denmark	Finland	France <sup>b</sup>	Germanv <sup>a</sup>	Ireland	Italv	Nether-	Spain <sup>b</sup>	Sweden	UK	EU	Canada <sup>b</sup>	Japan	Norway	Switzer-	US
<u>1995-2000</u>								lands			-	_				land	
Total Economy	2.29	1.89	2.57	1.17	1.36	5.46	0.81	0.94	0.37	2.10	1.77	1.41	1.43	0.88	1.73	1.06	2.52
ICT Producers	0.16	0.28	0.86	0.46	0.67	2.75	0.27	0.16	0.23	0.18	0.56	0.47	0.32	0.73	0.35	-0.11	0.75
ICT-producing manufacturing	0.17	0.06	0.55	0.22	0.20	2.77	0.06	-0.03	0.10	0.03	0.32	0.22	0.19	0.61	0.04	-0.09	0.68
ICT-producing services	-0.01	0.21	0.31	0.24	0.46	-0.02	0.21	0.18	0.13	0.15	0.24	0.25	0.13	0.12	0.31	-0.03	0.07
ICT Users	0.82	0.51	0.56	0.24	0.35	0.89	0.24	0.56	0.03	0.67	0.66	0.42	0.78	0.04	0.84	0.48	1.42
ICT-using manufacturing	0.34	0.01	0.10	0.09	0.18	0.56	0.10	0.13	0.05	0.10	0.10	0.13	0.05	0.04	-0.06	0.24	0.05
ICT-using services	0.48	0.51	0.46	0.15	0.18	0.33	0.14	0.43	-0.01	0.57	0.56	0.29	0.73	0.00	0.90	0.24	1.37
Non ICT	1.02	1.10	0.96	0.46	0.24	1.65	0.19	0.23	0.09	1.18	0.60	0.48	0.25	-0.01	0.68	0.71	0.36
Non-ICT manufacturing	0.61	0.37	0.41	0.32	0.07	1.76	0.08	0.20	-0.04	0.44	0.04	0.18	0.19	-0.03	0.13	0.57	0.13
Non-ICT services																	
	-0.14	0.57	0.28	0.03	-0.05	-0.31	-0.16	0.02	-0.06	0.69	0.39	0.08	-0.12	0.22	0.18	0.27	0.18
Non-ICT other industries	-0.14 0.55	0.57 0.15	0.28 0.27	0.03 0.11	-0.05 0.22	-0.31 0.19	-0.16 0.27	$\begin{array}{c} 0.02 \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	-0.06 0.19	0.69 0.05	0.39 0.17	0.08 0.21	-0.12 0.18	0.22 -0.20	0.18 0.36	0.27 -0.13	0.18 0.05

Appendix Table C1: Contribution of industry groups to labor productivity growth, 1990-1995 and 1995-2000

Notes: contributions of industry groups refer to the "intra-effect" only, that is the weighted average productivity growth of the group (see text). The "shift-effect", which

refers to the effect of reallocations between groups on aggregate productivity growth, is reported separately.

a) 1991-1995; b) 1995-99; c) 1995-98; d) excluding ICT-producing industries

Appendix Table C2: Contribution of industries to productivity growth in the EU and the U.S. for 1995-2000

		EU	US	Difference
Total Econ	omy	1.40	2.49	1.09
Total IC	<b>F</b> -producing manufacturing	0.25	0.73	0.48
30	Office and Comp. Eq.	0.14	0.24	0.10
313	Fiber optics	0.00	0.00	0.00
321	Semiconductors	0.14	0.50	0.36
322	Communication eq.	0.02	0.02	0.00
323	Radio and TV eq.	-0.02	0.00	0.01
331	Instruments	-0.03	-0.03	0.00
Total IC	<b>Γ-producing services</b>	0.35	0.26	-0.09
64	Telecommunications	0.20	0.16	-0.04
72	Computer services	0.14	0.09	-0.05
Total IC	<b>F-using manufacturing</b>	0.01	-0.08	-0.09
18	Apparel	-0.01	-0.02	0.00
22	Printing & Publishing	0.00	-0.03	-0.03
29	Machinery	0.00	-0.02	-0.02
31-31.3	Electrical machinery	0.01	-0.01	-0.02
33-33.1	Watches & instruments	0.00	0.00	-0.01
35.1	Ships	0.00	0.00	-0.01
35.3	Aircraft	0.00	-0.01	-0.01
35.2+35.9	Railroad and other	0.00	0.00	0.00
36-37	Misc. manufacturing	0.00	0.01	0.01
Total IC	<b>Γ-using services</b>	0.41	1.30	0.89
51	Wholesale trade	0.07	0.30	0.23
52	Retail trade	0.06	0.38	0.32
65	Banks	0.06	0.10	0.04
66	Insurance	-0.01	-0.03	-0.02
67	Securities trade	0.02	0.37	0.35
71	Renting of machinery	0.03	0.04	0.01
73	R&D	0.00	0.01	0.01
74.1-74.3	Professional services	0.16	0.11	-0.05
Total No	n-ICT manufacturing	0.04	-0.05	-0.09
15-16	Food products	-0.02	-0.09	-0.07
17	Textiles	-0.01	-0.01	0.00
19	Leather	-0.01	0.00	0.00
20	Wood products	0.00	0.00	-0.01
21	Paper products	0.00	-0.01	-0.02
23	Petroleum & coke	-0.01	0.00	0.01
24	Chemicals Backbar and planting	0.05	0.04	-0.01
25	Rubber and plastics	0.01	0.02	0.00
26	Stone, clay & glass	0.00	0.01	0.01
27	Eabricated metal products	-0.01	0.01	0.02
20	Motor vehicles	0.01	0.00	-0.01
J <del>4</del>		0.05	0.01	-0.02
1 otal No	n-ICI services	0.02	0.23	-0.14
50	Kepairs	0.03	-0.02	-0.05
55 60 62	Transportation	0.02	0.01	-0.01
70	Peal estate	0.09	0.07	-0.02
74.0	Other business services	0.05	0.14	0.03
75	Government	-0.03	-0.09	-0.06
80	Education	-0.01	0.00	0.00
85	Health	0.01	-0.01	-0.06
90-93	Personal & social services	0.05	-0.01	-0.06
Total No.	n-ICT other industries	-0.03	0.10	0.13
01-05	A griculture	0.01	0.06	0.15
10-14	Mining	-0.02	-0.05	-0.03
40-41	Utilities	0.02	-0.02	-0.04
45	Construction	-0.05	0.11	0.16

Notes: these contributions include both the intra-effect

and the shift-effect from equation (2)

# Appendix D: Productivity growth by industry and country

Appendix Table D1: Labor	productivity growth	(value added per	person engaged) by	v individual industry	1990-1995
The second secon	producer inc, grower	( and a date a per	person engagea, s.	individual industry	,

		Austria	Denmark	Finland	France <sup>b</sup>	Germany <sup>a</sup>	Ireland	Italy	Nether-	Spain <sup>b</sup>	Sweden	UK	EU	Canada <sup>b</sup>	Japan <sup>c</sup>	Norway	Switzer-	US
1990-1995									lands								land	
Total Economy		2.3	1.6	3.3	1.0	2.1	3.0	1.8	0.7	1.6	2.8	2.8	1.9	1.1	0.8	3.3	-0.1	1.1
Total ICT-producing man	ufacturing	7.6	6.5	8.9	10.0	6.8	17.1	4.6	5.7	8.3	-0.7	15.8	11.1	11.8	12.4	8.4	1.4	15.1
Office and Comp. Eq.	30	24.2	24.3	11.0	26.2	26.8	29.1	28.7	34.2	28.4	25.2	33.8	33.2	16.6	26.9	33.7	27.8	28.6
Fiber optics	31.3	4.5	11.8	9.2	5.0	6.5	13.6	6.3	10.5	11.1	18.3	-0.3	6.9	4.9	13.3	7.1	2.6	5.6
Semiconductors	32.1	24.7	28.9	22.8	32.3	41.9	32.0	33.4	31.0	26.5	19.0	36.1	37.7	29.7	23.5	33.5	31.5	36.8
Communication eq.	32.2	5.1	2.4	9.8	3.2	11.3	0.5	-4.1	4.4	-3.2	-3.6	13.0	5.0	6.2	2.0	10.5	4.9	6.6
Radio and TV eq.	32.3	1.6	-0.8	-1.3	-5.0	-10.9	-12.6	4.9	1.2	-3.1	-13.7	7.4	-2.6	13.5	-2.2	1.1	1.7	-4.6
Instruments	33.1	-3.1	1.3	-0.4	-4.0	-2.7	-10.9	-5.6	-1.8	-3.7	-17.2	-1.7	-2.6	-3.0	-6.9	-0.5	-2.2	-4.5
Total ICT-producing serv	ices	4.8	7.9	4.8	2.6	5.9	2.2	1.6	2.3	3.1	6.8	5.6	4.4	0.4	4.2	2.1	1.5	3.1
Telecommunications	64	5.8	5.1	6.6	2.5	7.7	4.8	4.4	4.0	4.0	8.0	6.2	5.7	2.1	4.7	2.3	3.2	3.3
Computer services	72	1.3	12.3	0.0	2.8	0.5	-3.5	-3.4	-1.6	0.9	3.3	5.3	1.5	1.6	3.7	1.5	-3.3	2.7
Total ICT-using manufact	uring	1.9	2.7	4.7	3.3	2.6	6.1	3.4	1.8	1.7	5.6	2.1	3.1	2.1	-1.1	1.3	0.0	-0.3
Apparel	18	2.8	3.2	2.0	3.2	3.6	-6.6	8.0	1.3	4.1	5.8	3.6	5.2	4.1	-5.9	1.8	-10.5	3.4
Printing & Publishing	22	-0.7	-0.7	3.7	1.5	2.7	6.4	0.2	1.9	-1.1	8.2	0.2	1.9	-0.8	-2.5	1.3	-3.1	-2.6
Machinery	29	1.9	2.6	4.4	5.3	4.6	7.5	3.2	3.0	2.9	3.1	2.6	4.2	2.7	-1.8	0.8	1.6	0.9
Electrical machinery	31-31.3	4.5	11.8	9.2	5.0	6.5	13.6	6.3	10.5	11.1	18.3	-0.3	6.9	4.9	13.3	7.1	2.6	5.6
Watches & instruments	33-33.1	5.4	9.7	7.9	6.3	4.2	2.2	2.9	4.4	4.7	14.0	23.1	7.5	4.2	1.5	-2.8	1.4	2.1
Ships	351	7.8	10.6	8.9	0.7	-1.2	-5.5	2.6	0.0	3.1	-4.2	10.7	4.1	5.8	14.6	0.2	-13.5	-3.8
Aircraft	353			4.0	6.5	-8.1		-5.8	-1.5	-3.0	-2.5	1.3	0.5	-0.1	4.7	8.3		-1.0
Railroad and other	352+359	7.8	0.6	-7.4	8.0	0.7	-6.8	8.7	1.6	7.9	-2.2	2.7	5.9	10.1	5.8	6.5		-2.0
Misc. manufacturing	36-37	-0.3	0.8	3.1	0.9	-0.7	6.0	3.9	0.2	0.1	5.6	-0.9	1.1	4.7	-2.6	-2.1	4.1	1.3
Total ICT-using services		2.1	0.6	0.7	0.5	1.1	0.2	1.6	0.4	-0.7	2.5	2.5	1.1	1.9	1.4	5.2	-2.0	1.9
Wholesale trade	51	0.7	2.6	-1.9	2.9	3.1	-0.6	4.1	-0.4	0.7	3.8	4.9	2.9	3.7	2.0 <sup>f)</sup>	5.3	-6.0	3.4
Retail trade	52	0.7	2.6	4.3	1.3	0.2	-0.6	0.7	0.1	1.6	3.8	2.6	1.1	1.1	0.0	5.3	2.9	2.3
Banks	65	5.3	-1.1	-0.3	-2.1	1.4	4.8	0.6	4.3	-2.9	3.1 <sup>d)</sup>	2.2	0.4	2.3	0.0 <sup>d</sup>	5.1	-0.9	1.3
Insurance	66	-0.4	-6.5	-3.5	0.3	3.0	4.8	3.3	0.8	-11.9		1.4	0.2	2.5		8.8	4.1	3.0
Securities trade	67	-3.1	1.9	7.0	3.4	-2.2	4.8	1.6	-0.7	1.0		0.9	1.1			9.8	-10.2	3.2
Renting of machinery	71	5.9		0.4	-0.3	0.7	-3.5	0.0	-3.8	1.1	-6.3	5.5	2.4		3.7	8.6	-5.0	6.7
R&D	73	13.6	-2.5	0.1	-0.1	0.5	-3.5	-1.4	-3.8	-1.7	-0.6	2.3	-0.2	1.1	3.7	5.3	-4.8	1.0
Professional services	74.1-74.3	1.6	-2.0	3.7	-0.9	-2.2	-3.5	-0.5	0.5	0.5	-0.6	2.1	-0.4	-0.3	3.7	5.3	-5.4	-0.7

Appendix Table D1 (cont.)																		
		Austria	Denmark	Finland	France <sup>b</sup>	Germany <sup>a</sup>	Ireland	Italy	Nether-	Spain <sup>b</sup>	Sweden	UK	EU	Canada <sup>b</sup>	Japan <sup>c</sup>	Norway	Switzer-	US
1990-1995						2		5	lands	I					1	,	land	
Total Non-ICT manufacturing		4.6	2.9	6.2	3.4	4.4	7.8	2.7	3.7	3.5	6.3	4.0	3.8	2.1	0.4	2.2	4.4	3.0
Food & beverages	15-16	3.7	3.1	5.9	2.2	3.6	3.9	2.1	6.1	1.2	6.5	3.1	2.9	1.4	-1.7	3.3	4.1	3.5
Textiles	17	0.5	2.8	8.6	5.4	4.3	2.1	1.3	1.4	4.1	4.8	2.5	3.5	3.0	0.6	1.7	5.8	3.0
Leather	19	1.4	1.7	3.6	1.5	8.3	-4.5	3.8	2.1	2.1	4.7	0.1	3.3	2.8	-2.7	8.3	-0.2	4.9
Wood	20	1.2	4.5	5.5	2.9	5.7	0.5	3.0	1.3	2.2	1.1	0.8	2.5	-2.0	-2.7	-2.9	1.1	-2.8
Paper	21	8.3	5.8	7.6	1.2	0.6	1.5	3.5	3.2	3.1	3.8	3.8	3.5	-0.8	-2.6	3.7	1.1	0.0
Petroleum & coal	23	51.5	-18.9	5.9	15.7	-1.6	17.1	5.7	4.0	5.2	11.9	8.6	9.6	4.0	-3.0	-15.9	-22.3	5.0
Chemicals	24	3.4	5.2	4.4	5.9	8.3	10.5	3.5	5.3	3.9	6.7	7.6	6.8	3.6	2.4	1.9	11.5	3.4
Rubber & plastics	25	4.9	-3.7	3.2	4.3	3.2	5.9	2.2	1.5	3.1	6.3	2.4	3.2	3.6	0.8	0.7	-0.6	4.6
Stone, clay & glass	26	-0.7	1.7	3.9	0.1	6.7	6.9	1.4	-0.4	2.8	2.0	4.3	2.5	0.0	0.1	4.6	-1.1	2.8
Basic metals	27	3.9	4.9	7.9	3.9	10.6	-5.0	4.3	2.7	7.5	9.1	4.5	6.9	3.8	1.7	-3.8	3.5	3.9
Fabricated metals	28	4.4	3.4	4.9	1.3	1.8	0.5	4.3	2.0	2.1	6.1	0.9	2.2	2.0	2.2	12.2	-0.6	3.2
Motor vehicles	34	7.9	-3.3	0.7	2.8	2.4	-3.6	0.1	5.8	8.1	8.8	3.1	3.2	5.0	-1.3	8.9	-10.1	4.9
Total Non-ICT services		0.1	0.5	2.0	-0.3	0.9	-0.9	0.6	-0.2	0.9	1.5	1.5	0.6	-0.2	-0.2	0.7	-0.2	-0.4
Repairs	50	0.7	-20.2	4.0	-1.9	-3.1	-0.6	5.4	-0.7	-0.4	3.8	1.4	-0.1			5.3	-1.4	-1.4
Hotels & restaurants	55	-1.0	2.1	3.1	-4.6	-5.2	-1.5	-1.4	-3.8	0.6	1.5	-0.6	-1.8	0.1		0.9	-5.8	-1.1
Transport	60-63	-0.3	2.3	4.0	0.8	4.9	4.8	5.5	0.8	3.2	-0.3	3.6	3.2	1.4	-2.1	4.0	-3.3	2.1
Real estate	70	-0.4	1.6	6.9	1.4	-3.3	-3.5	0.0	-1.8	5.1	6.3	-5.0	-0.7		1.1	-3.3	6.2	1.6
Other business services	74.9	1.6	1.5	-0.2	-1.7	-2.2		-2.2	2.0		-0.6	2.7	-1.1		10.1	5.3		-1.0
Government	75	1.2	1.8	-0.2	1.2	2.2	0.7	2.5	0.9	1.2	0.9 <sup>e)</sup>	-0.1	1.4	1.3	0.4	2.0	2.7	0.0
Education	80	-1.4	1.7	0.4	0.4	0.4	-3.7	0.0	1.2	0.7		2.6	0.9	-1.4	1.2	0.4	-7.5	-0.2
Health	85	0.7	1.4	0.0	0.5	1.6	-1.3	-1.4	-0.7	1.6		2.9	0.8	-0.6	1.4	0.0	-1.0	-2.2
Personal & social serv.	90-93	-0.2	1.3	0.0	-3.0	-1.1	-2.4	-0.7	-0.4	-1.3		3.7	-0.4	-1.5	-1.6	0.5	-0.6	0.3
Private households	95	1.3	-0.7	0.7	0.1	-0.1	-0.5	-1.4	-0.4								0.8	2.2
Extra-terr. org.	99																	
Total Non-ICT other industries	s	4.5	4.1	4.2	1.6	2.7	2.9	3.0	0.9	2.9	2.8	6.1	2.7	1.4	0.2	9.3	-0.2	0.7
Agriculture	01-05	6.8	7.2	5.1	4.4	10.1	3.9	7.1	3.3	1.8	2.0	2.1	5.2	0.6	0.4	7.5	-0.8	-1.0
Mining	10-14	-1.2	8.1	5.4	-36.7	10.4	8.4	5.8	1.5	9.3	4.4	23.6	7.5	3.8	-0.9	8.2	-2.1	5.4
Utilities	40-41	2.0	5.5	7.2	2.2	4.0	5.6	2.8	3.1	1.6	2.5	9.8	4.5	1.1	0.7	1.7	6.1	2.5
Construction	45	2.0	-0.4	0.8	0.9	-1.1	-1.6	-0.6	-1.5	1.9	2.6	3.3	0.4	-1.4	-1.9	4.9	-2.3	0.5

a) 1991-1995; b) 1995-99; c) 1995-98

d) Refers to total finance (65-67); e) Refers to total non-market services (75-99) f) Refers to Trade (50-52) as a whole

1005 2000	•	Austria	Denmark	Finland	France <sup>b</sup>	Germany <sup>a</sup>	Ireland	Italy	Nether-	Spain <sup>b</sup>	Sweden	UK	EU	Canada <sup>b</sup>	Japan <sup>c</sup>	Norway	Switzer-	US
Total Economy		2.3	1.9	2.5	1.2	1.3	5.3	0.8	0.9	0.4	2.1	1.8	1.4	1.4	0.9	1.7	1.1	2.5
Total ICT producing may	mfacturing	9.6	57	13.2	15.0	13.7	42.3	6.0	10	13.1	11	16.1	13.8	16.0	10.5	4.0	13	23.7
Office and Comp. Eq.	30	9.0 87.4	54.4	-0.1	13.0 45.7	54.8	49.1	41.0	-1.9 45.2	<b>13.1</b> 50.7	<b>1.1</b> 57.2	45.7	49.3	46.2	19.3 54 7	<b>4.</b> 9	- <b></b> .3 57.4	23.7 52.3
Fiber ontics	31.3	75	3.6	4.8	3 5	7.0	-3.0	-0.4	-4.0	-3.3	54	16	29	12.8	34	-13.5	10.7	57
Semiconductors	32.1	47.0	56.2	52.6	53.9	66.3	82.0	53.5	53.6	48.0	40.9	55.2	56.4	56.0	47.7	56.1	48.7	52.1
Communication eq.	32.2	3.3	0.6	10.5	0.4	10.9	-12.3	-6.1	-2.0	-10.2	-4.8	3.3	3.5	0.7	-3.1	6.1	-6.9	-0.4
Radio and TV eq.	32.3	-12.1	-9.7	-7.7	-12.8	-18.6	-12.4	-11.9	-12.3	-16.0	-13.4	-13.2	-13.9	-10.5	-15.7	-20.3	-17.2	-12.5
Instruments	33.1	-4.5	-5.4	-6.3	-8.6	-3.2	-1.1	-9.6	-10.5	-6.7	-5.5	-11.8	-7.2	-4.9	-7.7	-6.7	-9.0	-5.9
Total ICT-producing serv	vices	-0.4	5.9	8.1	6.2	11.9	-0.2	6.2	4.5	4.1	3.3	5.2	6.5	2.8	4.0	9.2	-0.7	1.8
Telecommunications	64	3.6	6.6	13.5	9.8	16.3	-0.6	8.6	7.7	6.2	5.6	9.1	9.9	6.9	6.8	13.8	1.1	6.5
Computer services	72	-9.8	5.4	-1.3	0.4	4.9	-2.1	3.9	1.1	0.3	-0.6	0.3	1.5	1.1	0.7	-1.9	-3.6	-4.5
Total ICT-using manufac	turing	6.0	0.1	1.5	1.9	2.4	8.7	1.5	2.7	1.1	1.7	1.7	2.1	1.1	0.5	-1.3	3.3	1.2
Apparel	18	5.4	11.2	-0.1	4.4	6.1	2.2	2.2	3.9	0.7	-1.1	3.7	2.9	0.9	-0.8	0.4	6.6	3.8
Printing & Publishing	22	7.4	-1.3	2.6	0.7	2.5	8.0	1.9	4.3	0.9	3.8	1.2	2.5	-1.4	1.6	-3.8	3.6	-0.2
Machinery	29	5.3	1.2	0.7	2.5	0.9	-3.1	0.4	2.2	1.3	0.6	-1.4	1.0	-5.4	-1.2	-0.5	2.3	0.3
Electrical machinery	31-31.3	7.5	3.6	4.8	3.5	7.0	-3.0	-0.4	-4.0	-3.3	5.4	1.6	2.9	12.8	3.4	-13.5	10.7	5.7
Watches & instruments	33-33.1	7.6	5.0	1.1	3.1	5.8	13.3	3.6	4.3	3.8	3.8	2.0	5.1	5.6	7.1	5.7	5.8	14.2
Ships	351	-1.1	-15.7	-2.7	15.3	-0.8	2.4	2.8	-0.5	-1.0	-2.7	-8.1	0.4	7.7	0.1	0.8	-12.3	-0.2
Aircraft	353			1.6	-9.7	9.9		1.9	11.0	6.1	-4.9	18.8	6.4	6.3	-2.3	11.8		1.1
Railroad and other	352+359	-1.1	0.5	3.6	-0.4	6.6	14.7	1.3	25.9	7.4	4.2	-6.0	3.1	-13.4	-11.0	-1.4		-0.1
Misc. manufacturing	36-37	3.7	0.2	2.5	2.9	0.9	-1.3	3.0	0.3	0.8	4.6	-0.9	1.5	4.9	2.9	-2.6	2.5	2.4
Total ICT-using services		2.1	2.5	3.0	0.7	0.9	1.4	0.6	1.9	-0.1	3.3	2.6	1.4	2.8	0.0	4.8	0.8	5.4
Wholesale trade	51	2.2	0.3	2.1	1.6	-0.3	6.2	-0.2	4.2	0.3	3.6	0.4	1.2	2.9	0.2 <sup>f)</sup>	6.1	-2.3	6.1
Retail trade	52	2.7	0.8	1.6	0.9	-0.2	6.2	0.6	0.8	1.4	3.0	3.5	1.4	2.9	-2.7	6.3	0.0	6.9
Banks	65	4.4	5.2	11.9	-1.3	8.3	-1.9	4.9	-0.1	0.1	5.4 <sup>d)</sup>	1.3	3.0	3.7	1.7 <sup>d</sup>	7.0	5.0	2.8
Insurance	66	4.1	8.9	0.4	-0.8	-9.4	-1.9	-3.2	-2.3	-11.0		3.6	0.2	4.8		4.8	0.8	-1.0
Securities trade	67	-5.9	-13.3	16.5	1.1	1.0	-1.9	-2.7	2.4	5.1		6.5	2.0			12.9	4.3	15.3
Renting of machinery	71	0.8	-1.9	2.0	-1.0	2.5	-2.1	-0.6	3.1	0.5	7.4	0.8	0.5		0.7	5.4	0.2	5.7
R&D	73	-2.2	4.1	-0.8	-1.2	6.3	-2.1	3.9	-3.2	-3.0	-0.4	-5.8	-0.5	0.4	0.7	-1.8	-7.1	3.1
Professional services	74.1-74.3	-2.2	5.8	-0.2	2.3	-3.4	-2.1	-1.4	0.7	-0.2	-0.4	4.6	0.4	0.0	0.7	0.6	-2.3	1.0

Appendix Table D2: Labor productivity growth (value added per person engaged) by individual industry, 1995-2000

Appendix Table D2 (cont.)																		
		Austria	Denmark	Finland	France <sup>b</sup>	Germany <sup>a</sup>	Ireland	Italy	Nether-	Spain <sup>b</sup>	Sweden	UK	EU	Canada <sup>b</sup>	Japan <sup>c</sup>	Norway	Switzer-	US
1995-2000						•			lands						-	-	land	
Total Non-ICT manufacturing		4.6	3.8	3.0	2.7	0.5	10.4	0.6	2.0	-0.3	3.3	0.5	1.5	1.3	-0.3	1.7	4.4	1.4
Food & beverages	15-16	2.4	0.8	3.0	-1.8	0.3	2.4	0.7	1.4	-0.2	1.8	-1.0	0.0	-0.4	0.4	-1.9	-0.7	-4.5
Textiles	17	5.4	7.0	2.1	0.8	1.6	-3.9	1.5	6.4	-0.6	3.9	0.3	1.4	0.9	-4.7	0.2	2.5	3.3
Leather	19	5.8	11.4	2.4	0.6	2.8	-2.3	-0.9	4.8	0.5	2.5	12.0	0.7	0.9	-1.0	-0.9	1.1	1.3
Wood	20	5.4	0.0	5.5	1.9	2.3	6.5	3.5	1.8	0.9	6.3	-1.7	2.7	-0.5	-6.7	4.3	1.7	0.3
Paper	21	5.1	3.0	4.3	5.8	5.4	1.1	0.1	3.2	-3.1	4.6	-2.3	2.3	-1.4	1.4	5.7	2.3	0.2
Petroleum & coal	23	16.9	19.0	-0.3	2.7	11.9	25.7	-13.1	-3.2	0.2	3.6	0.2	0.2	4.4	4.0	9.0	16.6	1.5
Chemicals	24	5.6	11.2	4.7	4.8	2.6	17.0	1.6	3.9	0.6	5.3	3.7	4.7	1.8	2.3	4.3	9.6	4.4
Rubber & plastics	25	7.2	8.8	0.0	3.1	1.3	-3.3	0.1	3.2	0.8	2.2	-0.2	1.6	3.3	-0.8	-3.3	0.0	4.1
Stone, clay & glass	26	4.4	-0.2	2.1	4.2	0.9	3.9	1.0	2.7	0.7	-0.8	-0.2	1.4	6.1	-0.1	-2.7	2.1	2.6
Basic metals	27	8.8	1.6	4.3	0.6	2.7	-3.8	-1.7	2.7	-3.4	3.2	-1.6	0.9	1.4	-0.6	3.9	1.8	3.1
Fabricated metals	28	2.1	0.6	0.7	1.2	1.0	-4.8	0.6	0.6	-0.8	0.7	1.9	0.9	0.8	-2.2	8.8	1.8	0.6
Motor vehicles	34	0.3	5.4	5.5	12.0	-5.2	6.2	3.4	2.9	1.2	4.5	-1.8	0.9	3.7	-4.4	-1.0	0.9	1.4
Total Non-ICT services		-0.4	1.2	0.6	0.1	-0.1	-1.2	-0.4	0.1	-0.1	1.4	0.9	0.2	-0.4	0.6	0.4	0.8	0.4
Repairs	50	2.2	20.7	1.4	-3.2	0.2	6.2	0.5	1.6	-1.1	2.2	3.1	1.0			5.1	1.4	-2.5
Hotels & restaurants	55	0.5	-1.3	-0.6	-0.4	-5.2	4.2	0.1	0.8	-0.6	2.5	-2.1	-1.2	0.6		2.4	0.9	0.4
Transport	60-63	2.5	3.3	2.2	3.0	3.1	-0.6	-1.8	1.8	0.8	1.7	2.1	1.7	1.5	-0.7	0.7	2.5	1.6
Real estate	70	-1.6	0.1	0.7	-0.5	-2.7	-2.1	-0.6	-0.4	-6.4	3.0	1.1	-0.8		1.7	-0.3	1.5	1.7
Other business services	74.9	-2.4	2.7	-2.0	-1.3	-3.4		-1.5	0.7		-0.4	5.9	-0.3		13.8	2.3		1.4
Government	75	0.1	0.0	1.1	1.2	1.2	-0.8	0.8	1.2	1.1	1.9 <sup>e)</sup>	0.3	1.1	1.3	1.8	1.0	0.3	0.2
Education	80	-0.1	-0.1	-0.3	0.8	0.0	-5.8	-0.6	0.3	0.4		-1.0	-0.1	-1.6	1.9	1.5	-3.7	-1.2
Health	85	-3.5	0.2	-0.1	0.3	-0.2	-1.8	0.6	-1.2	-0.2		2.6	0.4	-0.8	0.2	-0.5	0.0	-0.3
Personal & social serv.	90-93	-1.0	0.8	0.6	-2.5	-0.4	-1.1	0.4	0.1	-0.3		-0.8	-0.5	-0.6	-1.1	2.1	-1.3	-0.9
Private households	95	-3.1	1.3	-0.9	-2.7	-0.3	17.0	-0.5	3.2								-1.7	0.7
Extra-terr. org.	99																	
Total Non-ICT other industries	5	4.0	1.2	2.3	1.1	2.3	1.2	2.5	0.0	1.3	0.5	1.5	1.9	1.1	-1.5	1.4	-1.3	0.6
Agriculture	01-05	3.9	5.0	4.5	4.8	5.2	2.9	4.8	2.2	3.4	1.8	1.9	4.0	4.1	0.1	2.4	-4.0	6.3
Mining	10-14	4.3	8.8	-3.3	-5.9	-3.6	-0.7	-0.4	1.6	0.3	0.8	0.8	3.5	-0.5	5.0	2.9	4.0	-1.8
Utilities	40-41	5.0	-0.5	4.7	4.6	5.8	7.4	3.8	2.5	6.0	-0.4	6.4	4.9	1.6	4.1	6.0	1.0	2.3
Construction	45	2.4	-1.4	0.0	-2.7	1.0	-1.4	0.5	-0.3	-1.1	0.0	0.8	0.2	0.9	-4.2	-3.9	-0.7	0.2

a) 1991-1995; b) 1995-99; c) 1995-98

d) Refers to total finance (65-67); e) Refers to total non-market services (75-99) f) Refers to Trade (50-52) as a whole

#### Appendix E: Decomposing the U.S-EU Productivity Growth Differential

As we show in the main text, shift-share analysis can be used to trace aggregate labor productivity growth to individual industries within countries, but also to compare the industry contribution to the difference in aggregate productivity growth across countries. Of course this can be simply done by comparing the total percentage-point contributions of an industry to the aggregate. For example, between 1995 and 2000 the retail industry in the United States contributed 0.38 percentage point to the aggregate average annual labor productivity growth of 2.5 per cent. In the European Union the contribution was only 0.06 percentage point out of 1.4 per cent aggregate labor productivity growth over the same period. One may also break the aggregate U.S-EU productivity growth differential down into the following four components:

- A difference due to faster (or slower) productivity growth in any given industry in the U.S. compared to the EU
- A difference due to a higher (or lower) productivity level in the U.S. than in the EU relative to the aggregate productivity level
- A difference due to a faster rise (or a slower fall) of the employment share of any given industry in the U.S. compared to the EU
- A difference due to a bigger (or smaller) employment share of any given industry in in the U.S. compared to the EU

To carry out this decomposition, we start with the basic shift-share analysis as described in the main text. Equations (E1a) and (E1b) replicate equation (2) from the main text and add country subscripts A and B respectively. Aggregate productivity growth in country A can be decomposed into industry contributions:

$$\Delta P_{A} = \frac{P_{A}^{T} - P_{A}^{0}}{P_{A}^{0}} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(P_{i,A}^{T} - P_{i,A}^{0}) \cdot \overline{S}_{i,A}}{P_{A}^{0}} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(S_{i,A}^{T} - S_{i,A}^{0}) \cdot \overline{P}_{i,A}}{P_{A}^{0}}$$
(E1a)

Aggregate productivity growth in country B can similarly be decomposed into industry contributions:

$$\Delta P_{\rm B} = \frac{P_{\rm B}^{\rm T} - P_{\rm B}^{\rm 0}}{P_{\rm B}^{\rm 0}} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(P_{i,\rm B}^{\rm T} - P_{i,\rm B}^{\rm 0}) \cdot \overline{S}_{i,\rm B}}{P_{\rm B}^{\rm 0}} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(S_{i,\rm B}^{\rm T} - S_{i,\rm B}^{\rm 0}) \cdot \overline{P}_{i,\rm B}}{P_{\rm B}^{\rm 0}}$$
(E1b)

The first term on the right-hand side of each equation, the "intra-effect", shows the contribution of an industry due to its own growth in productivity, weighted by its average employment share over the two periods 0 and T. The second term, the "shift-effect" shows the contribution due to a change in the relative size of the industry, weighted by the average productivity level.

If we want to compare the difference in industry contributions to the aggregate productivity differential, we can simply take the difference of equations (E1a) and (E1b):

$$\Delta P_{A} - \Delta P_{B} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( \frac{\Delta P_{i,A} \cdot \overline{S}_{i,A}}{P_{A}^{0}} - \frac{\Delta P_{i,B} \cdot \overline{S}_{i,B}}{P_{B}^{0}} \right) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( \frac{\Delta S_{i,A} \cdot \overline{P}_{i,A}}{P_{A}^{0}} - \frac{\Delta S_{i,B} \cdot \overline{P}_{i,B}}{P_{B}^{0}} \right) (E2)$$

Equation (E2) shows that the difference in aggregate productivity growth is due to the different contributions of the intra-effect of each industry and different contributions of the shift-effect. We can take this decomposition one step further and split the difference in intra-
effect and shift-effect into effects which are related to productivity growth ( $\Delta P$ ) or levels ( $\overline{P}$ ) and effects which are related to the employment share ( $\overline{S}$ ) or the change in share of employment ( $\Delta S$ ) by industry. More precisely, if the intra-effect of industry *i* in country A is larger than in B, this can be due to a higher productivity growth or due to a larger employment share over the two periods. Likewise, if the shift-effect of industry *i* in country A is larger than in B, this can be due to a bigger change in the employment share or due to a higher productivity level relative to the aggregate productivity level. To separate these different causes, we define two counterfactual shift-share equations by imposing the employment structure of country A on country B and vice-versa. If we impose country B's structure on country A, the two terms on the right-hand side of (E1a) become:

$$\Delta \mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{A}}^{*} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(\mathbf{P}_{i,\mathbf{A}}^{\mathrm{T}} - \mathbf{P}_{i,\mathbf{A}}^{0}) \cdot \overline{\mathbf{S}}_{i,\mathbf{B}}}{\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{A}}^{0}} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(\mathbf{S}_{i,\mathbf{B}}^{\mathrm{T}} - \mathbf{S}_{i,\mathbf{B}}^{0}) \cdot \overline{\mathbf{P}}_{i,\mathbf{A}}}{\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{A}}^{0}}$$
(E3a)

With the first counterfactual (imposing country B's employment shares on country A) the decomposition is carried out as follows:

- The difference between the first term of (E3a) and the first term of (E1b) shows the difference in contribution of industry *i* to aggregate productivity growth because of a faster (or slower) productivity growth in country A compared to country B, i.e. the "productivity growth effect" (ΔP)
- The difference between the first term of (E3a) and the first term of (E1a) shows the difference in contribution of industry *i* to aggregate productivity growth because of a higher (or lower) employment share of industry *i* in country A compared to country B, i.e. the "employment share effect" ( $\overline{S}$ ).
- The difference between the second term of (E3a) and the second term of (E1a) reflects the difference in contribution of industry *i* to aggregate productivity growth because of a higher (or lower) productivity level in country A compared to country B relative to the aggregate productivity level, i.e the "productivity level effect" ( $\overline{P}$ ).
- The difference between the second term of (E3a) and the second term of (E1b) reflects the difference in contribution of industry *i* to aggregate productivity growth because of a faster rise (or slower fall) in the employment share of industry *i* in country A compared to country B, i.e. the "change in employment share effect" ( $\Delta$ S).

Alternatively we can also impose country A's employment structure on country B, which transforms equation (E1b) into:

$$\Delta P_{\rm B}^* = \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{(P_{i,{\rm B}}^{\rm T} - P_{i,{\rm B}}^0) \cdot \overline{S}_{i,{\rm A}}}{P_{\rm B}^0} + \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{(S_{i,{\rm A}}^{\rm T} - S_{i,{\rm A}}^0) \cdot \overline{P}_{i,{\rm B}}}{P_{\rm B}^0}$$
(E3b)

This second counterfactual results in the same four effects described above, but will obviously give a different result because we now assume country A's employment structure instead of that of country B. As there is no a priori reason to prefer one or the other employment structure for the counterfactual, we take a simple unweighted average of each of the four effects based on country A's or country B's structure.

To gain a fuller understanding of the procedure, we show an example of this decomposition for the case of the computer industry (ISIC 30). For the period 1995-2000, productivity growth in this industry was 49.3% on average per year in the EU, compared to 52.3% in the U.S. On average the industry employed 0.14% of total employment in the EU and 0.18% in the United States, but between 1995 and 2000 the employment share went down by 0.03% in the EU and by 0.05% in the U.S.. To trace the effects of these differences on the industry's contribution to aggregate productivity growth differential between the U.S. and the EU we run the counterfactuals as in equations (E3a) and (E3b). Looking at the intra-effect (the first term in each equation), this leads to the following matrix:

with different employment structure, 1995-2000 (%-point contributions)					
Intra-effect	U.S.	EU	Difference due to different		
			productivity growth		
U.S. shares	0.274	0.207	0.066		
EU shares	0.199	0.154	0.045		
Difference due to different					
employment structure	0.075	0.053			

Table E.1, Intra-effects for the computer industry (ISIC 30) in the U.S. and the EU with different employment structure, 1995-2000 (%-point contributions)

Table E.1 shows the intra-effects for both countries under both sets of employment shares as well as the differences between the U.S. and EU. Taking the U.S. as country A (and the EU as "country" B), this means that the computer industry in the U.S. has an intra-effect contribution to productivity growth of 0.274 percentage-point (according to the first term of equation E1a), which would have been 0.199 % in case the U.S. had the same employment structure as the European Union (according to the first term of equation E3a). Hence the U.S.-EU productivity differential is 0.074 percentage points due to a bigger share of the U.S. computer industry in total employment ( $\overline{S}$ ). However, this difference would have been 0.053 percentage points had we looked at the EU intra-effects, as is shown in the second column of Table E.1 (comparing the first terms of equations E1b and E3b). If we compare across the columns instead of across the rows in Table E.1, we find that the contribution to the U.S.-EU productivity growth differential due to faster productivity growth in the U.S. computer industry ( $\Delta P$ ) is 0.066 percentage points when imposing the U.S. employment structure on both the U.S. and the EU (comparing the first terms of equations E1a and E3b). It becomes 0.044 when assuming the EU employment structure for both the U.S. and the EU (comparing the first terms of equations E1b and E3a).

Overall the intra-effect contributed 0.120 percentage points (0.274-0.154) to the aggregate U.S.-EU productivity differential. A straightforward way to calculate the average productivity growth effect is then to take an unweighted average of the two figures in the right column of Table E1 which comes to 0.056%. The remainder of the difference in intra-effect is then due to differences in size. This is equal to the average of the figures in the row

"Difference due to different employment shares" or 0.064%. Together, these two effects exactly add up to the total difference in intra-effect of 0.120%-points.

We can run a similar analysis which focuses on the second terms of equations (E1a), (E1b) and (E3a) and (E3b). The four possible comparisons between these second terms lead to another matrix (Table E.2), that results in contributions to the productivity growth differential because of differences in productivity levels ( $\overline{P}$ ) or because of differences in the change in employment shares ( $\Delta S$ ).

Shift-effect	U.S.	EU	Difference due to different
			productivity levels
U.S. shares	-0.029	-0.022	-0.007
EU shares	-0.017	-0.013	-0.004
Difference due to different change			
in employment structure	-0.011	-0.008	

Table E.2, Shift-effects for the computer industry (ISIC rev. 30) in the U.S and the EU with different employment structure, 1995-2000 (%-point contributions)

Table E.2 shows that in the case of the computer industry the shift-effects are always negative. This is a consequence of the declining employment share of the computer industry in both Europe and the United States in combination with a strongly positive productivity growth rate. The bottom row and right hand columns in the Table furthermore show that the U.S. shift-effect is more strongly negative due to both a larger decline in employment share in the U.S. (-0.011 and -0.008) and a higher productivity level relative to the aggregate productivity level for the U.S. economy (-0.007 and -0.004).<sup>53</sup> In Table E.3 we summarize the results from Tables E.1 and E.2 for the computer industry, and we add similar computations for the semiconductor industry (ISIC 321) and retail trade (ISIC 52).

differential between the U.S. and the EU and U.S. for several industries, 1995						
	Computer	Semiconductors	Retail			
	(ISIC 30)	(ISIC 321)	ISIC (52)			
U.S.	0.245	0.505	0.377			
EU	0.141	0.144	0.061	-		
Difference	0.104	0.361	0.317			
due to different						
Productivity growth	0.056	0.132	0.282			
Employment shares	0.064	0.212	0.054			
Productivity levels	-0.006	-0.001	0.000			

-0.010

Change in shares

 Table E.3, Decomposition of the difference in contribution to productivity growth

 differential between the U.S. and the EU and U.S. for several industries, 1995-2000

0.018

-0.019

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> The higher productivity level relative to the aggregate productivity level gives a larger weight to the decline in employment share.

Table E.3 shows how semiconductors and retail trade make a very large contribution to the productivity growth differential between the U.S. and the EU. For retail trade, this difference is dominated by the much faster productivity growth in the U.S. compared to the EU. There is a small offsetting effect from changes in employment shares, which negatively contributed to the U.S.-EU aggregate productivity growth differential. The employment share of the industry decreased in the U.S., while it slightly increased in the EU, leading to a negative contribution from the change in shares. The higher productivity level of the industry compared to the aggregate in the U.S. (61% of the aggregate in the U.S. versus 55% in the EU) also led to a slightly negative contribution because of the larger change in employment share in the U.S.<sup>54</sup>

For the other two industries (semiconductors and computers), larger employment shares in the U.S. were equally (in the case of computers) or even more (in the case of semiconductors) important for the U.S.-EU productivity differential as the faster productivity growth in the U.S.. In contrast to retail and computers, changes in employment shares in semiconductors contributed positively to U.S.-EU productivity growth differential because the employment share of the industry increased in the U.S., while it decreased in the EU.

Finally, in Table E.4 we show the top 5 and the bottom 5 industries in terms of contributions to the U.S.-EU productivity differential. This Table replicates some of the findings from the main text, but adds some new insights. If we look at the top 5 industries that were the largest contributors to the U.S-EU growth differential, it becomes clear that much faster productivity growth in the U.S. is the most important reason for their higher contributions. Only in semiconductors is the employment share effect the dominant factor. Securities and retail also have bigger productivity contributions in the U.S. due to their larger size, but this is much less important for both. Construction is the fifth industry in this top group because its employment share expanded from 5.1 to 5.8 percent of total employment in the U.S., while it decreased in the EU from 5.9 to 5.5 percent.

The bottom 5 industries, or (in other words) those industries that most strongly offset the overall widening of the U.S.-EU productivity growth gap, show a very different picture in terms of contributions from the four different effects. First of all, higher productivity growth in the EU compared to the U.S. seems to have been relatively unimportant. In the case of food products, it is mainly the negative productivity growth rate for the U.S. that explains the large negative effect. The exception is the computer services industry, where productivity growth in the EU has been relatively strong versus a decline in productivity in the U.S.. For the other industries in the bottom 5 category, the productivity growth effect is much smaller in an absolute sense than for the top 5. In the case of social and personal services, productivity growth actually still favors the United States, but offsetting effects mainly come from changes in employment structure. Changes in employment shares have almost all contributed to offsetting the U.S.-EU productivity growth differential, although for different reasons. In the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> The changes in employment share in retailing declined at a faster rate in the U.S. than it increased in the EU, making the average effect negative.

case of health, and social and personal services, the employment share grew faster in the EU than in the U.S. while in both food products and government, the employment share shrunk less rapidly in the EU than in the United States. The exception to this pattern comes from computer services, where employment in the U.S. expanded at a faster rate than in the EU.

Top 5	Industry	Total	Productivity growth	Employment shares	Productivity levels	Change in shares
1	Semiconductors	0.361	0.132	0.212	-0.001	0.018
2	Securities	0.355	0.235	0.078	0.018	0.024
3	Retail trade	0.317	0.282	0.054	0.000	-0.019
4	Wholesale trade	0.233	0.257	0.016	0.000	-0.040
5	Construction	0.157	-0.002	-0.003	0.003	0.159
Bottom 5	Industry	Total	Productivity growth	Employment shares	Productivity levels	Change in shares
<b>Bottom 5</b>	<i>Industry</i> Food products	<i>Total</i> -0.067	Productivity growth -0.092	<i>Employment shares</i> 0.029	Productivity levels -0.003	Change in shares -0.001
<b>Bottom 5</b> 1 2	Industry Food products Health	<i>Total</i> -0.067 -0.064	Productivity growth -0.092 -0.041	Employment shares 0.029 0.000	Productivity levels -0.003 0.000	<i>Change in shares</i> -0.001 -0.023
Bottom 5 1 2 3	<i>Industry</i> Food products Health Government	<i>Total</i> -0.067 -0.064 -0.061	<i>Productivity growth</i> -0.092 -0.041 -0.073	<i>Employment shares</i> 0.029 0.000 0.037	<i>Productivity levels</i> -0.003 0.000 0.000	<i>Change in shares</i> -0.001 -0.023 -0.024
Bottom 5 1 2 3 4	Industry Food products Health Government Social/personal services	<i>Total</i> -0.067 -0.064 -0.061 -0.061	Productivity growth -0.092 -0.041 -0.073 0.002	<i>Employment shares</i> 0.029 0.000 0.037 -0.003	Productivity levels -0.003 0.000 0.000 -0.006	<i>Change in shares</i> -0.001 -0.023 -0.024 -0.054

 Table E4, The top and bottom 5 industry contributions to the U.S.-EU productivity growth gap and the importance of the four effects, 1995-2000

Appendix Table E5: The difference	in contribution to tot	tal productivity	growth for	1995-2000
for U.SEU decomposed into four	· effects			

Use         Portal Economy         Log         0.038         0.230         0.0074         0.025           Total ICT-producing manufacturing         0.478         0.108         0.273         -0.005         0.001         -0.007           30         Office and Comp. Eq.         0.104         0.049         0.051         -0.007         -0.009           313         Fiber optics         0.003         0.000         0.001         -0.001           321         Semiconductors         0.002         -0.017         0.000         0.001         -0.003           331         Instruments         -0.003         0.003         -0.001         -0.001         -0.005           72         Computer services         -0.052         -0.022         0.001         -0.006         0.002         -0.001         0.002         -0.001         0.002         -0.001         0.002         -0.001         0.002         -0.001         0.002         -0.001         0.002         -0.004         0.002         -0.001         0.002         -0.001         0.002         -0.004         0.002         -0.004         0.002         -0.001         -0.004         0.002         -0.001         -0.005         -0.011         -0.005         -0.011         -0.005			Total	Productivity	Employment	Productivity	Emp. share
Total ICC-producing manufacturing and the second second second second second second second producing manufacturing of the second second second second producing second second second second second second second second second producing second second second second second second second second producing second second second second second second second second producing second second second second second second second second second producing second second second second second second second second second producing second				growth	share	level	change
Total ICT-producing manufacturing         0.478         0.108         0.273         -0.005         0.001         -0.007           31         Fiber optics         0.005         -0.002         -0.001         0.001         -0.005           31         Semiconductors         0.361         0.075         0.206         0.001         -0.002           321         Semiconductors         0.003         0.000         0.018         -0.001         0.004           331         Instruments         -0.003         0.003         -0.001         -0.003         0.005           70tal ICT-producing services         -0.022         -0.019         0.012         -0.008         0.107           64         Telecommunications         -0.040         -0.087         0.011         -0.001         0.005           70tal ICT-using manufacturing         -0.092         -0.051         -0.011         -0.006         -0.005         -0.011           18         Apparel         -0.005         -0.011         -0.004         -0.005         -0.001         -0.006         -0.005         -0.011         -0.005         -0.001         -0.006         -0.005         -0.011         -0.022         -0.011         -0.025         -0.011         -0.025	Total Econ	omy	1.087	0.688	0.350	-0.074	-0.025
30         Office and Comp. Eq.         0.104         0.049         0.051         -0.007         -0.009           313         Fiber optics         0.051         0.075         0.206         0.001         0.001           321         Semiconductors         0.361         0.077         0.000         0.001         0.003           323         Radio and TV eq.         0.013         0.000         0.011         -0.001         0.003           7011         CT-producing services         -0.092         -0.019         0.012         -0.008         0.017           7011         CT-producing services         -0.092         -0.010         -0.006         0.055         Total ICT-using manufacturing         -0.022         -0.011         -0.006         0.001         -0.005         -0.001         0.002         -0.004         -0.002         -0.004         -0.002         -0.005         -0.001         -0.006         -0.001         -0.006         -0.001         -0.006         -0.001         -0.006         -0.001         -0.006         -0.001         -0.006         -0.001         -0.006         -0.001         -0.006         -0.001         -0.006         -0.001         -0.006         -0.001         -0.006         -0.001         -0.006         -0.0	Total IC	<b>Γ-producing manufacturing</b>	0.478	0.108	0.273	-0.005	0.011
313         Fiber optics         0.005         -0.002         -0.001         0.001         -0.005           321         Semiconductors         0.361         0.075         0.206         0.001         0.003           321         Radio and TV eq.         0.003         0.003         -0.001         0.003         0.003         -0.001         0.003           331         Instruments         -0.002         0.012         -0.008         0.107           64         Telecommunications         -0.040         -0.087         0.011         -0.006         0.055           72         Computer services         -0.052         -0.022         0.001         -0.006         0.002           72         Printing & Publishing         -0.021         -0.014         -0.004         -0.003         -0.001           73         Schips         -0.020         0.011         -0.005         0.002         -0.014         -0.005         0.002           73         Schips         -0.021         -0.014         -0.004         -0.005         0.000         0.000           73         Schips         -0.020         0.010         -0.000         0.000         -0.001         -0.020         -0.015         -0.015 <t< td=""><td>30</td><td>Office and Comp. Eq.</td><td>0.104</td><td>0.049</td><td>0.051</td><td>-0.007</td><td>-0.009</td></t<>	30	Office and Comp. Eq.	0.104	0.049	0.051	-0.007	-0.009
321         Semiconductors         0.361         0.075         0.206         0.001         0.001           322         Communication eq.         -0.002         -0.017         0.000         0.003         0.003           331         Instruments         -0.003         0.003         -0.001         -0.003           331         Instruments         -0.002         -0.012         -0.008         0.017           64         Telecommunications         -0.040         -0.087         0.011         -0.006         0.055           Total ICT-using manufacturing         -0.092         -0.050         -0.011         -0.009         -0.011           2         Printing & Publishing         -0.031         -0.033         -0.001         -0.005         -0.001           2.2         Printing & Publishing         -0.021         -0.014         -0.004         -0.005         -0.001           3.3.3.1         Watches & instruments         -0.007         0.018         -0.006         -0.001         3.000         0.000         -0.004         3.3.3           3.3.3.1         Watches & instruments         -0.011         -0.026         0.010         0.003         -0.001         3.0.026         -0.014         -0.026         0.010	313	Fiber optics	0.005	-0.002	-0.001	0.001	-0.005
322         Communication eq.         -0.002         -0.017         0.000         0.002         0.003           323         Radio and TV eq.         0.013         0.000         0.011         -0.001         -0.003           Total ICT-producing services         -0.092         -0.109         0.012         -0.008         0.107           64         Telecommunications         -0.040         -0.087         0.011         -0.000         0.055           Total ICT-using manufacturing         -0.092         -0.020         -0.011         -0.009         -0.011           18         Apparel         -0.005         0.002         -0.004         -0.002         -0.001         -0.006         0.002           29         Machinery         -0.021         -0.014         -0.006         0.001         -0.006         0.001           33.1         Shirps         -0.007         0.018         -0.006         -0.001         -0.001         -0.000         -0.001         -0.001         -0.001         -0.001         -0.001         -0.001         -0.001         -0.001         -0.003         0.000         -0.001         -0.023         -0.025         -0.011         -0.025         -0.011         -0.025         -0.015         -0.35         <	321	Semiconductors	0.361	0.075	0.206	0.001	0.016
331         Butto and 1V eq.         0.013         0.000         0.0118         -0.0011         -0.0031           331         Instruments         -0.003         0.001         -0.0011         -0.003           7         Computer services         -0.052         -0.012         -0.004         -0.005           7         Computer services         -0.052         -0.021         -0.004         -0.005           7         Computer services         -0.022         -0.001         -0.006         0.052           7         Computer services         -0.021         -0.014         -0.004         0.002         -0.005           22         Printing & Publishing         -0.021         -0.014         -0.004         -0.005         -0.001           31.31.3         Electrical machinery         -0.026         -0.001         -0.006         -0.004           35.3         Aitreaft         -0.011         -0.026         -0.010         0.000         -0.001           35.3         Aitreaft         -0.011         -0.026         -0.010         0.003         -0.001           35.2         Retail trade         0.317         0.2280         0.055         0.000         -0.023           36         Banks	322	Communication eq.	-0.002	-0.017	0.000	0.002	0.009
33.1         Instruments         -0.003         0.003         -0.001         -0.003           Total ICT-producing services         -0.040         -0.087         0.011         -0.008         0.017           Total ICT-using manufacturing         -0.092         -0.052         -0.022         0.001         -0.009         -0.011           Total ICT-using manufacturing         -0.092         -0.050         -0.001         -0.004         -0.002         -0.004           22         Printing & Publishing         -0.021         -0.014         -0.004         -0.005         -0.001           23.13         Bitectrical machinery         -0.021         -0.014         -0.004         -0.005         -0.001           35.1         Ships         -0.007         0.018         -0.006         -0.001         -0.001         -0.001         -0.001         -0.001         -0.001         -0.001         -0.001         -0.001         -0.001         -0.002         -0.011         -0.022         -0.011         -0.022         -0.011         -0.023         0.000         0.000         -0.001         -0.003         0.000         -0.001         -0.023         -0.011         -0.022         -0.015         -0.033         0.022         -0.033         0.022         -0	323	Radio and TV eq.	0.013	0.000	0.018	-0.001	0.004
Total ICT-producing services         -0.092         -0.097         -0.011         -0.008         0.011         -0.001         0.055           72         Computer services         -0.052         -0.022         0.001         -0.006         0.055           Total ICT-using manufacturing         -0.092         -0.050         -0.004         -0.009         -0.001           18         Apparel         -0.005         -0.001         -0.004         -0.002         -0.004           31-31.3         Electrical machinery         -0.021         -0.014         -0.004         -0.005         -0.001           35.1         Ships         -0.005         -0.001         -0.006         -0.005         -0.001           35.3         Ships         -0.007         0.018         -0.005         -0.001         -0.000         -0.004           36-37         Misc: manufacturing         0.007         0.006         -0.002         -0.010         -0.002         -0.010         -0.002         -0.010         -0.002         -0.010         -0.002         -0.010         -0.002         -0.010         -0.002         -0.013         -0.014         -0.025         0.000         -0.020         -0.015         5.0         S.3         Misc: manufacturing	331	Instruments	-0.003	0.003	-0.001	-0.001	-0.003
64         Telecommunications         -0.040         -0.087         0.011         -0.001         -0.005         0.005           Total ICT-using manufacturing         -0.092         -0.050         -0.011         -0.005         0.002         -0.001         -0.005         0.002           22         Prinning & Publishing         -0.021         -0.014         -0.004         -0.005         0.002           31-31.3         Electrical machinery         -0.021         -0.014         -0.006         -0.005         0.001           35.3         Matches & instruments         -0.007         0.018         -0.006         -0.005         -0.001           35.3         Matches & instruments         -0.007         0.018         -0.006         -0.003         -0.001           35.3         Matches & instruments         -0.007         0.016         -0.003         -0.001         -0.003         -0.001           35.3         Matches & instruments         -0.007         0.006         -0.002         -0.001           35.3         Matches & instruments         -0.007         -0.005         0.000         -0.004           35.3         Matches & instruments         -0.007         -0.005         0.000         -0.002           5	Total IC	l'-producing services	-0.092	-0.109	0.012	-0.008	0.107
1/2         Computer services         -0.052         -0.022         0.0011         -0.009         -0.011           18         Apparel         -0.005         0.002         -0.004         0.002         -0.005           22         Printing & Publishing         -0.021         -0.014         -0.004         -0.005         0.002           31-31.3         Electrical machinery         -0.020         0.001         -0.006         -0.005         -0.001         -0.006         -0.001         -0.006         -0.001         -0.006         -0.001         -0.006         -0.001         -0.001         -0.001         -0.001         -0.001         -0.001         -0.001         -0.001         -0.001         -0.001         -0.003         -0.001         -0.003         -0.001         -0.003         -0.001         -0.003         -0.001         -0.005         -0.001         -0.005         -0.001         -0.005         -0.000         -0.005         -0.001         -0.027         -0.106         51         Wholesale trade         0.237         0.261         0.016         -0.002         -0.018         0.022         -0.016         -0.033         0.017         -0.033         0.001         -0.003         -0.007         65         Banks         0.035         -0	64	Telecommunications	-0.040	-0.087	0.011	-0.001	0.052
Total ICT-using manufacturing         -0.092         -0.051         -0.014         -0.002         -0.001           18         Apparel         -0.005         0.002         -0.004         -0.002         -0.001           29         Machinery         -0.021         -0.014         -0.006         0.002         -0.006           31-31.5         Electrical machinery         -0.020         0.001         -0.006         -0.005           35.3         Aircraft         -0.011         -0.026         0.010         0.000         -0.001           35.3         Aircraft         -0.011         -0.026         0.010         0.003         -0.001           35.3         Aircraft         -0.011         -0.026         0.010         0.003         -0.001           35.3         Aircraft         -0.011         -0.026         0.016         -0.002         -0.016           51         Wholesale trade         0.233         0.261         0.016         -0.002         -0.018           52         Retail trade         0.317         0.280         0.055         0.000         -0.028           65         Banks         0.031         -0.010         0.039         -0.01         0.013         -0.004	12	Computer services	-0.052	-0.022	0.001	-0.006	0.055
18         Apparel         -0.005         0.002         -0.004         0.002         -0.005           22         Printing & Publishing         -0.031         -0.004         -0.005         0.002           31-31.3         Electrical machinery         -0.021         -0.014         -0.004         -0.005         0.002           31-31.3         Blectrical machinery         -0.005         -0.001         0.000         0.000         -0.005           35.1         Ships         -0.005         -0.001         0.000         0.000         -0.004           35.3         Aircraft         -0.011         -0.026         0.010         0.000         -0.004           35.475.9         Railroad and other         0.001         -0.003         0.000         0.000         -0.001           51         Wholesale trade         0.233         0.261         0.016         -0.002         -0.013           65         Barks         0.035         0.011         -0.002         -0.001         -0.003         0.001         -0.004           71         Renting of machinery         0.013         0.015         0.004         -0.012         -0.001         -0.003           71         Rentinery         0.013 <t< td=""><td>Total IC</td><td>Γ-using manufacturing</td><td>-0.092</td><td>-0.050</td><td>-0.011</td><td>-0.009</td><td>-0.011</td></t<>	Total IC	Γ-using manufacturing	-0.092	-0.050	-0.011	-0.009	-0.011
22         Printing & Publishing         -0.031         -0.014         -0.004         -0.005         -0.002           31-31.3         Electrical machinery         -0.020         0.001         -0.006         -0.005         -0.005           33-33.1         Watches & instruments         -0.007         0.018         -0.006         -0.000         -0.000         -0.001           35.1         Ships         -0.001         -0.0026         0.010         0.000         -0.001           35.3         Aircraft         -0.011         -0.026         0.010         0.003         -0.001           36-37         Misc: manufacturing         0.007         0.006         -0.005         0.000         0.000           51         Wholesale trade         0.233         0.261         0.016         -0.002         -0.011           51         Wholesale trade         0.337         0.280         0.055         0.000         -0.020           66         Insurance         -0.020         -0.012         -0.001         0.039         -0.001         -0.037           67         Securities trade         0.355         0.239         0.079         0.018         0.024           71         Renting of machinery         0.0	18	Apparel	-0.005	0.002	-0.004	0.002	-0.005
29         Machinery         -0.021         -0.014         -0.004         -0.005         0.002           33-33.1         Watches & instruments         -0.007         0.018         -0.006         -0.005         -0.011           35.3         Aircraft         -0.001         -0.002         0.000         -0.003         -0.001           35.3         Aircraft         -0.011         -0.026         0.010         0.000         -0.001           35.3         Aircraft         -0.011         -0.026         0.010         0.000         0.004           35.3         Aircraft         -0.011         -0.026         0.015         0.000         0.005           Total ICT-using services         0.893         0.765         0.148         0.022         -0.106           51         Wholesale trade         0.317         0.280         0.055         0.000         -0.020           66         Insurance         -0.020         -0.012         -0.003         0.001         -0.007           67         Securities trade         0.355         0.239         0.079         0.018         0.024           71         Rentingr machinery         0.011         0.010         0.000         -0.001         -0.003 <td>22</td> <td>Printing &amp; Publishing</td> <td>-0.031</td> <td>-0.033</td> <td>-0.001</td> <td>0.003</td> <td>-0.002</td>	22	Printing & Publishing	-0.031	-0.033	-0.001	0.003	-0.002
31-3.1.5       Electrical machinery       -0.020       0.001       -0.001       -0.005       -0.015         33-33.1       Watches & instruments       -0.005       -0.001       0.000       0.000       -0.004         35.3       Aircraft       -0.011       -0.026       0.010       0.000       0.000         35.4       S.P ailroad and other       0.001       -0.0026       0.010       0.000       0.000         36-37       Misc. manufacturing       0.007       0.006       -0.005       0.000       0.005 <b>Total ICT-using services 0.893 0.765 0.148 0.022</b> -0.038         52       Retail trade       0.317       0.280       0.055       0.000       -0.020         65       Banks       0.035       -0.001       -0.002       -0.001       0.039         66       Insurance       -0.020       -0.012       -0.003       0.001       -0.007         67       Securities trade       0.355       0.239       0.079       0.018       0.024         71       Renting of machinery       0.013       0.010       -0.001       0.003       -0.011         74.1-74.3       Professional services       -0.049<	29	Machinery	-0.021	-0.014	-0.004	-0.005	0.002
33-3.1         Watches & instruments         -0.007         0.018         -0.006         -0.003         -0.004           35.1         Ships         -0.001         -0.003         0.000         0.000         -0.004           35.3         Ships         Railroad and other         0.001         -0.003         0.000         0.000         0.001           35.4         Ships         Railroad and other         0.001         -0.003         0.000         0.000         0.004           36-37         Misc. manufacturing         0.007         0.006         -0.005         0.000         -0.002           Total ICT-using services         0.893         0.765         0.148         0.022         -0.038           52         Retail trade         0.317         0.280         0.055         0.000         -0.020           65         Banks         0.035         0.001         -0.002         -0.011         0.001         0.007           66         Insurance         -0.020         -0.012         -0.003         0.001         -0.004           71         Renting machinery         0.011         0.010         0.000         -0.013         -0.004           74.174.3         Profesional services         -0.049 </td <td>31-31.3</td> <td>Electrical machinery</td> <td>-0.020</td> <td>0.001</td> <td>-0.001</td> <td>-0.006</td> <td>0.004</td>	31-31.3	Electrical machinery	-0.020	0.001	-0.001	-0.006	0.004
35.1         Snips         -0.003         -0.001         0.000         0.000         -0.003           35.3         Aircraft         -0.011         -0.026         0.010         0.003         -0.001           35.3         Misc. manufacturing         0.007         0.006         -0.005         0.000         0.004           36.37         Misc. manufacturing         0.007         0.006         -0.005         0.000         0.005           Total ICT-using services         0.893         0.765         0.148         0.022         -0.106           51         Wholesale trade         0.317         0.280         0.055         0.000         -0.021           66         Insurance         -0.020         -0.012         -0.001         0.001         -0.007           67         Securities trade         0.355         0.239         0.079         0.018         0.024           71         Renting of machinery         0.013         0.015         0.004         -0.012         -0.001         -0.003           74.1-74.3         Professional services         -0.049         -0.027         -0.001         0.001         -0.003           71         Renting of machinery         0.003         -0.004         -0	33-33.1	Watches & instruments	-0.007	0.018	-0.006	-0.005	-0.015
3.5.3         Altital         -0.011         -0.025         0.010         0.003         -0.001           36-37         Misc. manufacturing         0.007         0.006         -0.005         0.000         0.005           Total ICT-using services         0.893         0.765         0.148         0.022         -0.106           51         Wholesale trade         0.233         0.261         0.016         -0.002         -0.038           52         Retail trade         0.317         0.280         0.055         0.000         -0.002           65         Banks         0.035         -0.001         -0.002         -0.001         0.039           66         Insurance         -0.020         -0.012         -0.003         0.001         -0.007           67         Securitics trade         0.355         0.239         0.079         0.018         0.024           71         Reting of machinery         0.013         0.010         -0.001         -0.001         -0.001           74.1-74.3         Professional services         -0.049         -0.027         -0.001         0.001         -0.004           15 - Ica Mon-ICT manufacturing         -0.088         -0.010         -0.004         0.000 <t< td=""><td>25.2</td><td>Ships</td><td>-0.005</td><td>-0.001</td><td>0.000</td><td>0.000</td><td>-0.004</td></t<>	25.2	Ships	-0.005	-0.001	0.000	0.000	-0.004
35.2+35.5         Raincautantic dulet         0.001         -0.003         0.000         0.000         0.000           36-37         Misc. manufacturing         0.007         0.006         -0.002         -0.016           51         Wholesale trade         0.233         0.261         0.016         -0.002         -0.038           52         Retail trade         0.317         0.280         0.0055         0.000         -0.020           65         Banks         0.035         0.201         -0.001         -0.001         0.003           66         Insurance         -0.020         -0.012         -0.003         0.001         -0.007           67         Securities trade         0.355         0.239         0.079         0.018         0.024           71         Renting of machinery         0.013         0.010         0.000         -0.001         0.019         -0.026           74.1-74.3         Professional services         -0.049         -0.027         -0.001         0.019         -0.096           70tal Non-ICT manufacturing         -0.008         -0.010         -0.004         -0.001         0.003         -0.011           19         Leather         -0.002         0.000         -0.0	25.2 25.2 25.0	All Crait	-0.011	-0.026	0.010	0.003	-0.001
Jobs         Jobs <th< td=""><td>36.37</td><td>Mise manufacturing</td><td>0.001</td><td>-0.003</td><td>0.000</td><td>0.000</td><td>0.004</td></th<>	36.37	Mise manufacturing	0.001	-0.003	0.000	0.000	0.004
Iotal IC 1-Using Services         0.895         0.765         0.148         0022         -0.106           51         Wholesale trade         0.317         0.280         0.055         0.000         -0.020           65         Banks         0.035         -0.001         -0.002         -0.001         -0.002           66         Insurance         -0.020         -0.012         -0.003         0.001         -0.007           67         Securities trade         0.355         0.239         0.079         0.018         0.024           71         Renting of machinery         0.013         0.015         0.004         -0.001         -0.003           74.1-74.3         Professional services         -0.049         -0.027         -0.001         -0.006         -0.004         -0.006         -0.004         -0.006         -0.004         -0.006         -0.001         -0.006         -0.001         -0.0	50-57		0.007	0.000	-0.005	0.000	0.005
51         Wholesale trade         0.233         0.201         0.016         -0.002         -0.032           52         Retail trade         0.317         0.280         0.055         0.000         -0.020           65         Banks         0.035         -0.001         -0.002         -0.001         -0.003         0.001         -0.007           66         Insurance         -0.020         -0.012         -0.003         0.001         -0.007           67         Securities trade         0.355         0.239         0.079         0.013         0.004           71         Renting of machinery         0.011         0.010         0.000         -0.001         -0.003           74.1-74.3         Professional services         -0.049         -0.027         -0.001         0.019         -0.096           Total Non-ICT manufacturing         -0.088         -0.010         -0.049         -0.026         -0.004           15-16         Food products         -0.003         0.007         -0.003         0.003         -0.001           17         Textiles         -0.003         0.000         -0.001         0.003         -0.001         0.003           20         Wood products         -0.008	Total IC	I-using services	0.893	0.765	0.148	0.022	-0.106
5.2         Refail frade         0.317         0.280         0.035         0.000         -0.020           65         Banks         0.035         -0.001         -0.002         -0.001         0.001         -0.003           66         Insurance         -0.020         -0.012         -0.003         0.001         -0.007           67         Securities trade         0.355         0.239         0.079         0.018         0.024           71         Renting of machinery         0.013         0.015         0.004         -0.001         -0.003           74.1-74.3         Professional services         -0.049         -0.027         -0.001         0.019         -0.096           Total Non-ICT manufacturing         -0.088         -0.010         -0.004         0.000         -0.004         0.000           17         Textiles         -0.003         0.007         -0.003         0.003         -0.011           19         Leather         0.002         0.000         -0.001         0.003         -0.003           20         Wood products         -0.006         0.028         -0.039         -0.018         0.023           21         Paper products         -0.006         0.028         -0.03	51	wholesale trade	0.233	0.261	0.016	-0.002	-0.038
0.03         Balliss         0.053         -0.001         -0.002         -0.001         0.003         0.001         -0.007           66         Insurance         -0.020         -0.013         0.001         -0.001         0.001         -0.007           67         Securities trade         0.355         0.239         0.079         0.018         0.024           71         Renting of machinery         0.013         0.015         0.004         -0.013         -0.004           73         R&D         0.011         0.010         0.000         -0.001         -0.003           74.1-74.3         Professional services         -0.049         -0.027         -0.001         0.019         -0.096           Total Non-ICT manufacturing         -0.088         -0.010         -0.049         -0.026         -0.004           15-16         Food products         -0.007         -0.003         0.007         -0.003         0.003         -0.011           19         Leather         0.002         0.000         -0.001         -0.001         0.003           20         Wood products         -0.016         -0.008         0.000         -0.001         0.003           21         Paper products         -	52	Retail trade	0.317	0.280	0.055	0.000	-0.020
000         Instance         -0.020         -0.012         -0.0012         -0.001         -0.024           67         Securities trade         0.355         0.233         0.079         0.018         0.024           71         Renting of machinery         0.013         0.015         0.004         -0.013         -0.004           73         R&D         0.011         0.010         0.000         -0.001         -0.003           74.1-74.3         Professional services         -0.049         -0.027         -0.001         0.019         -0.096           Total Non-ICT manufacturing         -0.088         -0.004         -0.004         -0.004         -0.001         -0.004           15-16         Food products         -0.003         0.007         -0.003         0.003         -0.011         0.000           19         Leather         0.002         0.000         -0.001         0.003         -0.001         0.003           20         Wood products         -0.016         -0.008         0.000         -0.000         -0.009           23         Petroleum & coke         0.009         0.013         0.000         -0.001         -0.001           26         Stone, clay & glass         0.007	66	Daliks	0.035	-0.001	-0.002	-0.001	0.039
01         Sectimes nucl         0.255         0.257         0.004         -0.013         0.014           71         Renting of machinery         0.013         0.015         0.004         -0.013         -0.004           73         R&D         0.011         0.010         0.000         -0.001         -0.003           74.1-74.3         Professional services         -0.049         -0.027         -0.001         0.019         -0.096           Total Non-ICT manufacturing         -0.088         -0.010         -0.049         -0.026         -0.004           17         Textiles         -0.003         0.007         -0.003         0.003         -0.011           19         Leather         0.002         0.000         -0.001         0.001         0.003           20         Wood products         -0.008         -0.011         0.000         -0.001         0.003           21         Paper products         -0.016         -0.008         0.000         -0.001         0.003           24         Chemicals         -0.006         0.028         -0.039         -0.018         0.022           25         Rubber and plastics         0.007         -0.001         -0.002         0.003         34<	67	Securities trade	-0.020	-0.012	-0.003	0.001	-0.007
73         R&D         0.011         0.010         0.000         -0.001         -0.003           74.1-74.3         Professional services         -0.049         -0.027         -0.001         0.019         -0.003           74.1-74.3         Professional services         -0.067         -0.094         0.030         -0.004         0.000           15-16         Food products         -0.067         -0.094         0.030         -0.004         0.000           17         Textiles         -0.003         0.007         -0.003         0.003         -0.011           19         Leather         0.002         0.000         -0.001         0.003         -0.011           20         Wood products         -0.016         -0.008         -0.011         0.000         -0.001         0.003           21         Paper products         -0.016         -0.008         0.000         0.000         -0.003           24         Chemicals         -0.006         0.28         -0.039         -0.118         0.023           25         Rubber and plastics         0.007         -0.001         -0.001         0.009           26         Stone, clay & glass         0.007         -0.001         -0.002         0.	71	Renting of machinery	0.013	0.015	0.075	-0.013	-0.004
74.1-74.3       Professional services       -0.049       -0.027       -0.001       0.019       -0.096         Total Non-ICT manufacturing       -0.088       -0.010       -0.049       -0.026       -0.004         15-16       Food products       -0.003       0.007       -0.003       0.003       -0.001       0.000         17       Textiles       -0.003       0.007       -0.003       0.003       -0.011         19       Leather       0.002       0.000       -0.001       0.001       0.003         20       Wood products       -0.016       -0.008       0.000       -0.000       -0.001         21       Paper products       -0.016       -0.008       0.000       -0.009       -0.033         24       Chemicals       -0.006       0.028       -0.039       -0.018       0.023         25       Rubber and plastics       0.007       -0.001       -0.001       0.009       -0.018       0.023         26       Stone, clay & glass       0.007       -0.001       -0.002       0.009         27       Basic metals       0.019       -0.015       -0.010       -0.027         70       Rabrizated metal products       -0.023       0.017 </td <td>73</td> <td>R&amp;D</td> <td>0.013</td> <td>0.010</td> <td>0.000</td> <td>-0.001</td> <td>-0.003</td>	73	R&D	0.013	0.010	0.000	-0.001	-0.003
Total Non-ICT manufacturing         -0.088         -0.010         -0.049         -0.026         -0.004           15-16         Food products         -0.003         0.007         -0.003         0.003         -0.004         0.000           17         Textiles         -0.003         0.007         -0.003         0.003         -0.001         0.005           20         Wood products         -0.008         -0.011         0.000         -0.001         0.003           21         Paper products         -0.016         -0.008         0.000         0.000         -0.003           23         Petroleum & coke         0.009         0.013         0.000         0.000         -0.006           24         Chemicals         -0.006         0.028         -0.039         -0.018         0.023           25         Rubber and plastics         0.004         0.016         -0.003         -0.002         0.009           26         Stone, clay & glass         0.007         -0.001         -0.001         -0.002         0.003           34         Motor vehicles         -0.023         0.015         -0.011         0.001         -0.027           Total Non-ICT services         -0.144         0.029         0.047<	74 1-74 3	Professional services	-0.049	-0.027	-0.001	0.019	-0.096
Ion for the minimum ing         0.000         0.000         0.000         0.000           15-16         Food products         -0.067         -0.093         0.003         -0.004         0.000           17         Textiles         -0.003         0.007         -0.003         0.003         -0.011           19         Leather         0.002         0.000         -0.001         -0.001         0.005           20         Wood products         -0.016         -0.008         0.000         -0.001         0.003           21         Paper products         -0.016         -0.008         0.000         0.000         -0.003           23         Petroleum & coke         0.009         0.013         0.000         0.000         -0.003           24         Chemicals         -0.006         0.028         -0.039         -0.018         0.023           25         Rubber and plastics         0.007         0.009         -0.010         -0.001         0.009           26         Stone, clay & glass         0.019         0.015         -0.003         -0.002         0.003           34         Motor vehicles         -0.023         0.015         -0.011         0.004         -0.043	Total Nor	ICT manufacturing	-0.088	-0.010	-0 049	-0.026	-0.004
17       Textiles       -0.003       0.007       -0.003       0.001       -0.001         19       Leather       0.002       0.000       -0.001       -0.001       0.001         20       Wood products       -0.008       -0.011       0.000       -0.001       0.003         21       Paper products       -0.016       -0.008       0.000       0.000       -0.003         23       Petroleum & coke       0.009       0.013       0.000       0.000       -0.003         24       Chemicals       -0.006       0.028       -0.005       0.000       -0.006         25       Rubber and plastics       0.007       0.009       -0.010       -0.001       0.009         27       Basic metals       0.019       0.015       -0.003       -0.002       0.009         28       Fabricated metal products       -0.007       -0.001       -0.007       -0.002       0.003         34       Motor vehicles       -0.012       0.047       -0.053       -0.266         50       Repairs       -0.050       -0.057       0.007       -0.001       -0.006         55       Hotels & restaurants       -0.012       0.047       -0.008       -0.01	15-16	Food products	-0.067	-0.010	0.030	-0.020	0.000
19         Leather         0.002         0.000         -0.001         -0.001         0.001           20         Wood products         -0.008         -0.011         0.000         -0.001         0.003           21         Paper products         -0.016         -0.008         0.000         0.000         -0.003           23         Petroleum & coke         0.009         0.013         0.000         0.000         -0.003           24         Chemicals         -0.006         0.028         -0.039         -0.018         0.023           25         Rubber and plastics         0.004         0.016         -0.005         0.000         -0.006           26         Stone, clay & glass         0.007         0.009         -0.010         -0.002         0.009           27         Basic metals         0.019         0.015         -0.003         -0.002         0.003           34         Motor vehicles         -0.023         0.015         -0.011         0.001         -0.027           Total Non-ICT services         -0.114         0.029         0.047         -0.053         -0.266           50         Repairs         -0.050         -0.057         0.007         -0.001         -0.043	17	Textiles	-0.003	0.007	-0.003	0.003	-0.011
20         Wood products         -0.008         -0.011         0.000         -0.001         0.003           21         Paper products         -0.016         -0.008         0.000         0.000         -0.009           23         Petroleum & coke         0.009         0.013         0.000         0.000         -0.003           24         Chemicals         -0.006         0.028         -0.039         -0.018         0.023           25         Rubber and plastics         0.004         0.016         -0.005         0.000         -0.006           26         Stone, clay & glass         0.007         0.009         -0.010         -0.001         0.009           27         Basic metals         0.019         0.015         -0.003         -0.002         0.003           28         Fabricated metal products         -0.007         -0.001         -0.002         0.003           34         Motor vehicles         -0.023         0.015         -0.011         0.001         -0.027           Total Non-ICT services         -0.144         0.029         0.047         -0.008         -0.011         -0.006           55         Hotels & restaurants         -0.010         -0.016         -0.011         -0.0	19	Leather	0.002	0.000	-0.001	-0.001	0.005
21         Paper products         -0.016         -0.008         0.000         0.000         -0.009           23         Petroleum & coke         0.009         0.013         0.000         0.000         -0.003           24         Chemicals         -0.006         0.028         -0.039         -0.018         0.023           25         Rubber and plastics         0.004         0.016         -0.005         0.000         -0.006           26         Stone, clay & glass         0.007         0.009         -0.010         -0.001         0.009           27         Basic metals         0.019         0.015         -0.003         -0.002         0.003           28         Fabricated metal products         -0.007         -0.001         -0.001         -0.027           Total Non-ICT services         -0.144         0.029         0.047         -0.053         -0.266           50         Repairs         -0.012         0.047         -0.008         -0.011         -0.006           55         Hotels & restaurants         -0.012         0.047         -0.008         -0.011         -0.043           60-63         Transportation         -0.019         -0.010         -0.016         -0.006         0.01	20	Wood products	-0.008	-0.011	0.000	-0.001	0.003
23         Petroleum & coke         0.009         0.013         0.000         0.000         -0.003           24         Chemicals         -0.006         0.028         -0.039         -0.018         0.023           25         Rubber and plastics         0.004         0.016         -0.005         0.000         -0.006           26         Stone, clay & glass         0.007         0.009         -0.010         -0.001         0.009           27         Basic metals         0.019         0.015         -0.003         -0.002         0.009           28         Fabricated metal products         -0.007         -0.001         -0.007         -0.002         0.003           34         Motor vehicles         -0.023         0.015         -0.011         0.001         -0.027           Total Non-ICT services         -0.144         0.029         0.047         -0.053         -0.266           50         Repairs         -0.012         0.047         -0.008         -0.011         -0.043           60-63         Transportation         -0.019         -0.010         -0.016         -0.004         -0.144           74.9         Other business services         0.021         0.028         0.002         -0	21	Paper products	-0.016	-0.008	0.000	0.000	-0.009
24         Chemicals         -0.006         0.028         -0.039         -0.018         0.023           25         Rubber and plastics         0.004         0.016         -0.005         0.000         -0.006           26         Stone, clay & glass         0.007         0.009         -0.010         -0.001         0.009           27         Basic metals         0.019         0.015         -0.003         -0.002         0.009           28         Fabricated metal products         -0.007         -0.001         -0.007         -0.002         0.003           34         Motor vehicles         -0.023         0.015         -0.011         0.001         -0.027           Total Non-ICT services         -0.144         0.029         0.047         -0.053         -0.266           50         Repairs         -0.050         -0.057         0.007         -0.001         -0.043           60-63         Transportation         -0.019         -0.010         -0.016         -0.004         -0.144           70         Real estate         0.089         0.232         0.007         -0.004         -0.144           74.9         Other business services         0.021         0.028         0.002         -0.030	23	Petroleum & coke	0.009	0.013	0.000	0.000	-0.003
25Rubber and plastics $0.004$ $0.016$ $-0.005$ $0.000$ $-0.006$ 26Stone, clay & glass $0.007$ $0.009$ $-0.010$ $-0.001$ $0.009$ 27Basic metals $0.019$ $0.015$ $-0.003$ $-0.002$ $0.009$ 28Fabricated metal products $-0.007$ $-0.001$ $-0.007$ $-0.002$ $0.003$ 34Motor vehicles $-0.023$ $0.015$ $-0.011$ $0.001$ $-0.027$ Total Non-ICT services $-0.144$ $0.029$ $0.047$ $-0.053$ $-0.266$ 50Repairs $-0.050$ $-0.057$ $0.007$ $-0.001$ $-0.006$ 55Hotels & restaurants $-0.012$ $0.047$ $-0.008$ $-0.011$ $-0.043$ 60-63Transportation $-0.019$ $-0.010$ $-0.016$ $-0.006$ $0.013$ 70Real estate $0.089$ $0.232$ $0.007$ $-0.004$ $-0.144$ 74.9Other business services $0.021$ $0.028$ $0.002$ $-0.030$ $0.004$ 75Government $-0.061$ $-0.074$ $0.037$ $0.001$ $-0.026$ 80Education $0.013$ $-0.020$ $0.014$ $0.001$ $0.018$ 85Health $-0.064$ $-0.041$ $0.000$ $0.003$ $-0.027$ 90-93Personal & social services $-0.061$ $-0.057$ $-0.069$ $0.005$ $0.243$ 01-05Agriculture $0.048$ $0.055$ $-0.057$ $-0.008$ $0.059$	24	Chemicals	-0.006	0.028	-0.039	-0.018	0.023
26Stone, clay & glass $0.007$ $0.009$ $-0.010$ $-0.001$ $0.009$ $27$ Basic metals $0.019$ $0.015$ $-0.003$ $-0.002$ $0.009$ $28$ Fabricated metal products $-0.007$ $-0.001$ $-0.007$ $-0.002$ $0.003$ $34$ Motor vehicles $-0.023$ $0.015$ $-0.011$ $0.001$ $-0.027$ <b>Total Non-ICT services</b> $-0.144$ $0.029$ $0.047$ $-0.053$ $-0.266$ $50$ Repairs $-0.050$ $-0.057$ $0.007$ $-0.001$ $-0.006$ $55$ Hotels & restaurants $-0.012$ $0.047$ $-0.008$ $-0.011$ $-0.043$ $60-63$ Transportation $-0.019$ $-0.010$ $-0.016$ $-0.006$ $0.013$ $70$ Real estate $0.089$ $0.232$ $0.007$ $-0.004$ $-0.144$ $74.9$ Other business services $0.021$ $0.028$ $0.002$ $-0.030$ $0.004$ $75$ Government $-0.061$ $-0.074$ $0.037$ $0.001$ $-0.026$ $80$ Education $0.013$ $-0.020$ $0.014$ $0.001$ $0.018$ $85$ Health $-0.064$ $-0.041$ $0.000$ $0.003$ $-0.027$ $90-93$ Personal & social services $-0.061$ $-0.075$ $0.003$ $-0.006$ $0.055$ $Total Non-ICT other industries0.133-0.045-0.0690.0050.24301-05Agriculture0.0480.055-0.057-0.0$	25	Rubber and plastics	0.004	0.016	-0.005	0.000	-0.006
27Basic metals $0.019$ $0.015$ $-0.003$ $-0.002$ $0.009$ 28Fabricated metal products $-0.007$ $-0.001$ $-0.007$ $-0.002$ $0.003$ 34Motor vehicles $-0.023$ $0.015$ $-0.011$ $0.001$ $-0.027$ Total Non-ICT services $-0.144$ $0.029$ $0.047$ $-0.053$ $-0.266$ 50Repairs $-0.050$ $-0.057$ $0.007$ $-0.001$ $-0.006$ 55Hotels & restaurants $-0.012$ $0.047$ $-0.008$ $-0.011$ $-0.043$ 60-63Transportation $-0.019$ $-0.010$ $-0.016$ $-0.006$ $0.013$ 70Real estate $0.089$ $0.232$ $0.007$ $-0.004$ $-0.144$ 74.9Other business services $0.021$ $0.028$ $0.002$ $-0.030$ $0.004$ 75Government $-0.061$ $-0.074$ $0.037$ $0.001$ $-0.026$ 80Education $0.013$ $-0.020$ $0.014$ $0.001$ $0.018$ 85Health $-0.064$ $-0.041$ $0.000$ $0.003$ $-0.027$ 90-93Personal & social services $-0.061$ $-0.075$ $0.003$ $-0.006$ $0.055$ Total Non-ICT other industries $0.133$ $-0.045$ $-0.069$ $0.005$ $0.243$ 01-05Agriculture $0.048$ $0.055$ $-0.057$ $-0.008$ $0.059$ 10-14Mining $-0.031$ $-0.049$ $-0.014$ $-0.004$ $0.026$ <td>26</td> <td>Stone, clay &amp; glass</td> <td>0.007</td> <td>0.009</td> <td>-0.010</td> <td>-0.001</td> <td>0.009</td>	26	Stone, clay & glass	0.007	0.009	-0.010	-0.001	0.009
28         Fabricated metal products         -0.007         -0.001         -0.007         -0.002         0.003           34         Motor vehicles         -0.023         0.015         -0.011         0.001         -0.027           Total Non-ICT services         -0.144         0.029         0.047         -0.053         -0.266           50         Repairs         -0.050         -0.057         0.007         -0.001         -0.006           55         Hotels & restaurants         -0.012         0.047         -0.008         -0.011         -0.043           60-63         Transportation         -0.019         -0.010         -0.016         -0.006         0.013           70         Real estate         0.089         0.232         0.007         -0.004         -0.144           74.9         Other business services         0.021         0.028         0.002         -0.030         0.004           75         Government         -0.061         -0.074         0.037         0.001         -0.026           80         Education         0.013         -0.020         0.014         0.001         0.018           85         Health         -0.064         -0.041         0.000         0.003	27	Basic metals	0.019	0.015	-0.003	-0.002	0.009
34Motor vehicles $-0.023$ $0.015$ $-0.011$ $0.001$ $-0.027$ Total Non-ICT services $-0.144$ $0.029$ $0.047$ $-0.053$ $-0.266$ $50$ Repairs $-0.050$ $-0.057$ $0.007$ $-0.001$ $-0.006$ $55$ Hotels & restaurants $-0.012$ $0.047$ $-0.008$ $-0.011$ $-0.043$ $60-63$ Transportation $-0.019$ $-0.010$ $-0.016$ $-0.006$ $0.013$ $70$ Real estate $0.089$ $0.232$ $0.007$ $-0.004$ $-0.144$ $74.9$ Other business services $0.021$ $0.028$ $0.002$ $-0.030$ $0.004$ $75$ Government $-0.061$ $-0.074$ $0.037$ $0.001$ $-0.026$ $80$ Education $0.013$ $-0.020$ $0.014$ $0.001$ $0.018$ $85$ Health $-0.064$ $-0.041$ $0.000$ $0.003$ $-0.027$ $90-93$ Personal & social services $-0.061$ $-0.075$ $0.003$ $-0.006$ $0.243$ $01-05$ Agriculture $0.048$ $0.055$ $-0.057$ $-0.008$ $0.059$ $10-14$ Mining $-0.031$ $-0.049$ $-0.014$ $-0.004$ $0.026$ $45$ Construction $0.157$ $0.002$ $0.003$ $0.010$ $0.154$	28	Fabricated metal products	-0.007	-0.001	-0.007	-0.002	0.003
Total Non-ICT services         -0.144         0.029         0.047         -0.053         -0.266           50         Repairs         -0.050         -0.057         0.007         -0.001         -0.006           55         Hotels & restaurants         -0.012         0.047         -0.008         -0.011         -0.043           60-63         Transportation         -0.019         -0.010         -0.016         -0.006         0.013           70         Real estate         0.089         0.232         0.007         -0.004         -0.144           74.9         Other business services         0.021         0.028         0.002         -0.030         0.004           75         Government         -0.061         -0.074         0.037         0.001         -0.026           80         Education         0.013         -0.020         0.014         0.001         0.018           85         Health         -0.064         -0.041         0.000         0.003         -0.027           90-93         Personal & social services         -0.061         -0.075         0.003         -0.006         -0.055           Total Non-ICT other industries         0.133         -0.045         -0.069         0.005	34	Motor vehicles	-0.023	0.015	-0.011	0.001	-0.027
50Repairs $-0.050$ $-0.057$ $0.007$ $-0.001$ $-0.006$ 55Hotels & restaurants $-0.012$ $0.047$ $-0.008$ $-0.011$ $-0.043$ 60-63Transportation $-0.019$ $-0.010$ $-0.016$ $-0.006$ $0.013$ 70Real estate $0.089$ $0.232$ $0.007$ $-0.004$ $-0.144$ 74.9Other business services $0.021$ $0.028$ $0.002$ $-0.030$ $0.004$ 75Government $-0.061$ $-0.074$ $0.037$ $0.001$ $-0.026$ 80Education $0.013$ $-0.020$ $0.014$ $0.001$ $0.018$ 85Health $-0.064$ $-0.041$ $0.000$ $0.003$ $-0.027$ 90-93Personal & social services $-0.061$ $-0.075$ $0.003$ $-0.006$ $-0.055$ Total Non-ICT other industries $0.133$ $-0.045$ $-0.069$ $0.005$ $0.243$ 01-05Agriculture $0.048$ $0.055$ $-0.057$ $-0.008$ $0.59$ 10-14Mining $-0.031$ $-0.049$ $-0.014$ $-0.004$ $0.026$ 45Construction $0.157$ $0.002$ $0.003$ $0.010$ $0.154$	Total No	n-ICT services	-0.144	0.029	0.047	-0.053	-0.266
55Hotels & restaurants $-0.012$ $0.047$ $-0.008$ $-0.011$ $-0.043$ 60-63Transportation $-0.019$ $-0.010$ $-0.016$ $-0.006$ $0.013$ 70Real estate $0.089$ $0.232$ $0.007$ $-0.004$ $-0.144$ 74.9Other business services $0.021$ $0.028$ $0.002$ $-0.030$ $0.004$ 75Government $-0.061$ $-0.074$ $0.037$ $0.001$ $-0.026$ 80Education $0.013$ $-0.020$ $0.014$ $0.001$ $0.018$ 85Health $-0.064$ $-0.041$ $0.000$ $0.003$ $-0.027$ 90-93Personal & social services $-0.061$ $-0.075$ $0.003$ $-0.006$ $-0.055$ Total Non-ICT other industries $0.133$ $-0.045$ $-0.069$ $0.005$ $0.243$ 01-05Agriculture $0.048$ $0.055$ $-0.057$ $-0.008$ $0.59$ 10-14Mining $-0.031$ $-0.049$ $-0.014$ $-0.004$ $0.026$ 45Construction $0.157$ $0.002$ $0.003$ $0.010$ $0.154$	50	Repairs	-0.050	-0.057	0.007	-0.001	-0.006
60-63       Transportation       -0.019       -0.010       -0.016       -0.006       0.013         70       Real estate       0.089       0.232       0.007       -0.004       -0.144         74.9       Other business services       0.021       0.028       0.002       -0.030       0.004         75       Government       -0.061       -0.074       0.037       0.001       -0.026         80       Education       0.013       -0.020       0.014       0.001       0.018         85       Health       -0.064       -0.041       0.000       0.003       -0.027         90-93       Personal & social services       -0.061       -0.075       0.003       -0.006       -0.055         Total Non-ICT other industries       0.133       -0.045       -0.069       0.005       0.243         01-05       Agriculture       0.048       0.055       -0.057       -0.008       0.059         10-14       Mining       -0.031       -0.049       -0.014       -0.004       0.026         45       Construction       0.157       0.003       0.014       0.014       0.016	55	Hotels & restaurants	-0.012	0.047	-0.008	-0.011	-0.043
70Real estate $0.089$ $0.232$ $0.007$ $-0.004$ $-0.144$ 74.9Other business services $0.021$ $0.028$ $0.002$ $-0.030$ $0.004$ 75Government $-0.061$ $-0.074$ $0.037$ $0.001$ $-0.026$ 80Education $0.013$ $-0.020$ $0.014$ $0.001$ $0.018$ 85Health $-0.064$ $-0.041$ $0.000$ $0.003$ $-0.027$ 90-93Personal & social services $-0.061$ $-0.075$ $0.003$ $-0.006$ $-0.055$ Total Non-ICT other industries $0.133$ $-0.045$ $-0.069$ $0.005$ $0.243$ 01-05Agriculture $0.048$ $0.055$ $-0.057$ $-0.008$ $0.059$ 10-14Mining $-0.031$ $-0.049$ $0.005$ $0.007$ $0.005$ 40-41Utilities $-0.041$ $-0.049$ $-0.014$ $-0.004$ $0.226$	60-63	Transportation	-0.019	-0.010	-0.016	-0.006	0.013
74.9       Other business services $0.021$ $0.028$ $0.002$ $-0.030$ $0.004$ 75       Government $-0.061$ $-0.074$ $0.037$ $0.001$ $-0.026$ 80       Education $0.013$ $-0.020$ $0.014$ $0.001$ $0.018$ 85       Health $-0.064$ $-0.041$ $0.000$ $0.003$ $-0.027$ 90-93       Personal & social services $-0.061$ $-0.075$ $0.003$ $-0.006$ $-0.055$ Total Non-ICT other industries $0.133$ $-0.045$ $-0.069$ $0.005$ $0.243$ 01-05       Agriculture $0.048$ $0.055$ $-0.057$ $-0.008$ $0.059$ 10-14       Mining $-0.041$ $-0.049$ $-0.014$ $-0.004$ $0.026$ 45       Construction $0.157$ $0.002$ $0.003$ $0.010$ $0.154$	70	Real estate	0.089	0.232	0.007	-0.004	-0.144
75       Government       -0.061       -0.074       0.037       0.001       -0.026         80       Education       0.013       -0.020       0.014       0.001       0.018         85       Health       -0.064       -0.041       0.000       0.003       -0.027         90-93       Personal & social services       -0.061       -0.075       0.003       -0.006       -0.055         Total Non-ICT other industries       0.133       -0.045       -0.069       0.005       0.243         01-05       Agriculture       0.048       0.055       -0.057       -0.008       0.059         10-14       Mining       -0.041       -0.049       0.005       0.007       0.005         40-41       Utilities       -0.041       -0.049       -0.014       -0.004       0.026	74.9	Other business services	0.021	0.028	0.002	-0.030	0.004
80         Education         0.013         -0.020         0.014         0.001         0.018           85         Health         -0.064         -0.041         0.000         0.003         -0.027           90-93         Personal & social services         -0.061         -0.075         0.003         -0.006         -0.055           Total Non-ICT other industries         0.133         -0.045         -0.069         0.005         0.243           01-05         Agriculture         0.048         0.055         -0.057         -0.008         0.059           10-14         Mining         -0.041         -0.049         0.005         0.007         0.005           40-41         Utilities         -0.041         -0.049         -0.014         -0.004         0.026           45         Construction         0.157         0.002         0.003         0.010         0.154	/5	Government	-0.061	-0.0/4	0.037	0.001	-0.026
o.5         realm         -0.004         -0.041         0.000         0.005         -0.027           90-93         Personal & social services         -0.061         -0.075         0.003         -0.006         -0.055           Total Non-ICT other industries         0.133         -0.045         -0.069         0.005         0.243           01-05         Agriculture         0.048         0.055         -0.057         -0.008         0.059           10-14         Mining         -0.031         -0.049         0.005         0.007         0.005           40-41         Utilities         -0.041         -0.049         -0.014         -0.004         0.026	80	Education	0.013	-0.020	0.014	0.001	0.018
50-55         reisonal & social services         -0.061         -0.075         0.005         -0.006         -0.055           Total Non-ICT other industries         0.133         -0.045         -0.069         0.005         0.243           01-05         Agriculture         0.048         0.055         -0.057         -0.008         0.059           10-14         Mining         -0.031         -0.049         0.005         0.007         0.005           40-41         Utilities         -0.041         -0.049         -0.014         -0.004         0.026           45         Construction         0.157         0.002         0.003         0.010         0.154	00 02	Dersonal & social correios	-0.004	-0.041	0.000	0.005	-0.027
1 otal Non-IC 1 other industries         0.155         -0.045         -0.069         0.005         0.243           01-05         Agriculture         0.048         0.055         -0.057         -0.008         0.059           10-14         Mining         -0.031         -0.049         0.005         0.007         0.005           40-41         Utilities         -0.041         -0.049         -0.014         -0.004         0.026           45         Construction         0.157         0.002         0.003         0.010         0.154	70-93		-0.001	-0.075	0.003	-0.000	-0.035
01-05         Agriculture         0.048         0.055         -0.057         -0.008         0.059           10-14         Mining         -0.031         -0.049         0.005         0.007         0.005           40-41         Utilities         -0.041         -0.049         -0.014         -0.004         0.026           45         Construction         0.157         0.002         0.003         0.010         0.154	Total Noi	n-ICT other industries	0.133	-0.045	-0.069	0.005	0.243
10-14     Mining     -0.031     -0.049     0.005     0.007     0.005       40-41     Utilities     -0.041     -0.049     -0.014     -0.004     0.026       45     Construction     0.157     0.002     0.003     0.010     0.154	01-05	Agriculture	0.048	0.055	-0.057	-0.008	0.059
40-41 Oundes -0.041 -0.049 -0.014 -0.004 0.026	10-14	Ivining	-0.031	-0.049	0.005	0.007	0.005
	40-41	Construction	0.041	-0.049	-0.014	-0.004	0.020

## Papers issued in the series of the Groningen Growth and Development Centre

Papers marked \* are also available in pdf-format on the internet: http://www.eco.rug.nl/ggdc/

536 (GD-1) Maddison, Angus and Harry van Ooststroom, The International Comparison of Value Added, Productivity and Purchasing Power Parities in Agriculture (1993)537 (GD-2) Mulder, Nanno and Angus Maddison, The International Comparison of Performance in Distribution: Value Added, Labour Productivity and PPPs in Mexican and US Wholesale and Retail Trade 1975/7 (1993) 538 (GD-3) Szirmai, Adam, Comparative Performance in Indonesian Manufacturing, 1975-90 (1993) 549 (GD-4) de Jong, Herman J., Prices, Real Value Added and Productivity in Dutch Manufacturing, 1921-1960 (1993) 550 (GD-5) Beintema, Nienke and Bart van Ark, Comparative Productivity in East and West German Manufacturing before Reunification (1993) Maddison, Angus and Bart van Ark, The International Comparison of Real 567 (GD-6) Product and Productivity (1994) de Jong, Gjalt, An International Comparison of Real Output and Labour 568 (GD-7) Productivity in Manufacturing in Ecuador and the United States, 1980 (1994) van Ark, Bart and Angus Maddison, An International Comparison of Real 569 (GD-8) Output, Purchasing Power and Labour Productivity in Manufacturing Industries: Brazil, Mexico and the USA in 1975 (1994) (second edition) 570 (GD-9) Maddison, Angus, Standardised Estimates of Fixed Capital Stock: A Six Country Comparison (1994) van Ark, Bart and Remco D.J. Kouwenhoven, Productivity in French 571 (GD-10) Manufacturing: An International Comparative Perspective (1994) Gersbach, Hans and Bart van Ark, Micro Foundations for International 572 (GD-11) Productivity Comparisons (1994) Albers, Ronald, Adrian Clemens and Peter Groote, Can Growth Theory 573 (GD-12) Contribute to Our Understanding of Nineteenth Century Economic Dynamics (1994)de Jong, Herman J. and Ronald Albers, Industrial Output and Labour Produc-574 (GD-13) tivity in the Netherlands, 1913-1929: Some Neglected Issues (1994) 575 (GD-14) Mulder, Nanno, New Perspectives on Service Output and Productivity: A Comparison of French and US Productivity in Transport, Communications Wholesale and Retail Trade (1994) Maddison, Angus, Economic Growth and Standards of Living in the Twentieth 576 (GD-15) Century (1994) 577 (GD-16) Gales, Ben, In Foreign Parts: Free-Standing Companies in the Netherlands around the First World War (1994) 578 (GD-17) Mulder, Nanno, Output and Productivity in Brazilian Distribution: A Comparative View (1994)

579 (GD-18)	Mulder, Nanno, Transport and Communication in Mexico and the United States:
	Value Added, Purchasing Power Parities and Productivity (1994)
580 (GD-19)	Mulder, Nanno, Transport and Communications Output and Productivity in Brazil and the USA 1950-1990 (1995)
581 (GD-20)	Szirmaj Adam and Ren Rugen China's Manufacturing Performance in
501 (OD 20)	Comparative Perspective, 1980-1992 (1995)
GD-21	Fremdling, Rainer, Anglo-German Rivalry on Coal Markets in France, the
	Netherlands and Germany, 1850-1913 (December 1995)
GD-22	Tassenaar, Vincent, Regional Differences in Standard of Living in the
	Netherlands, 1800-1875. A Study Based on Anthropometric Data (December
	1995)
GD-23	van Ark, Bart, Sectoral Growth Accounting and Structural Change in Postwar
	Europe (December 1995)
GD-24	Groote, Peter, Jan Jacobs and Jan Egbert Sturm, Output Responses to Infra-
	structure in the Netherlands, 1850-1913 (December 1995)
GD-25	Groote, Peter, Ronald Albers and Herman de Jong, A Standardised Time Series
	of the Stock of Fixed Capital in the Netherlands, 1900-1995 (May 1996)
GD-26	van Ark, Bart and Herman de Jong, Accounting for Economic Growth in the
	Netherlands since 1913 (May 1996)
GD-27*	Maddison, Angus and D.S. Prasada Rao, A Generalized Approach to Internati-
	onal Comparisons of Agricultural Output and Productivity (May 1996)
GD-28	van Ark, Bart, Issues in Measurement and International Comparison of
	Productivity - An Overview (May 1996)
GD-29*	Kouwenhoven, Remco, A Comparison of Soviet and US Industrial Perfor-
	mance, 1928-90 (May 1996)
GD-30	Fremdling, Rainer, Industrial Revolution and Scientific and Technological
	Progress (December 1996)
GD-31	Timmer, Marcel, On the Reliability of Unit Value Ratios in International
	Comparisons (December 1996)
GD-32	de Jong, Gjalt, Canada's Post-War Manufacturing Performance: A Comparison
	with the United States (December 1996)
GD-33	Lindlar, Ludger, "1968" and the German Economy (January 1997)
GD-34	Albers, Ronald, Human Capital and Economic Growth: Operationalising
	Growth Theory, with Special Reference to The Netherlands in the 19th Century
	(June 1997)
GD-35	Brinkman, Henk-Jan, J.W. Drukker and Brigitte Slot, GDP per Capita and the
	Biological Standard of Living in Contemporary Developing Countries (June
	1997)
GD-36	de Jong, Herman, and Antoon Soete, Comparative Productivity and Structural
	Change in Belgian and Dutch Manufacturing, 1937-1987 (June 1997)
GD-37	Timmer, M.P., and A. Szirmai, Growth and Divergence in Manufacturing
	Performance in South and East Asia (June 1997)
GD-38*	van Ark, B., and J. de Haan, The Delta-Model Revisited: Recent Trends in
	the Structural Performance of the Dutch Economy (December 1997)

GD-39*	van der Eng, P., Economics Benefits from Colonial Assets: The Case of the Netherlands and Indonesia, 1870, 1958 (June 1998)
GD 40*	Timmer Marcel P. Catch Up Patterns in Newly Industrializing Countries. An
0D-40	International Comparison of Manufacturing Productivity in Taiwan 1961-
	1003 (July 1008)
GD /1*	van Ark Bart Economic Growth and Labour Productivity in Europe: Half a
00-41	Century of East-West Comparisons (October 1999)
CD 42*	Smite Jan Pieter, Horman do Jong and Bart van Ark. Throe Phases of Dutch
UD-42 <sup>+</sup>	Economic Growth and Technological Change, 1815-1997 (October 1999)
GD-43*	Fremdling, Rainer, Historical Precedents of Global Markets (October 1999)
GD-44*	van Ark, Bart, Lourens Broersma and Gjalt de Jong, Innovation in Services.
	Overview of Data Sources and Analytical Structures (October 1999)
GD-45*	Broersma, Lourens and Robert McGuckin, The Impact of Computers on
	Productivity in the Trade Sector: Explorations with Dutch Microdata (October
	1999, Revised version June 2000)
GD-46*	Sleifer, Jaap, Separated Unity: The East and West German Industrial Sector in
	1936 (November 1999)
GD-47*	Rao, D.S. Prasada and Marcel Timmer, Multilateralisation of Manufacturing
	Sector Comparisons: Issues, Methods and Empirical Results (July 2000)
GD-48*	Vikström, Peter, Long term Patterns in Swedish Growth and Structural
	Change, 1870-1990 (July 2001)
GD-49*	Wu, Harry X., Comparative labour productivity performance in Chinese
	manufacturing, 1952-1997: An ICOP PPP Approach (July 2001)
GD-50*	Monnikhof, Erik and Bart van Ark, New Estimates of Labour Productivity in
	the Manufacturing Sectors of Czech Republic, Hungary and Poland, 1996
	(January 2002)
GD-51*	van Ark, Bart, Robert Inklaar and Marcel Timmer, The Canada-US
	Manufacturing Gap Revisited: New ICOP Results (January 2002)
GD-52*	Mulder, Nanno, Sylvie Montout and Luis Peres Lopes, Brazil and Mexico's
	Manufacturing Performance in International Perspective, 1970-98 (January
	2002)
GD-53*	Szirmai, Adam, Francis Yamfwa and Chibwe Lwamba, Zambian Manufacturing
	Performance in Comparative Perspective (January 2002)
GD-54*	Fremdling, Rainer, European Railways 1825-2001, an Overview (August
	2002)
GD-55*	Fremdling, Rainer, Foreign Trade-Transfer-Adaptation: The British Iron
	Making Technology on the Continent (Belgium and France) (August 2002)
GD-56*	van Ark, Bart, Johanna Melka, Nanno Mulder, Marcel Timmer and Gerard
	Ypma, ICT Investments and Growth Accounts for the European Union 1980-
	2000 (September 2002)
GD-57*	Sleifer, Jaap, A Benchmark Comparison of East and West German
	Industrial Labour Productivity in 1954 (October 2002)
GD-58*	van Dijk, Michiel, South African Manufacturing Performance in International
	Perspective, 1970-1999 (November 2002)

 GD-59\* Szirmai, A., M. Prins and W. Schulte, Tanzanian Manufacturing Performance in Comparative Perspective (November 2002)
 GD-60\* van Ark, Bart, Robert Inklaar and Robert McGuckin, "Changing Gear" Productivity, ICT and Services: Europe and the United States (December 2002)

## Groningen Growth and Development Centre Research Monographs:

Monographs marked \* are also available in pdf-format on the internet

No. 1*	van Ark, Bart, International Comparisons of Output and Productivity:
	Manufacturing Productivity Performance of Ten Countries from 1950 to 1990
	(1993) (http://www.eco.rug.nl/GGDC/pub/Arkbook.shtml)
No. 2	Pilat, Dirk, The Economics of Catch-Up: The Experience of Japan and Korea
	(1993)
No. 3	Hofman, André, Latin American Economic Development. A Causal Analysis
	in Historical Perspective (1998)
No. 4	Mulder, Nanno, The Economic Performance of the Service Sector in Brazil,
	Mexico and the United States (1999)
No. 5*	Smits, Jan-Pieter, Edwin Horlings and Jan Luiten van Zanden, Dutch
	GNP and Its Components, 1800-1913 (2000)
	(http://www.eco.rug.nl/GGDC/PUB/dutchgnp.pdf)